

# Mise en garde

La bibliothèque du Cégep de l'Abitibi-Témiscamingue et de l'Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue (UQAT) a obtenu l'autorisation de l'auteur de ce document afin de diffuser, dans un but non lucratif, une copie de son œuvre dans <u>Depositum</u>, site d'archives numériques, gratuit et accessible à tous. L'auteur conserve néanmoins ses droits de propriété intellectuelle, dont son droit d'auteur, sur cette œuvre.

# Warning

The library of the Cégep de l'Abitibi-Témiscamingue and the Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue (UQAT) obtained the permission of the author to use a copy of this document for nonprofit purposes in order to put it in the open archives <u>Depositum</u>, which is free and accessible to all. The author retains ownership of the copyright on this document.

Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue

# HISTOIRE DES FEUX DANS LES FORÊTS CIRCUMBORÉALES : INTERACTION ENTRE L'ACTIVITÉ HUMAINE ET LA VARIABILITÉ CLIMATIQUE DANS LA FORMATION DES RÉGIMES DE FEU BORÉAUX

Thèse

## présentée

comme exigence partielle

du doctorat sur mesure en Sciences Naturelles et Dendroclimatologie

Par Nina Ryzhkova

Mars 2025

Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue

# FIRE HISTORY IN CIRCUMBOREAL FORESTS: INTERPLAY OF HUMAN ACTIVITY AND CLIMATE VARIABILITY IN SHAPING BOREAL FIRE REGIMES

## Dissertation

## submitted

## as partial requirement

of Tailor-Made PhD in Natural Sciences with a Specialization in Dendroclimatology

By Nina Ryzhkova

ii

March 2025

# Avec un peu de volonté pi ben du crachat, un cheval peut mettre un chat

Québécois Old French Expression



© Nina Montenegro

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Completing a thesis is often perceived as a solitary task, but looking back, I would like to thank the people I have met, without whom my research would have been different. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors, Igor Drobyshev, Yves Bergeron and Alexander Kryshen. My positive experience as a doctoral student is primarily due to your supervision. You are outstanding researchers and strong advocates for your students, and I feel very fortunate to have worked with you. I hope that we will keep in touch in the future, professionally and personally.

Igor, I am deeply grateful for your endless support and patience. Thank you for always being so kind and for believing in me. You opened the door to the fascinating world of dendrochronology. You introduced me to the "history of the world written in tree rings", a world I am inextricably linked to and probably would never have experienced without you. I still remember the excitement of discovering what the tree rings and fire scars could tell us! The elaborate criteria you use in dendrochronology have now become my standards. Your pragmatic approach and philosophy of science and life have shaped me into the researcher writing these words. I also appreciated our informal chats, whether over a glass of cold kvass in the sauna or lunch on campus - these moments were a refreshing space for ideas and perspectives to flow. I am especially thankful for the many academic and extracurricular experiences you offered me during my PhD: fieldwork in Siberia and Norrbotten, attending conferences, and helping with dendrochronology field weeks in Sweden and Canada. Finally, I deeply appreciate the small but vital contract you arranged for me in Sweden. That financial stability and connection to SLU during the challenging 2022–2023 period was crucial in allowing me to complete this thesis. Igor, you are more than a professor; you are a friend!

Yves, thank you so much for your advice, insights, and moral support, especially during my doctoral exam and lab work. Your incredible kindness and support always exceeded my expectations. You have always been attentive and shared relevant articles with me.

This approach to supervision develops students' curiosity and keeps them up to date with research topics of interest. I feel incredibly fortunate to have had the opportunity to learn and grow under your guidance.

Alexander, I appreciate your unwavering support and trust throughout my PhD journey. Since I was a master's student, you have inspired me to follow my path while showing me the way. Your belief in my abilities gave me the confidence to explore new ideas and grow both personally and professionally. This freedom has allowed me to fully enjoy my work because I do what I love most. I am deeply grateful for the knowledge you have shared with me about plant community succession and forest ecology and broader issues such as research policy, effective communication, and research ethics. Your guidance has been invaluable, and I am truly thankful.

I thank the members of my project committee, Hugo Asselin and Martin Girardin, for their thorough reviews, constructive discussions, and fresh perspectives on this work. I would also like to thank Marie-Hélène Longpré and Danielle Charron, technicians at the "Chaire Industrielle CRSNG-UQAT-UQAM en aménagement forestier durable", for their administrative and field assistance throughout this journey. They are kind, available and dedicated personnel, whose contribution is vital to the success of the students' projects.

I am also grateful to the staff of the Duparquet Lake Research Station (FERLD) for the friendly atmosphere they have always created among the students, without which we cannot carry out our research. Special thanks to Raynald Julien, former director of the FERLD, for his invaluable help and patience. His efforts during my laboratory work at the FERLD, especially during the COVID lockdown in 2020, were essential for the success of my work.

I would also like to thank the other people involved in our working group, either through publications, fieldwork or fun times, who have made the work more enjoyable,

namely Andrey Davydov, Andrey Hacket-Pain, Foma Vozmitel, Ivan Kutyavin and Oskars Zemītis. Although my field experiences in an "UAZ Buchanka" along the roads of Komi and Karelia could warrant a book as substantial as this thesis, these memorable adventures will remain at the discretion of their cheerful participants. Big thanks to my closest PhD colleagues, Clémentine, Gabriel, Gui, Maiva, Mara, Marina and Sara for making this journey brighter. Guys, I am grateful to you for sharing a beer, a coffee, minutes or hours of laughter, advice or small talk during this time. Thank you all so much! A special shout-out to my wonderful French colleagues for the great company during conferences and excursions.

I want to thank all my friends with whom I have shared moments of deep anxiety and great excitement. My heartfelt gratitude goes especially to Ivan R., Yulia R., Marina N., Anna O., Evgenii O., Maja Z., Evgenii Z. and Oleg D. You may not realize how crucial your presence has been to me during these times. Thank you for being there.

My most personal thanks go to my close friends Lena and Polina, who have always supported me and brought me to this point without necessarily understanding my choices or my academic activities. Your constant presence in my life and your boundless support and care have made this journey possible. Thank you for believing in me when my faith in myself was waning. Thank you for keeping me sane and helping me see the project through to completion. I am proud of you all and grateful for your friendship, both in the past and while working on my degree. I love you girls.

One more special thanks go to Daniela Robles. Starting your thesis two years after me, you quickly became more than a colleague; you became my friend and my "sciencein-law" family. During the COVID lockdown, your company made Canada feel warmer, and I am grateful for every moment we shared. I will always cherish our hikes in Canada's national parks, swims in wilderness lakes, the road trip from Rouyn to Montreal, the shopping sprees, and all the wild adventures we shared. Whether it was a four-hour walk through a snowstorm in Istanbul on the coldest day in a century, or a 15-kilometer walk through the peat bogs of Swedish Lapland, every step was an unforgettable joy. I enjoyed all our long talks, walks and laughs. And yes, I will wait you in the car!

Finally, I am very grateful for the support and love of my family. Johan, you are beyond supportive and encouraging, and I am so thankful for your help, love, patience and accommodation with me as I have gone through this process. Having fun with you daily, playing games, watching Netflix and laughing together is essential. Thank you so much. I am so proud of you, and I love you very much. Thanks also to my "family-in-law" for their support throughout this journey.

Thank you, my beloved mum and dad. You did not see the end of this journey, but I am grateful that you were with me initially. This thesis is dedicated to you, but I cannot thank you enough. When I was 8, my parents encouraged me to start a pine tree plantation on my windowsill using cones I had brought home from the forest. That's how I became the proud owner of a tiny pine plantation. Years later, when I was studying forestry, my mom told me that it was destiny. My brother Alexander, you always support my crazy ideas. I am incredibly thankful to you for taking care of my cat Ryzhik while I was studying in Canada and still today.

As well as my friends, family, and all the sources of inspiration that have supported me on this journey, I would also like to thank my furry family members, my cats, Ryzhik, Lilo and Marley (RIP). They have been by my side day and night through all the ups and downs. Their quiet support and watchful "supervision" from the edge of my desk made this thesis possible.

To all the people who helped me, and I have not mentioned: Thank you, I could not have done it without you.

# DEDICACES

To the memory of my mum and dad, Tatiana & Ivan. Your endless love and unwavering support have shaped me into who I am today.

To my husband, Johan, for loving me and encouraging me to keep going.

#### PREFACE

This thesis consists of five chapters. The first and last chapters are *the General Introduction* and *Conclusion*, respectively. The other three chapters are self-contained. They are, however, complementary to each other and together provide more complete information on the subject. The published chapters (II, III and IV) have been reformatted for consistency, but the text has not been changed. Chapters Two to Four are based on the following three manuscripts:

CHAPTER II: N. Ryzhkova, G. Pinto, A. Kryshen', Y. Bergeron, C. Ols, I. Drobyshev (2020). Multi-century reconstruction suggests complex interactions of climate and human controls of forest fire activity in a Karelian boreal landscape, North-West Russia. Forest Ecology and Management, 459, 117770. <u>https://doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117770</u>

CHAPTER III: N. Ryzhkova, A. Kryshen', M. Niklasson, G. Pinto, A. Aleinikov, I. Kutyavin, Y. Bergeron, Adam A. Ali, I. Drobyshev (2022). Climate drove the fire cycle and humans influenced fire occurrence in the East European boreal forest. Ecological Monographs e1530. <u>https://doi: 10.1002/ecm.1530</u>

CHAPTER IV: Ryzhkova, N., Asselin, H., Ali, A. A., Kryshen', A., Bergeron, Y., Robles, D., et al. (2025). PDO dynamics shape the fire regime of boreal subarctic landscapes in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 130, e2024JG008178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2024JG008178</u>

The lead author was personally responsible for the field and laboratory work for all three chapters, data analysis, preparation of the manuscripts, and the thesis. Dr. Igor Drobyshev funded the doctoral project, supervised its progress, oversaw the data analyses for the three chapters, and reviewed the drafts of the manuscripts. Dr. Yves Bergeron supervised the doctoral project and provided advice on the project and the early drafts of the manuscripts. Dr. Alexander Kryshen' provided funding for Chapter II, supervised and advised on the doctoral process, and edited the early drafts of the manuscripts. Dr. Asselin provided funding for Chapter IV and reviewed the drafts of the doctoral project and the manuscript for Chapter IV. Drs. Mats Niklasson and Alexei Aleinikov kindly read and edited the draft of Chapter III. Dr. Adam A. Ali revised early versions of the manuscripts for Chapters III and IV. Clémentine Ols contributed to the fieldwork for Chapter II and edited the draft of the corresponding chapter. Ivan Kutyavin contributed to the fieldwork for Chapter III and edited the draft of the corresponding chapter. Guilherme Pinto contributed to the fieldwork for Chapter III and provided comments on the early drafts of the manuscripts for Chapters II and III. Sara Pineda-Zapata assisted with the GIS map for Chapter IV and with the revision of early versions of the manuscript. Daniela Robles reviewed an earlier draft of Chapter IV. The feedback and suggestions of all the co-authors have enriched the quality of the papers, and I am grateful for their contributions.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	IV
DEDICACES	VIII
PREFACE	IX
TABLE OF CONTENTS	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XV
LIST OF TABLES	XX
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XXII
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND UNITS OF MEASUREMENT	XXIII
RÉSUMÉ	XXIV
ABSTRACT	XXV
I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 Circumboreal forests	1
1.1.2 Weather and climate effects on the fire regime	3
1.1.3 Human drivers of fire regimes	6
1.2. Thesis aim and objectives	8
II. MULTI-CENTURY RECONSTRUCTION SUGGESTS COMPLEX INTE	ERACTIONS
OF CLIMATE AND HUMAN CONTROLS OF FOREST FIRE ACTIV	VITY IN A
KARELIAN BOREAL LANDSCAPE, NORTH-WEST RUSSIA	9
2.1 Résumé	10
2.2 Abstract	11
2.3 Introduction	12
2.4 Material and methods	14
2.4.1 The study area	14
2.4.2 Field sampling	16
2.4.3 Development of fire chronologies	17
2.4.4 Reconstruction of historical fire cycles	18
2.4.5 Identification of fire regime shifts	19
2.4.6. Analysis of association between fire history and environmental proxies.	19

2.4.7 Large fire years and climate-fire relationships	21
2.4.8 Population Data	21
2.5 Results	22
2.6 Discussion	26
2.6.1 Human drivers of fire regime	26
2.6.2 Climate forcing upon fire regime	29
2.6.3 Temporal changes in forest FC dynamics in Fennoscandia	31
2.6.4 Seasonality fires in Kalevalsky NP	33
2.7 Management implications	34
2.8 Acknowledgements	35
III. CLIMATE DROVE THE FIRE CYCLE AND HUMANS INFLUENCED	FIRE
OCCURRENCE IN THE EAST EUROPEAN BOREAL FOREST	36
3.1 Résumé	37
3.2 Abstract	39
3.3 Introduction	41
3.4 Material and methods	45
3.4.1 The study area	45
3.4.2 Human population of the area	46
3.4.3 Field sampling	47
3.4.4 Development of fire chronologies	49
3.4.5 Reconstruction of historical FC and identification of FC regime shifts	50
3.4.6 Analysis of association between fire history and environmental proxies	51
3.4.7 Analyzing the effect of human settlements	52
3.5 Results	53
3.6 Discussion	58
3.6.1 Impacts of land-use changes on the historical fire regime	58
3.5.2 Climate and fires	64
3.6.3 Ecology and fire regime of the Komi pine-dominated forests	66
3.7 Acknowledgements	69
IV. PDO DYNAMICS SHAPE THE FIRE REGIME OF BOREAL SUBA	RCTIC
LANDSCAPES IN THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES, CANADA	70

4.1. Résumé	71
4.2 Abstract	73
4.3 Introduction	74
4.4 Material and methods	76
4.4.1 Study region	76
4.4.2 Human population and land use	78
4.4.3 Field sampling	79
4.4.4 Development of fire chronologies	80
4.4.5 Reconstruction of historical fire cycle and identification of fire regime shifts	80
4.4.6 Estimation of ignition rates	83
4.4.7 Climate indices	84
4.4.8 Association between climate and historical fire activity	86
4.4.9 Climate-fire associations in the modern record	87
4.4.10 Population data	87
4.5 Results	88
4.6 Discussion	93
4.6.1 Climate and fires in the boreal subarctic	94
4.6.2 Human activities as a potential driver of fire regimes	97
4.6.3 Ignition frequencies	99
4.6.4 Future fire in the boreal subarctic of the NWT	100
4.7 Acknowledgements	101
V. GENERAL CONCLUSION	102
5.1 Comparison of Canadian and Northern European boreal forest fire regimes	103
5.2 Management implications	105
5.3 Research prospects	107
APPENDIX A - MULTI-CENTURY RECONSTRUCTION SUGGESTS COM	MPLEX
INTERACTIONS OF CLIMATE AND HUMAN CONTROLS OF FOREST	FIRE
ACTIVITY IN A KARELIAN BOREAL LANDSCAPE, NORTH-WEST RUSSIA	109
APPENDIX B - CLIMATE DROVE THE FIRE CYCLE AND HUMANS INFLUE	ENCED
FIRE OCCURRENCE IN THE EAST EUROPEAN BOREAL FOREST	110

APPENDIX C - PDO DYNAMICS SHAPE THE FIRE REGIME OF BOREAL SUBAR	.CTIC
LANDSCAPES IN THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES, CANADA	115
LIST OF REFERENCES	125

#### **LIST OF FIGURES**

- Figure 2.1 Location of the study area and the sampled sites within or in the vicinity of the Kalevalsky NP. The insert shows the location of the area on the map of biomes (Olson et al., 2001): 1, Kola Peninsula tundra; 2, Northwest Russian-Novaya Zemlya tundra; 3, Sarmatic mixed forests; 4, Scandinavian and Russian taiga; 5, Scandinavian coastal conifer forests; 6, Scandinavian Mountain birch forest and grasslands. ..... 15

- Figure 3.4 Response function analysis of the earlywood (A) and latewood (B) Scots pine chronologies, used as a proxy of fire weather conditions, and Monthly Drought Code (MDC) during April through September. C and D are the results of superimposed epoch analyses (SEA): C SEA on the largest fire years in the Pechora-Ilych BR (all early- and mid-season fires) and the earlywood chronology (n = 5), and D SEA on the largest late season fire years and the latewood chronology (n = 5). Solid lines on A and B refer to significant response function coefficients. Dashed and solid lines in C and D refer to the 0.95 and 0.99 confidence intervals, respectively, as estimated by bootstrapping.
  Figure 3.5 Effect of village establishment on the frequency of fires in the neighboring sites, as estimated by the Kaplan-Meier estimator. Green and red lines represent the dynamics of the probability for a site to escape fire along the time gradient. The 95% confidence intervals are shown as shaded areas of the respective colors. Small empty circles represent fire return intervals on the studied sites.

- Figure 4.3 Reconstructed burned area (a) and number of fire years (b), both per decade; chronology of population density of the Northwest Territories (c); and Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) (MacDonald, and Case, 2005) (d). Red solid lines in (a), (b) and (d) indicate the changes in fire regime identified by the regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004) on fire cycle (FC), fire occurrence and PDO. The black solid lines in (a) indicate site replication, which is also relevant to the interpretation of the data in (b) and (d). Black dots in (a) and (b) represent values for single fire years. Vertical dark-red bars on (d) represent fire years that occurred at two or more sites. Grey-shaded areas in (a), (b), and (d) represent confidence intervals. The black vertical arrow in (c) indicates the onset of European colonization of the NWT. Yellow bars stretching across all plates indicate periods of positive PDO, as estimated by the regime shift analysis (d).
- Figure 4.5 Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) chronology (MacDonald, and Case, 2005) thin grey line, smoothed with a spline function) and modern large fire years (LFYs) (vertical orange lines). The thick red line shows the outcome of regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004). The solid gray horizontal line refers to the PDO long-term average.
- Figure 4.6 Teleconnection between the northern North Atlantic and fire weather in the Northwest Territories (NWT). (a) Superposed epoch analysis of the self-calibrated Palmer's Drought Severity Index scPDSI (Wells et al., 2004) from June to August and LFYs in the NWT over the 1959–2019 CE. Note that lower PDSI values mean increased drought conditions. Correlation between the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) and scPDSI fields for (b) March through May and (c) June through August during 1901-1996 CE. The location of the study area is marked with a dark circle.

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Reconstructed FC with corresponding confidence intervals in the Kalevala NP for
the periods identified by the regime shift analysis. FC estimates of two locations in
Sweden are based on published reconstructions (Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001;
Niklasson and Granström, 2000) and the results of respective regime shift analyses
(Drobyshev et al., 2016)24
Table 3.1 Reconstructions of the FC and fire occurrence in the Pechora-Ilych NBR for the
periods identified by the regime shift analysis
Table 3.2 The earliest forestry records on forest fires in the proximity of Pechora-Ilych NBR
(Cherdyn Regional Museum. Forestry Fund., 1910, 1894)64
Table 4.1 Reconstructions of the fire cycle and fire occurrence (fire years per decade) in the
Northwest Territories for the periods identified by regime shift analysis
Table 4.2 Reconstructed ignition frequencies in the study area of the Northwest Territories for
three periods identified by regime shift analysis. See Methods section for
explanations concerning the types of estimates90
Table 4.3 Contingency analysis of the large fire year (LFY) frequencies under positive/negative
states of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO, MacDonald, & Case, 2005). For the
period 1400-1998 CE, probabilities of LFY occurrence were estimated from the
reconstructed fire chronology (this study). For the period 1950-2021 CE, the
probabilities were estimated using observational data and selected thresholds (see
Methods section). Percentiles represent the proportion of the bootstrapped
distribution of respective frequency to the left of the observed value; these can be
viewed as estimates of statistical significance of differences between observed and
bootstrapped values
Table S4.1 Contingency analysis of the large fire years (LFY) frequencies under
positive/negative climate states. For the period 1400-1998 CE, probabilities of LFY
occurrence were estimated from reconstructed fire chronology (this study). For the
period 1950-2021 CE, we estimated the probabilities using observational data and
selected thresholds (see Methods section). Percentiles represent the proportion of the

bootstrapped distribution of respective frequency to the left of the observed value;

- Table S4.2 Results of Poisson regression test trends in the number of fires across different seasonal categories (early, mid and late) for the period 1600-1900 CE. Fire counts were aggregated by century. The fixed factor was the start of the period (century), and the dependent variable was the number of fires within each season. Poisson regression coefficients and p-values are reported for each seasonal category. A significant positive trend was observed for mid-season fires. Corresponding graphics are presented in Fig. 4.4 in the main text.

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AL	Aleutian Low
CNFDB	Canadian National Fire Database
D	Dormant
EEW	Early earlywood
ELW	Early latewood
ENSO	El Niño Southern Oscillation
FC	Fire cycle
FERLD	Forêt d'enseignement et de recherche du lac Duparquet
HB	High Boreal
LIA	Little Ice Age
LEC	Lightning efficiency coefficients
LEW	Late earlywood
LFYs	Large fire years
LLW	Late latewood
MDC	Monthly Drought Code
MEW	Middle earlywood
MLW	Middle latewood
MWP	Medieval Warm Period
NAO	North Atlantic Oscillation
NWT	Northwest Territories
PDO	Pacific Decadal Oscillation
PNA	Pacific North American pattern
scPDSI	Self-calibrated Palmer's Drought Severity Index
SEA	Superposed epoch analysis
SST	Sea surface temperature

xxii

## LIST OF SYMBOLS AND UNITS OF MEASUREMENT

Area	ha	hectare (= $10\ 000\ m^2$ )
	km <sup>2</sup>	square kilometer (= 100 ha)
Time	yrs	years
Temperature	°C	degrees Celsius

## RÉSUMÉ

Les incendies de forêt constituent l'un des principaux agents de perturbation naturelle dans les forêts circumboréales. Tout au long de l'Holocène, le climat a représenté le moteur principal de l'activité des feux. Toutefois, au cours des derniers siècles, l'influence humaine a progressivement modifié les régimes d'incendie dans les régions boréales. Les méthodes dendroécologiques sont largement employées pour étudier les relations entre le feu, le climat et l'utilisation humaine des terres à différentes échelles spatiales et temporelles. Malgré de nombreuses reconstitutions détaillées, les dynamiques de feu à long terme demeurent mal comprises dans plusieurs zones de la ceinture circumboréale. Cette thèse examine la contribution de la variabilité climatique et des activités humaines aux régimes de feu historiques dans les forêts boréales de l'hémisphère Nord.

L'étude porte sur trois régions : la route 3 dans les Territoires du Nord-Ouest (TNO) au Canada, la réserve de biosphère de Pechora-Ilych (RBN Pechora-Ilych) et le parc national de Kalevalsky (PN Kalevalsky) en Russie. À partir de bois porteur de cicatrices de feu provenant de pin gris (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) et de pin sylvestre (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), les changements dans l'activité des feux ont été évalués dans le temps, tout comme les rôles relatifs du climat et de l'usage des terres par l'humain. L'ensemble de données comprend plus de 500 échantillons de pin gris prélevés sur des affleurements rocheux. Au total, 475 années uniques de feu ont été identifiées à partir de 870 arbres porteurs de cicatrices, répartis sur 126 sites.

Si le climat demeure la force dominante dans la structuration des régimes d'incendie, les activités humaines ont significativement modifié les cycles de feu dans certaines régions au cours des deux derniers siècles. Dans les forêts boréales de l'Est européen, la suppression des incendies a vraisemblablement entraîné une diminution de la fréquence des feux et un allongement des intervalles entre ceux-ci. En revanche, dans le nord-ouest canadien, caractérisé par des paysages vastes et peu accessibles, l'intervention humaine est restée limitée, et le climat continue de régir l'activité des feux. Dans ces systèmes boréaux, la survenue des incendies est influencée à la fois par des configurations climatiques à grande échelle, telles que l'Oscillation Décennale du Pacifique (ODP), et par des systèmes régionaux de circulation atmosphérique, comme les blocages scandinaves, qui favorisent les sécheresses printanières au Canada et les épisodes climatiques extrêmes durant l'été en Europe orientale.

Mots-clés : variation climatique, perturbations naturelles, forêts circumboréales, régime de feu, forêts dominées par le pin, impact humain, régimes de circulation atmosphérique

#### ABSTRACT

Forest fires are a key natural disturbance in circumboreal forests. Throughout the Holocene, climate has been the primary driver of fire activity. However, in recent centuries, human influence has increasingly altered fire regimes in boreal regions. Dendroecological methods are widely used to study the relationships among fire, climate, and human land use at various spatial and temporal scales. Despite numerous detailed reconstructions, long-term fire dynamics remain poorly understood in several parts of the circumboreal zone. This thesis examines how climate variability and human activity contribute to historical fire patterns in boreal forests of the Northern Hemisphere.

The study focuses on three regions: Highway 3 in the Northwest Territories (NWT) in Canada, the Pechora-Ilych Biosphere Reserve (Pechora-Ilych NBR), and Kalevalsky National Park (Kalevalsky NP) in Russia. Using fire-scarred wood from jack pine (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), we assessed changes in fire activity over time and evaluated the relative roles of climate and human land use. The dataset includes over 500 Scots pine samples from xeric and mesic sites and over 1,000 jack pine samples from rocky outcrops. In total, 475 unique fire years were identified from 870 fire-scarred trees sampled at 126 sites.

While climate remains the dominant force shaping fire regimes, human activity has notably altered fire cycles in certain regions over the past 200 years. In the eastern European boreal forest, fire suppression has likely reduced fire frequency and extended fire intervals. In contrast, northwestern Canada, characterized by vast and remote landscapes, has seen limited human intervention, and climate continues to be the main driver of fire activity. Fire occurrence in these boreal systems is influenced by both large-scale climatic patterns, such as the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO), and regional circulation systems like Scandinavian blocking, which contribute to spring droughts in Canada and extreme summer weather in eastern Europe.

Keywords: Climate variation, Natural disturbances, Circumboreal forests, Fire regime, Pine-dominated forests, Human impact, Atmospheric circulation patterns

#### **I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

#### 1.1.1 Circumboreal forests

The circumboreal forest is the second largest terrestrial biome covering about 30% of the world's forested land area and plays an important role in the sequestration of carbon as well as due to the presence of extensive peatlands and carbon storing plants (Gorham, 1991; Pan et al., 2013; Sheng et al., 2004). Boreal forests provide diverse ecosystem services, support rural and urban economies, and contain biodiversity that is important for ecosystem functioning and well-adapted to the cold winters and short summers of high latitudes (Bergeron et al., 2004; Payette, 1992; Tarnocai et al., 2011).

Vegetation composition within the circumboreal zone markedly differs between North America and northern Europe. In large areas of boreal North America, the dominant tree species are adapted to survive in fire-prone environments, a phenomenon known as "fire embracers" (Rogers et al., 2015). This implies that the life cycles of the forests have evolved to enable them to sustain nearly complete burns (crown fires) and rapidly re-colonize an area after a fire. North American forests are characterized by the dominance of jack pine, black spruce (Picea mariana (Mill.) B.S.P.) and white spruce (Picea glauca (Moench) Voss.), which have evolved to have lower branches, thinner bark and cones that open after fire (Gauthier et al., 1996; Kneeshaw et al., 2011), and red pine (Pinus resinosa Ait.) being the only common species with thick bark and selfpruning ability (Bergeron and Brisson, 1990). In contrast, the boreal forests of northern Europe are dominated by fire-resistant species with thicker bark, wetter needles, and fewer low-hanging branches. These species are adapted to the low-intensity, mixedseverity fires that characterize fire regimes in northern Europe, where surface fires are common (Kuuluvainen and Aakala, 2011; Niklasson and Granström, 2000). In particular, Scots pine has adapted to fires by having a thick bark and self-pruning, i.e. a tendency to shred branches with age, that helps trees survive recurrent low or moderate severity fires (Kuuluvainen, 2002; Zackrisson, 1977).

Fire is the dominant disturbance shaping the boreal forest structure and directly impacts the global carbon budget and levels of trace gases such as  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere (Beck et al., 2011; Bond-Lamberty and Gower, 2007; Pyne, 1997). The severity, frequency, and size of these fires vary considerably between regions of circumboreal forests. In Northwestern Canada, boreal fire regimes are typically characterized by high-intensity, stand-replacing fires that recur every 30-200 years (Boulanger et al., 2012; Erni et al., 2017; Hart et al., 2019), primarily due to climate conditions, such as summer droughts (de Groot et al., 2013; Girardin and Wotton, 2009) and lightning strikes (Flannigan and Wotton, 1991; Kochtubajda et al., 2019; Stocks and Lynham, 1996). In contrast, boreal forests in northern Europe tend to have less frequent and smaller fires, largely due to a more humid climate, fewer lightning strikes, and a long history of fire suppression policies (Niklasson and Granström, 2000). Since the late 19th century, Northern Europe has exhibited a distinct west-east gradient in fire activity. In the west, fire suppression efforts have established an extended modern FC of 10-20k years (Drobyshev et al., 2021; Drobyshev et al., 2012). Conversely, northeastern Europe maintains a shorter FC of approximately 300-600 years (Drobyshev and Niklasson, 2004; Ryzhkova et al., 2022, 2020), reflecting fire frequencies observed before the onset of intensive forest management across Fennoscandia (Niklasson and Granström, 2000).

Despite these regional disparities, the fire regimes of North American and North European boreal forests have been impacted by climate change in ways that have resulted in long-term consequences for forest structure, carbon storage, and ecosystem stability (Cunningham et al., 2024; Hanes et al., 2019; Lehtonen et al., 2016). Understanding the spatio-temporal dynamics of fire regimes and the factors that

influence them is essential for the sustainable management of boreal forests in the context of climate change (Flannigan et al., 2009; Whitman, 2019).

#### 1.1.2 Weather and climate effects on the fire regime

In circumboreal forests, local weather conditions strongly influence fire behavior by affecting variables such as fuel moisture, wind speed, and relative humidity. Wind, in particular, can intensify a smoldering fire by increasing its rate of spread, generating turbulence, and raising the likelihood that the fire will jump over natural or artificial firebreaks (Bradstock, 2010; MSB, 2015; Stocks and Lynham, 1996). Warm temperatures and lower relative humidity make fuels easier to ignite and promote sustained fire activity (Flannigan and Wotton, 1991; Holsinger et al., 2016). In northwestern Canada, lightning strikes without rain (or dry lightning) are the primary natural ignition source for wildfires (Kochtubajda et al., 2019, 2006; Veraverbeke et al., 2017). Warm surface fires can form pyrocumulonimbus clouds, which create additional lightning and further spread fires (Fromm et al., 2010; Scott et al., 2014). These dynamics intensify during extended warm and dry spells, which increase both lightning frequency and fuel drying, impacting fire regimes in northwestern Canada and northern Europe (Dissing and Verbyla, 2003; Pisaric et al., 2009).

Climate has been the dominant factor controlling fire in circumboreal forests throughout the Holocene (Carcaillet et al., 2007; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Gaboriau et al., 2020). Key climatic conditions that promote fire include persistent positive geopotential height anomalies (ridges) in the mid-troposphere (500 hPa), which disrupt zonal air flow and lead to warmer, drier conditions that promote fuel drying (Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2008). Increased air subsidence along the edges of these ridges increases fire risk beyond the high-pressure centers (Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2006). In northern Europe, the formation of these high-pressure systems is largely controlled by the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), a major driver of tropospheric circulation and regional climate patterns (Deser et al., 2017), with notable effects on

fire activity (Drobyshev et al., 2016). The NAO reflects variations in sea-level pressure (SLP) between the Icelandic Low and the Azores High, which influence storm tracks and the jet stream over the Europe-North Atlantic sector (Hurrell, 1996; Hurrell and Deser, 2009). The shifting configuration of the Icelandic Low and Azores High on seasonal to multi-decadal scales results in a high-pressure cell over Scandinavia, leading to dry and warm conditions (Folland et al., 2009) that promote fire hazard (Högbom and Wiksell, 1934). Indeed, fire activity in Sweden and across the European boreal zone has been linked to the summer NAO (Drobyshev et al., 2021, 2015).

In western North America, long-term trends in fire regimes are influenced by largescale climate patterns such as the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO), the Pacific North American Pattern (PNA), and the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) (Bonsal and Shabbar, 2011; Heyerdahl, et al., 2008; Yasunari et al., 2021). The PNA pattern directly affects tropospheric anomalies in North America, the Polar Front Jet Stream, and regional climate. The PNA appears as a distinct Rossby wave train including four centers of activity, stretching from the North Pacific to the North American continent (Wallace and Gutzler, 1981). The Aleutian Low (AL), a low-pressure system (cyclone), serves as the principal activity center of the PNA. High-pressure anticyclones are located south of Hawaii, near the AL. The PNA appears as a mid-tropospheric ridgetrough configuration across North America in the downstream area. This system is characterized by an elevated geopotential height anomaly in western Canada and a diminished height anomaly in the southeastern United States (U.S.) (Wallace and Gutzler, 1981). This structure is significantly associated with positive temperature anomalies in western Canada and negative anomalies in the southern U.S. (Wallace and Gutzler, 1981), therefore connecting these dynamics to regional forest fuel moisture (Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2008). The ridge-trough configuration significantly affects the location of the jet stream and the corresponding storm trajectories throughout North America. The PNA induces a meridional jet stream movement, decreasing Pacific-origin winter storm trajectories and dry anomalies, especially over the North American west coast (Rodysill et al., 2018).

ENSO is another significant regional climatic variable that shapes drought conditions over the continent and initiates the PNA pattern in North America. Warm SST anomalies in the Tropical Pacific occur during ENSO El Niño phases and cool during La Niña occurrences. El Niño events are commonly related to the deepening of the AL and the PNA pattern (Taschetto et al., 2020). Previous studies have shown that El Niño events may be conducive to forest fires in western North America, as they are often associated with warmer-than-average temperatures and below-average precipitation (Hess et al., 2001). Positive phases of the East Pacific teleconnection have been associated with surface high-pressure systems that block westerly flow, resulting in warmer temperatures, lower precipitation, and above-average area burned (Duffy et al., 2005). It has also been suggested that PDO correlates with the annual area burned along the west coast of North America (Duffy et al., 2005; Ryzhkova et al., 2025). Positive PDO phases generally result in warmer and drier winters, increasing the potential for fire by fuel drying and extending the fire season. During El Niño events, western North America experiences warm and dry conditions, with the reduced winter snowpack leading to earlier spring snowmelt and reduced soil and fuel moisture (Burton et al., 2020; Trenberth, 1997). These conditions are correlated with increased fire activity, as warmer temperatures and lower humidity promote both fuel drying and the likelihood of ignition sources leading to fire spread (Drury and Grissom, 2008; Duffy et al., 2005; Hess et al., 2001; Kitzberger et al., 2007). The interactions between ENSO and PDO further influence the fire risk (Mori, 2011), especially when both oscillations align during their warm phases. This alignment amplifies climate anomalies that can significantly increase fire activity in western North America by promoting extended droughts and fuel drying (Hessl et al., 2004; Hu and Huang, 2009). This effect is evident in the boreal forest landscapes of the NWT, where fire records indicate an increased frequency of large fire years (LFYs) during periods of prolonged drought associated with positive PDO phases (Pisaric et al., 2009; Ryzhkova et al., 2025). Other studies conducted across broader western North America support these patterns, even if not specific to the NWT (Schoennagel et al., 2005; Trenberth, 1992).

#### 1.1.3 Human drivers of fire regimes

Human activities have also affected fire regimes in circumboreal forests (Niklasson et al., 2010; Pyne, 1997; Rolstad et al., 2017). These impacts typically involve using fire for agricultural purposes, such as slash-and-burn agriculture and, more recently, fire suppression policies. Modern human impacts are likely to reduce natural fire activity, although increasing human densities are associated with higher ignition rates (Pinto, et al., 2020). For example, forest fire activity in northern Europe has decreased since the late 19th century (Tryterud, 2003). In Scandinavia, two major shifts in fire regimes coincided with major socio-economic transitions. The first shift occurred around 1600 with the expansion of permanent settlements and the associated increase in anthropogenic fires. This shift was characterized by a decrease in fire size, increased fire frequency, and increased early-season fires (Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Rolstad et al., 2017). The second shift, characterized by a drastic decrease in fire activity, is generally attributed to improvements in agricultural techniques and the increasing importance of the forest as a source of timber. This shift is conventionally dated to the early 1700s to early 1800s in southern Sweden (Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001; Pinto et al., 2020) and the mid to late 1800s in the northern Sweden (Granström and Niklasson, 2008; Niklasson and Granström, 2000). The abandonment of agricultural and pastoral burning practices, followed by the introduction of fire suppression policies, contributed to a significant decline in fire activity across the European boreal region (Rolstad et al., 2017; Ryzhkova et al., 2022). In the eastern European boreal forests, the onset of detectable human influence on fire activity has occurred up to several centuries later (Drobyshev et al., 2004b; Ryzhkova et al., 2022, 2020) and generally – was mitigated by larger areas of forests and lower population densities, as compared to Scandinavian forests.

Studies of historical fire regimes in North America have shown that Native American land use practices played an important role in shaping the frequency of surface fires. Widespread Native American use of fire and comparisons with modern lightningcaused fires, which alone cannot explain the historically high fire frequency, are well documented (Johnson and Kipfmueller, 2016; Kay, 2000; Loope and Anderton, 1998). However, even with a dense pre-European population in some regions of North America, some forested regions experienced limited anthropogenic impacts (Oswald et al., 2020). In western Canada, Indigenous peoples have historically influenced local forest ecosystems by using fire (Johnson, and Miyanishi, 2012; Turner, 1999). They employed low- to moderate-intensity burns to remove underbrush, facilitate hunting, and encourage the growth of berry-producing shrubs. In some shield regions, these fires were often geographically limited, burning just a few hectares at a time (Turner, 1999). However, other areas, particularly the boreal plains experienced large-scale anthropogenic burning that maintained open landscapes, such as meadows (Lewis, 1982; Turner, 1999). These diverse practices reflect regional differences in land use, mobility, and ecological objectives. Overall, despite this human influence, climate remains a dominant factor shaping historical fire regimes at the regional scale (Bergeron, 1991; Drobyshev et al., 2012; Oswald et al., 2020). However, the increase of European colonization in the 18th and 19th centuries led to the extensive use of fire. In regions such as Alberta and British Columbia, fire has been deliberately employed as an effective method to clear extensive tracts of boreal forest for logging, mining, and agriculture, resulting in elevated rates of change in these places (Pisaric et al., 2009; Waito et al., 2018). In the 20th century, industrial expansion led to changes in fire regimes as infrastructure development, including roads, railways and mining, facilitated access to previously isolated areas, resulting in fuel-rich corridors and increased fire susceptibility (Waito et al., 2018; Wallenius, et al., 2011).

#### 1.2. Thesis aim and objectives

Global climate change will likely lead to increased temperatures and droughts, as well as an increased risk of wildfires in circumboreal forests (Boulanger et al., 2014; Mäkelä et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2015). This may contribute to the accelerated transition of boreal forests to more open forests, or even to grassland (Stralberg et al., 2018). The effects of climate change have been observed in the fire regime and boreal forests of North America and Scandinavia. The fire season of 2014 in the Northwest Territories (NWT) and the 2014 and 2018 fire seasons in Sweden were marked by exceptional levels of wildfire activity. Of all the years studied in the NWT, 2014 stands out. That year, 3.4 million hectares burned, which is nearly six times the annual average between 2009 and 2019 (NTENR, 2015). In Sweden, the size of the Sala fire (2014 fire season) was almost 10 times larger than the largest fire recorded in the preceding few decades (Bodens kommun, 2006). This dissertation aimed to explain how climate and human activities have influenced fire regimes in circumboreal forests during historical periods.

The following specific objectives of this thesis were:

(1) to provide century-scale and spatially explicit reconstructions of fire activity with seasonal patterns in circumboreal forests, and (2) to evaluate the climatic and human forcing on fire regimes over this period.

# III. MULTI-CENTURY RECONSTRUCTION SUGGESTS COMPLEX INTERACTIONS OF CLIMATE AND HUMAN CONTROLS OF FOREST FIRE ACTIVITY IN A KARELIAN BOREAL LANDSCAPE, NORTH-WEST RUSSIA

N. Ryzhkova, G. Pinto, A. Kryshen', Y. Bergeron, C. Ols, I. Drobyshev

This article was published in Forest Ecology and Management 459: 117770

doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117770

Copyright Elsevier (2020)
# 2.1 Résumé

Les reconstructions spatiales explicites de l'activité des feux dans les forêts boréales européennes sont rares, ce qui limite notre compréhension des facteurs influençant la dynamique de la végétation dans cette partie du domaine boréal. Nous avons développé une reconstruction dendrochronologique spatiale explicite d'un régime de feu sur une zone de 25 × 50 km<sup>2</sup> au sein du biome boréal situé dans le parc national de Kalevalsky (PN de Kalevalsky), couvrant la période 1400–2010 après J.-C. Nous avons daté 184 années de feux à partir de 212 pins sylvestres (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) vivants et morts portant des cicatrices de feu, collectés sur 38 sites.

La période étudiée a révélé une variabilité prononcée des cycles des feux forestiers (CF) sur plusieurs siècles. La période ancienne (1400–1620) se caractérise par une faible activité des feux (CF = 178 ans), qui augmente durant la période 1630–1920 (CF = 46 ans), puis diminue entre 1930 et 2000 (CF = 283 ans). Les résultats dendrochronologiques n'ont pas fourni de réponse concluante quant aux origines des dynamiques de CF, bien que plusieurs indices suggèrent que le climat a provoqué l'augmentation de l'activité des feux au début des années 1600, tandis que des facteurs liés aux activités humaines expliquent en grande partie sa diminution au début des années 1900. Le CF actuel dans le PN de Kalevalsky est proche des estimations pour la période précoloniale en Scandinavie, ce qui suggère que les forêts de cette zone maintiennent actuellement un régime de feu proche de leur état naturel. Le feu a été le facteur central de la dynamique forestière dans ce biome, et la gestion forestière devrait en tenir compte dans l'élaboration de stratégies de conservation en Carélie et dans d'autres zones de forêts boréales européennes. L'introduction de brûlages dirigés de diverses intensités pourrait constituer un élément important de ces stratégies.

Mots-clés : variation climatique, perturbations naturelles, paysage boréal, forêts mixtes, régime de feu, forêts dominées par les pins, Russie du Nord-Ouest, risques naturels.

# 2.2 Abstract

Spatially explicit reconstructions of fire activity in European boreal forest are rare, which limits our understanding of factors driving vegetation dynamics in this part of the boreal domain. We have developed a spatially explicit dendrochronological reconstruction of a fire regime in a  $25 \times 50$  km<sup>2</sup> area within boreal biome located within the Kalevalsky National Park (Kalevalsky NP), over the 1400–2010 AD period. We dated 184 fire years using 212 fire-scarred living and dead Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) trees collected on 38 sites.

The studied period revealed a pronounced century-long variability in forest fire cycles (FC). The early period (1400-1620 AD) had low fire activity (FC = 178 yrs.), which increased during the 1630–1920 period (FC = 46 yrs.) and then decreased over the 1930–2000 period (FC = 283 yrs.). Dendrochronological results did not provide a conclusive answer on the origins of FC dynamics, although several lines of evidence suggest that climate drove the increase in fire activity in the early 1600s, while human-related factors were largely responsible for their decline in the early 1900s. The current FC in the Kalevalsky NP is close to the estimates reported for the pre-industrial colonisation period in Scandinavia, which suggests that the forests of the area currently maintain their close-to-natural fire regime. Fire has been the pivotal factor of forest dynamics in this biome and forest management should acknowledge that fact in developing conservation strategies in Karelia and other areas of European boreal forest. Introduction of prescribed burns of varying severity could be an important element of such strategies.

Key-words: climate variation, natural disturbances, boreal landscape, mixedwoods, fire regime, pine-dominated forests, North-west Russia, natural hazards

# 2.3 Introduction

Forest fires are the main drivers of forest ecosystem dynamics in the boreal biome. Fires are important to maintain the diversity and successional pathways of boreal forests (Bergeron, 2004; Melekhov, 1946; Payette, 1992; Zackrisson, 1977). Climate is the major factor controlling regional fire activity (Clark, 1990; Flannigan and Wotton, 2001; Johnson, 1992; Stocks and Lynham, 1996), influencing fuel, moisture conditions and ignition patterns. Topography and the related variation in soil moisture and vegetation affect the fire regime at finer scales (Girardin et al., 2013; Hellberg et al., 2004; Kuosmanen et al., 2014; Pitkanen et al., 2003). Humans has been an important agent of change in boreal fire activity (Rolstad et al., 2017; Wallenius, 2011). They affected fire regimes through slash-and-burn agriculture and associated forest clearcutting (Lehtonen and Huttunen, 1997; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Wallenius et al., 2004), changes in fuel abundance and composition through livestock grazing (Grissino-Mayer et al., 2004; Savage and Swetnam, 1990) and more recently - through fire suppression policies (Drobyshev, et al., 2012; Drobyshev et al., 2004b; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Tryterud, 2003).

Fire history studies in northern Europe have reported a decline in forest fire activity since the late 1800s, driven by cessation of land use practices involving fire and the increasing economic value of timber (Niklasson et al., 2010; Rolstad et al., 2017; Tryterud, 2003; Wallenius, 2011). For example, in Sweden, the forest fire cycle is currently (since late 1800s) around 10<sup>4</sup> years (Drobyshev, et al., 2012). By contrast, the fire cycle during the pre-industrial era (1300–1650 AD) was around 150–300 years (Niklasson and Granström, 2000), which corresponds to the modern fire cycle in the boreal forest of North-West Russia (Drobyshev and Niklasson, 2004; Gromtsev, 2002).

Despite a number of detailed dendrochronological (Aakala et al., 2018; Drobyshev et al., 2004a, 2004b; Lehtonen and Kolström, 2000; Wallenius et al., 2004) and paleochronological (Kuosmanen et al., 2016, 2014; Pitkanen and Gronlund, 2001)

reconstructions, the long-term fire dynamics in the boreal section of Northern Europe remains poorly understood. A rich land use history of the region and climate variability, in part - synchronized with the changes in forest use, partitioning the effects of both factors on past fire activity challenging. Geographic variability in the strength of climate and human impacts on boreal fire regimes presents another challenge in partitioning to the effects of these two factors. For example, fire activity in the northern boreal forest has been predominantly related to summer drought conditions, whereas in the southern boreal forest, spring drought conditions are more important (Drobyshev, et al., 2012; Johnson et al., 1998). Partially as a result of this pattern, the studies have found large differences in sensitivity of fire regimes to climate variability between northern and southern boreal forests (Ali et al., 2012; Drobyshev et al., 2014).

Although the temporal resolution of dendrochronological records generally allows for analyses of many important properties of fire regime, such as fire seasonality, fire cycle and fire return interval, this proxy does not provide information on the origin of fire dynamics, which calls for analyses involving multiple proxies of past variability in climate and land use patterns.

We analyzed the fire history of a northern boreal landscape that is partially included in the Kalevalsky National Park, Republic of Karelia, North-West Russia. The area lies within the northern boreal vegetation zone on the Baltic Shield (Fennoscandia) at the southern spurs of the mountain range Maanselka. The forests of the Kalevalsky NP have been subject to selective cutting (Lehtonen and Kolström, 2000; Raevsky, 2017), though no industrial logging occurred in the area. As a result, large areas of old growth and deadwood-rich forests within and around the national park allow for long-term dendrochronological reconstructions of fire dynamics.

We used fire-scarred living and dead Scots pines to reconstruct the fire history and evaluate climatic and human forcing on fire regime dynamics over a period of 610 years (1400–2010). Our objectives were to (1) develop a spatially explicit fire history

reconstruction in North-West Russia, (2) provide long-term and quantitative estimates of fire cycle and seasonal patterns of forest fires over the study period, and (3) evaluate the climatic and human forcing on fire regimes over this period.

## 2.4 Material and methods

## 2.4.1 The study area

The Kalevalsky NP (744 km<sup>2</sup>) is located in the Russian Republic of Karelia  $(64^{\circ}59'30'' \text{ N } 30^{\circ}12'45'' \text{ E}, \text{ Fig. 2.1})$ . It is considered to be the largest and the most western track of primeval northern boreal forests of European Russia (Gromtsev et al., 2003; Raevsky, 2017). The climate of the area is moderately continental with oceanic features (Alisov, 1936). The mean July temperature is  $14.5^{\circ}\text{C}$  and the mean January temperature is  $-12.5^{\circ}\text{C}$ , with the effective temperature sum over the growing season being between 1450 and 1650°C (ASSR, 1989). Annual total precipitation ranges from 500 mm to 600 mm and accumulation of thick snow cover (50–70 cm) characterizes the winter period, which lasts from 170 to 180 days.

The Kalevalsky NP is located in the southeast slope of the Baltic (Fennoscandian) Shield. The underlying bedrock is composed of Pre-Cambrian crystalline rocks – granite or gneiss (ASSR, 1989). The topography of the study area is generally hilly, characterized by a mean altitude between 104 and 277 m above sea level (Gorkovets and Rayevskaya, 2002). The most common soil type is alluvial-humus-ferrous-sandy podzols. Marshy and marsh-podzol soils dominate the southwestern and northwestern sections of the area. The forests of the Kalevalsky NP cover 71% of its territory and belong to the northern boreal (northern taiga) subzone (Lavrenko et al., 1947; Yurkovskaya, 1993). It corresponds to the middle boreal zone in the classification of Ahti et al. (1968).



Figure 2.1 Location of the study area and the sampled sites within or in the vicinity of the Kalevalsky NP. The insert shows the location of the area on the map of biomes (Olson et al., 2001): 1, Kola Peninsula tundra; 2, Northwest Russian-Novaya Zemlya tundra; 3, Sarmatic mixed forests; 4, Scandinavian and Russian taiga; 5, Scandinavian coastal conifer forests; 6, Scandinavian Mountain birch forest and grasslands.

The park's common tree species are Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst), silver and downy birch (*Betula pendula* Roth. and *B. pubescens* Ehrh., respectively) and aspen (*Populus tremula* L.). Pine forests of the bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) type dominate the area and are particularly abundant on the rocky outcrops, hill slopes, and edges of various wetlands (Gromtsev, 2009; Raevsky, 2017; Ruokolainen and Kotkova, 2014). Spruce is common in the undergrowth, while pine regeneration is largely absent (Gromtsev et al., 2002). The historical fire regime has been suggested to maintain a dynamic balance between pine and spruce in the past (Gromtsev, 2002; Gromtsev et al., 2002). The area has a rich cultural history, with the first wave of human settlements dating back to 7000 BC (Juvelius, 1889; Zhulnikov, 1993).

# 2.4.2 Field sampling

We sampled 38 sites within the Kalevalsky NP (Fig. 2.1). We made an effort to distribute sampling sites in a regular fashion across the studied landscape, by randomly locating points for sampling along the roads within the park and its immediate vicinity. The sites were located from one to four km from each other. Areas of clear-cuts located outside the Kalevalsky NP border and mires were not generally sampled, due to difficulties in locating material for dating. A site represented an area of two–three ha in size and was inventoried over a period of one to two hours. We thoroughly searched each site for the presence of living and dead trees with fire scars. We used chainsaws to extract wedges from living trees and snags and, in the case of stumps, cross-sections to develop a fire chronology. Between four and 10 samples were collected on each site. In total, we acquired 257 samples of 71 living and 186 dead pine trees. Field sampling was carried out in the summers of 2014 and 2015.

Location of most of the sampling points near the forest roads could introduce a bias related to their use by local population in the past. In particular, one could expect inflation in the estimates of fire activity during the periods when the fire was an agricultural tool and its deflation - during the periods dominated by fire suppression policies. Historical records, however, indicate that the studied area had no forestry roads, which would support horse-drawn transportation, prior to 1908 (Golubtsov et al., 1908; Olenev, 1902). Instead, there were lakes, rivers, and footpaths, which were used for travel at that time. Records indicate that rafting on the lakes was the most convenient way to travel during summers (Golubtsov et al., 1908). The resulting site network covered an area of approximately 25x50 km<sup>2</sup>. We considered the size of our study area to be exceeding the size of the largest fires, which might have occurred in the European boreal zone prior to the onset of intensive forest use and its fragmentation (Niklasson and Granström, 2000). The area was, therefore, considered sufficient to represent the dynamics of historical fire cycles in Kalevalsky NP.

## 2.4.3 Development of fire chronologies

All of the samples were air dried and sanded with progressively finer sandpapers with up to 400-grit to provide a clear view of the rings and fire scars under a binocular microscope with 40× magnification. We cross-dated samples primarily using the visual pointer year method (Stokes and Smiley, 1968), capitalizing on the point year chronology developed for that area. Examples of useful pointer years heavily used during cross-dating were: 1346 (pale latewood), 1354 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1448 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1453 (pale latewood), 1454 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1466 (narrow ring and pale latewood), 1547 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1567 (pale latewood), 1601 (pale latewood), 1655 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1703 & 07 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1763 (pale latewood), 1801 (wide ring and dark latewood), 1899 (pale latewood) and 1901 (wide ring and dark latewood).

To verify the dating, we correlated sample chronologies with a newly developed regional pine ring-width chronology. Initially, we took advantage of the Scots pine chronology ITRDB RUSS183 (Meriläinen et al., 2014), developed for an area located approximately 50 km away from the Kalevalsky NP. To measure tree rings, we obtained high-resolution (2400–3200 dpi) digital images of the samples with a flatbed scanner and used Cybis AB CooRecorder/CDendro 9.0 to measure the rings (Larsson, 2017). As a proxy of correlation strength, we relied on t test calculated in program COFECHA (Grissino-Mayer, 2001; Holmes, 1999, 1983).

Dating of fire scars associated a scar with a particular ring. We also attempted to identify scar position within a dated ring, which provided information on the seasonal occurrence of the fire event. Fire scars with seasonal dating were assigned to one of the following seven categories: early earlywood (EEW), middle earlywood (MEW), late earlywood (LEW), early latewood (ELW), middle latewood (MLW), late latewood (LLW) and dormant (D) (Baisan and Swetnam, 1990).

# 2.4.4 Reconstruction of historical fire cycles

We developed a spatial reconstruction of fires capitalizing on the fire dates independently identified across our site network. To transfer fire dates obtained at site level into the areal estimate, we assumed that a site represented the fire history of a certain area centered on the site center, later referred to as *unit*. By summing up the areas of these units for the years with dated fire events, we obtained an annual chronology of burned areas. Since some of these units had a portion of their area covered by water (lakes, streams, but not mires nor peatlands), their contribution to the annual amount of burned area was reduced accordingly, using spatial information on the regional hydrology from DIVA-GIS datasets, version 7.5 (Hijmans. et al., 2001). The territory of the Kalevalsky NP is a landscape mosaic pattern that includes different type of forests, mires, peatlands, and two types of permanent waterbodies - lakes and streams. Based on our knowledge of the topography of the Kalevalsky NP and the typical size and arrangement of firebreaks (such as lakes and streams), we tested unit radii ranging from 500 to 1500 m, which corresponded to unit sizes of 78.5 to 707 ha. By doing so, we wanted to check for the sensitivity of our results to changes in unit size. We elected to use the unit with the size of 314 ha (1000 m radius), which tend to place the units within one element of the landscape mosaic. The results obtained with other unit sizes are presented in Appendix A: Fig. S2. We converted the reconstructed burned areas into the estimates of fire cycle (FC) (Van Wagner, 1978). The area burned is the inverse of the FC, i.e. the length of time required for the area equal to the total study area to burn. FC was calculated as:

$$FC = \frac{TSA*TI}{TBA} \tag{1}$$

where TI is the length of the time period studied (years) and TSA and TBA are the total studied area and the total burned area over this time period, respectively. We obtained 10% and 90% confidence limits for the FC through the bootstrap method, resampling our pool of sites 1000 times.

The decline in network spatial coverage over time (i.e., in the number of sites contributing to composite fire chronology) biased the results during the oldest portion of the reconstruction, through a reduction in the amount of reconstructed burned area. To address this issue, we adjusted the reconstructed burned areas by (a) calculating the proportion of sites recording fire in the total amount of recording sites for each fire year, and (b) randomly assigning burned/non-burned status to a proportion of the non-recording sites, as identified in step (a).

## 2.4.5 Identification of fire regime shifts

We used a regime shift detection algorithm (Rodionov, 2004) to identify changes in FC over the period covered by the reconstruction (1400–2010, minimum number of sites = 5). The algorithm is based on sequential t-tests that identify regime change, when the cumulative sum of normalized deviations from the mean value of a new regime is different from the meaning of the current regime, as calculated on a predefined moving timeframe. The algorithm uses "a cut-off length", i.e. a threshold, in years, below which the ability of the algorithm to detect regime changes is reduced. In the analysis, we set that threshold to 10 years (L parameter). The Hubert weight parameter, controlling for the weights assigned to the outliers, was set to 1 and the significance level t-tests - at 0.05. We opted for the 10 years as the value of the L parameter to increase the sensitivity of the algorithm to short-term changes in the fire cycle. The value of the Hubert parameter was set to 1, which is commonly considered as a default (Rodionov, 2004). We applied the procedure to reconstruct burned areas at the level of the studied landscape.

# 2.4.6. Analysis of association between fire history and environmental proxies

To test the association of fire events with regional weather states, we studied variability in mean summer geopotential height at 500-hPa (Luterbacher et al., 2002). Previous studies have shown a strong association between variations in the 500-hPa geopotential

height level in the mid-troposphere and changes in the distribution, frequency and amount of precipitation (Girardin et al., 2006; Seftigen et al., 2013) and regional fire activity (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Le Goff et al., 2008). Dominance of high-pressure systems, reflected in higher values of 500-hPa heights, could contribute to the development of dry conditions that are more conducive to fire (Girardin et al., 2006; Potter et al., 2004; Seftigen et al., 2013).

We used the pressure chronology for the grid cell covering the territory of the Kalevalsky NP (63.75–66.25N, 28.75–31.25E), with the record starting in AD 1659. We carried out two analyses focusing on the relationship between pressure variability for the grid cell encompassing the Kalevalsky NP and fire at both high and low frequency domains. To study high frequency variability, we used superposed epoch analysis (SEA) (Grissino-Mayer and Swetnam, 2000; Swetnam, 1993) to evaluate the significance of departures in atmospheric pressure during the large fire years (LFYs) and to quantify the spatial pattern of these departures. We performed the analyses in KNMI Climate Explorer (Trouet and van Oldenborgh, 2013).

To study low frequency variability, we used the reconstruction to test for decade-long changes in the mean summer pressure over the whole period for which pressure reconstruction was available (1659–1999). To this end, we used a sequential t-test algorithm (see subsection above) (Rodionov, 2004) with the significance level of 0.05, Hubert parameter of 1 and L parameter of 10. Although our fire reconstruction and the pressure reconstruction provided only a partial overlap, the pressure chronology did cover the period with a decline in fire activity in the Kalevalsky NP.

The stream flow reconstruction based on sedimentary cladoceran fossils from the Kuhmo area, 150 km west of the Kalevalsky NP (Luoto and Helama, 2010), were used as a proxy of regional drought conditions during spring period. The stream level changes have been reconstructed using a site-specific cladoceran-based inference model fed with the sediment data from the lake Pieni-Kauro (Luoto and Helama, 2010).

The reconstruction reflects historical variability in winter precipitation (Helama et al., 2009; Luoto and Helama, 2010). Although the stream flow reconstruction extended back to AD 500, we included in our analyses, only the period covered by our fire reconstruction, i.e. 1400 to 2010 AD.

# 2.4.7 Large fire years and climate-fire relationships

LFY were defined as years when the reconstructed annually burned area was above 1000 ha (for the version of analyses with unit size of 314 ha). We used SEA to quantify the relationships between LFYs, and environmental variability as represented by ocean temperatures and air pressure patterns in Northern Europe. We studied the pattern of June-July Sea surface temperature (SST) anomalies over the area limited by  $40^{\circ}$ – $80^{\circ}$  N and  $-20^{\circ}$ – $45^{\circ}$  E during LFYs in the Kalevalsky NP. SST data originated from ERSSTv5 (Huang et al., 2017). We used a subset of the gridded June-July mean temperature anomalies over the area of northern Europe from HadCRUT4 (Morice et al., 2012). In both analyses, we quantified deviations of these variables during the LFYs from the long-term means and evaluated the spatial pattern of such deviations. The temperature record covered the 1850–1930 period and the SST record covered the 1854–1930 period. It contained five LFYs between 1855 and 1919. Significant departures were identified, as those exceeding the 95% confidence interval. SEA analyses were done with the KNMI Climate Explorer tool (Trouet and van Oldenborgh, 2013).

## 2.4.8 Population Data

To evaluate the association of fire activity with human activities, we developed a chronology of population density for the village of Voknavolok, a settlement located 15 km from the Kalevalsky NP. We used the modern census data (Statistics, 2010) and historical estimates dating back to AD 1679 (Kochkurkina, 2000). During the period between 1679 and 1782, the population data was available only for males, excluding

women and children. To obtain total population estimates for that period we used a correction factor of 2.5.

## 2.5 Results

The fire chronology spanned the 1400–2010 AD period. We identified 184 fire years, based on the dating of a total of 630 fire scars found on 212 samples. The earliest fire was dated to 1390 AD and the most recent one – to 2007 AD. To ensure the minimum replication of fire events, we limited our analyses to the period from 1400 to 2010, for which each year was represented by at least five sites (Fig. 2.2a). The majority of the fires (85%) were below 500 ha, or 4% of the study area. Fire seasonality was successfully identified for 69% of the fires. The growing season fires accounted for 95% and 61% of these were early wood fires. Only 21 scars (5%) occurred in the dormant period.

We identified thirteen LFYs for the period 1400–2010 AD. These were AD 1570, 1634, 1640, 1660, 1730, 1750, 1824, 1826, 1855, 1858, 1883, 1914 and 1919 (Fig. 2.2b). During each of these events, the burned area exceeded 15 km<sup>2</sup> or 12 % of the studied area. Of these years, 1750 was marked as a year with exceptionally high fire activity, when the burned area reached 40 km<sup>2</sup> or 33% of the total study area.

Since 1400 AD, the FC underwent significant changes, resulting in three fire epochs, as identified by regime shift analysis. During the 1400–1630 AD period, the average FC was 178 yrs. (bootstrapped 90% confidence envelop 118 to 300 years). In the following period, 1640–1920 AD, the FC shortened to 46 yrs. (confidence envelop 39 to 53 years). In the most recent period (1930–2000 AD), the FC increased to 283 yrs. (confidence envelop 140 to 1421 years) (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.3a).



Figure 2.2 Dendrochronologically reconstructed fire history of Kalevalsky NP over the 1400–2010 CE. (A) Summary of fire scar dating with a single straight line representing a site and a dark circle representing a fire event. (B) Reconstructed chronology of annually burned areas with large fire years marked with dark circles.

To quantify the contribution of fires of different seasonality to the total fire activity, we run the regime shift detection algorithm separately for early-and late-season fires. For early-season fires, we identified three periods (1400–1610 AD, 1620–1880 AD, and 1890–1940 AD) with FC of 358, 78 and 223 yrs., respectively (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.3a). For late-season fires, the change in fire activity occurred in 1810 with the FC of 873 yrs. prior to the change and of 115 yrs. afterwards (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.3b).

Five LFYs in the Kalevalsky NP occurred in the period covered by SST reconstruction (1855, 1858, 1883, 1914, and 1919 AD). SEA revealed a positive association between LFYs and SST in the Norwegian Sea (Fig. 2.4a). We observed strong positive June-July temperature anomalies for the area of northern Europe during LFYs (Fig. 2.4b).

Table 2.1 Reconstructed FC with corresponding confidence intervals in the Kalevala NP for the periods identified by the regime shift analysis. FC estimates of two locations in Sweden are based on published reconstructions (Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001; Niklasson and Granström, 2000) and the results of respective regime shift analyses (Drobyshev et al., 2016).

Epoch, years AD	Mean FC	95 % CI lower bound	95 % CI upper bound
All fires			
1400–1630	178	118.67	300.98
1640–1920	46	39.07	53.82
1930–2000	283	140.96	1421.89
Early season fires			
1400–1610	358	210.05	768.37
1620–1880	78	66.61	93.84
1890–1940	223	133.55	520.25
Late season fires			
1570–1810	873	408.25	6720.29
1820–1940	115	86.86	161.07
Tiveden (middle Sweden)			
~1500–1600	75	—	_
~1600–1700	63	_	_
~1700–1800	88	_	_
Bjuvholm (northern Sweden)			
~1500–1600	304	_	_
~1600–1700	217	_	_
~1700–1800	320	_	_
~1800–1900	233	_	_



Figure 2.3 Changes in the FC of (A) all fires, (B) early season fires, and (C) late season fires in the Kalevalsky NP between 1400–2010 AD. Dashed lines represent decadal burned area, in km<sup>2</sup>. The red line shows periods with similar fire cycles, as identified by the regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004) using a 10-year window. The solid black line indicates sample depth.

During the 1659–1740 AD period, mean summer 500-hPa geopotential height remained relatively low, which was characteristic of generally cyclonic conditions (Fig. 2.5). The pressure height increased over the second half of the 1700s towards the first quarter of the 1800s. Reduction in 500-hPa geopotential height occurred between 1820s and 1920s, followed by its increase in the last period (1930s–2000s AD).



Figure 2.4 Relationship between LFYs in the Kalevala NP and (A) June–July sea-surface temperatures (Huang et al., 2017) over the 1854–1930 period, and (B) June–July temperature anomalies (Morice et al., 2012) over the 1850–1930 period. The location of the study area is marked with a dark circle. Colored areas indicate temperature anomalies, which were significant at p < 0.10.

#### 2.6 Discussion

#### 2.6.1 Human drivers of fire regime

FC changes in the Kalevalsky NP were likely affected by human land use. The area of the Kalevalsky NP has been initial colonized for at least 7000 years (Zhulnikov, 1993). Populations of semi-nomadic Saami (Lopari) people occasionally inhabited the area between ~1000 BC and the late 1300s (Kosmenko, 1978). Saami's primary occupations were fishing, hunting, and reindeer herding (Anonymous, 1957). Their use of fire was minimal (Anonymous, 1957; Ivanishcheva and Ershtadt, 2014; Klement'ev and Shlygina, 2003), since fire killed lichens, the main forage of deer in the winter (Sarvas, 1937). Archeological excavations have suggested that pre-industrial colonization by Karelians originating from the Ladoga Lake coasts intensified in the 1400–1500s (Zherbin et al., 1983), although the population density remained at an estimated 0.2 persons/km<sup>2</sup> (Miuller, 1978). We speculate that differences in typical land use patterns between two nationalities might be at play in promoting changes in FC. The proclivity of Karelians to settle permanently in a pre-industrial colonized area was in contrast to a predominantly nomadic habitation pattern of the Saami population. An increase in

the Karelian's population might facilitate transition to fire-intensive slash-and-burn practices. Historical sources have indicated that the land-use patterns of the Karelians compromised those of the Saami people, which resulted in local conflicts (Balagurov, 1959; Klement'ev and Shlygina, 2003) and, possibly, the use of fire by Karelians to secure their land rights. During the 1500–1600s period, the Kalevalsky NP was a territory of cross-border wars between Sweden and Russia that contributed to economic recession (Anonymous, 1957; Miuller, 1978). The wars likely hindered the expansion of land use practices involving fire. Historical records report low soil fertility and a harsh climate (Olenev, 1902), further limiting the area involved in farming (Golubtsov et al., 1908).

An increase in fire activity around the 1630s coincided with the signature of the Treaty of Stolbovo between Russia and Sweden (1617 AD) and the onset of economic recovery in the region (Anonymous, 1957). Industrial colonization of the area by Swedes and Finns (from the west) and by Novgorod Russians (from the east), contributed to a population increase during the 1600s (Pöllä, 1995). The mining and processing of iron ore drove economic development at that time (Chubinskii, 1866; Vasilevskii, 1949) and commercial deer hunting, tar extraction, charcoal burning and small-scale agriculture were popular occupations among the local population until the 1800s (Anonymous, 1957; Vasilevskii, 1949). All these activities likely contributed to fire ignitions and the amount of burned areas. Previous studies of fire activity in Scandinavia have consistently associated human land use with the increase in fire activity during 1600s (Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Wallenius, 2011; Wallenius et al., 2004), although not necessarily with the increase in the amount of burned area. In particular, the study of Wallenius et al (2004) related the increase in fire occurrence to the political urge from Stockholm for the people of Sweden to industrial colonize eastern fringes of the kingdom in 1673 (Veijola, 1998). In our study, however, the increase took place about 40 years earlier, which questions the role of policy changes in fire dynamics. Variation in both the sampled areas and the analyzed metrics of fire regime was a likely source of differences in studies' results. In our study, the area investigated totaled 119000 ha whereas in Wallenius et al (2004) it was 419 ha. Difference in fire metrics could further contribute to differences in the results between two studies: our study operated with an areal estimate of fire regime whereas the one of Wallenius et al. (2004) focused on the fire return intervals.

The observed decline in fire activity that occurred around 1920s might be a result of socio-economic changes, although the timing of this decline does not conclusively point to a particular event as a trigger of these dynamics. Since the early 1800s, the processing of iron ore has been losing its economic importance, due to the high duty on firewood imposed by the Russian state at that time (Chubinskii, 1866). Forest burnings have been criminalized since the 1870s (Chubinskii, 1866) and were largely replaced by a three-field system (Kochkurkina, 2000). The coup-d'état of 1917 and the political split among inhabitants of the Karelian countryside resulted in their mass immigration to Finland, followed by a deep economic recession in the region (Nygerd, 1980). Not until the end of 1923 (Kochkurkina, 2000), did most refugees return to Russian Karelia from Finland. However, the population of Voknavolok, a village located ~5 km away from the Kalevalsky NP, never reached the level observed prior to the coup-d'état (Fig. 2.5).

The dramatic shift from high to low fire activity appeared to coincide with changes in the economy of Karelian villages, which took place early during the Soviet period. Following the increase economic value of timber, the government organized state forest units during the 1920s and tasked them with fire prevention (Anonymous, 1918; Ulianov and Fotieva, 1920). The border protection zone was established on the Russian side of the Russian-Finnish border in the Soviet period (Gromtsev et al., 2003). This prevented most of the traditional activities in the area.



Figure 2.5 Chronologies of population density of Voknavolok (Kochkurkina, 2000), reconstructed summer 500-hPa pressure for the territory of Kalevalsky NP (Luterbacher et al., 2002), and stream flow reconstruction based on the sedimentary cladoceran fossils (Luoto and Helama, 2010). The yellow bar indicates the period with increased fire activity as revealed by dendrochronological reconstructions (see Fig. 2.3a).

# 2.6.2 Climate forcing upon fire regime

A low-frequency (centurial) synchrony between climate proxies and fire activity varied over the studied period. Overall, pressure pattern did not show a consistent association with the dynamics of fire cycle (Fig. 2.5). The periods with both higher and lower 500-hPa levels overlapped with the fire-prone epoch in the fire cycle reconstruction. We speculate that the result may reflect not the actual lack of a mechanistic link between two records, but the fact that the data extracted from the Luterbacher et al. (2002) represented the area located at the fringes of the region covered by this reconstruction product. It is also possible that the reconstruction record for the area had a limited ability to reflect water balance of forest fuels.

Instead, the reconstruction of the stream flow in an area about 150 km away from the Kalevalsky NP (Luoto and Helama, 2010) indicated a general trend towards drier

conditions during the Little Ice Age (LIA). The onset of the period with shorter fire cycle in the Kalevalsky NP coincided with decline in stream flow (Fig. 2.5). The large fire year of 1570 AD occurred during the driest period observed between 1500 and 1600 AD, was possibly conditioned by lower amounts of winter precipitation (Fig. 2.5) (Luoto and Helama, 2010; Nevalainen et al., 2013). Four other LFYs in the Kalevalsky NP occurred during the period of more than a century long decrease of stream flow, between the 1600-1720s, which was likely associated with dryer forest fuels during spring. The dominance of early season fires prior to 1800s is consistent with dryer conditions at the starts of the fire seasons, indicating the principal role of climate in controlling fire cycle at that time. Instead, a decrease in fire activity was not consistent with a decline in stream flow around 1900s, suggesting a decline in climate forcing upon fire activity (Fig. 2.5).

At the annual time scale, the fire regime of the Kalevalsky NP synchronized with summer SST dynamics in the Norwegian Sea and summer temperature anomalies over northern Europe (Figs. 2.4a, 2.4b). The positive correlation between the occurrence of large fire years (LFYs) and two temperature variables suggested that the establishment of a high-pressure cell over northern Europe, warming up both the ocean and forest fuels, is likely behind the observed relationships. LFY identified in this study were not associated with the colder sea surface temperatures in the western North Atlantic, earlier shown to predict periods of regionally increased fire hazard in Northern Sweden (Drobyshev et al., 2016). It was therefore likely that the occurrence of LFY was driven primarily by regional climate dynamics rather than by large-scale transatlantic teleconnections. Both mechanisms likely rely on the inflow of dry-cold arctic air masses in the summer, preconditioning increased regional fire hazard (Drobyshev et al., 2016).

## 2.6.3 Temporal changes in forest FC dynamics in Fennoscandia

The earliest period in our reconstruction (1400–1620 AD) had a FC of 178 years. Although the period partially coincided with the wave of pre-industrial colonization of the area by Karelians in the 1400s, the population density apparently remained low during that period (Table 2.1 and Fig. 2.5). Prior to the wave of human colonization of the Northern Fennoscandia during the 1600s, the average FC in European boreal forests ranged ~ 40 to 300 years (Lehtonen, 1997; Lehtonen and Huttunen, 1997; Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Rolstad et al., 2017). Our FC (178 years) was shorter than the length of FC reconstructed in Northern Sweden, estimated at 304 years (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Niklasson and Granström, 2000), but longer than in eastern Finland and south-central Norway, estimated at 107 and 73 years respectively (Lehtonen and Kolström, 2000; Rolstad et al., 2017). The similarity in FCs estimates suggested that a FC of about 200 years as a characteristic level of fire activity in Fennoscandia boreal forests, prior to the expansion of intensive forest use practices (Table 2.1).

The period of increased fire activity started in ~ the 1630s and was characterized by a three-fold increase in the amount of burned areas (Fig. 2.3a). The synthesis of boreal biome fire histories has proposed the 1600s as the most fire prone period in boreal forest, due to the dry and unstable climate of the Little Ice Age (Bergeron and Flannigan, 1995; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Gavin et al., 2003; Wallenius et al., 2007). In the Kalevalsky NP, this climate-driven pattern might be further enhanced by human population dynamics (see the discussion on that point above). Around the 1920s, the FC declined back to levels that are only marginally higher than the ones reconstructed for the earliest period. Similar changes in fire activity have been shown for northern Fennoscandia (Aakala et al., 2018; Drobyshev et al., 2007) and for boreal forests of North America (Bergeron et al., 2001; Weir et al., 2000). A large variability in the timing of

the decline in fire activity, reported across European and North American sectors of boreal forest supports the view on these dynamics as driven primarily by cessation of land use practices involving fire, and not by active prevention or suppression policies. Indeed, efficient application of such policies would require the level of technological development, which was largely missing during the 1700s and 1800s.

In Russian Karelia, the differences among the period-specific FCs were considerably more pronounced than in the middle and northern Sweden, the only region of the European boreal forest with available analyses of FC regime shifts. Shifts in FC among periods in Karelia reached almost 150 years (Table 2.1), while in northern Sweden FC changes from one period to another did not exceed 100 years (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Niklasson and Granström, 2000). An even lower level of differences in FC has been reported for southern boreal forests in Sweden (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001). The differences in the regional climate between Sweden and Karelia is a possible reason for the observed difference in the FC variability. The climate of the Kalevalsky NP is more continental (Alisov, 1936), which creates more fire-prone conditions, compared to Swedish sites. Karelia is a region with strong alternation between periods of cyclonic and anti-cyclonic activity, a pattern that likely promotes fires during drier periods (ASSR, 1989).

At the interannual scale, the list of LFYs identified here differed markedly from LFYs obtained in the landscapes located only 50-170 km west of our study area (Lehtonen and Huttunen, 1997; Lehtonen and Kolström, 2000; Wallenius et al., 2004). Over 1400-2007, only two (1570 AD, 1634 AD) out of 13 identified LFYs were common between the North Karelia and the eastern Finland (Lehtonen and Huttunen, 1997). We speculate that such moderate level of synchrony is caused by the differences in the data collection protocols, rather than differences in climate or landscape properties among the locations. Lack of synchrony might be due to the limited size of the areas sampled

in the earlier studies, which might act towards increasing the stochastic behavior of the fire records.

## 2.6.4 Seasonality fires in Kalevalsky NP

Seasonal patterns of fire occurrence may provide an insight into the relative contributions of natural vs. human-mediated ignitions upon fire activity. The large proportion (61 %) of early season fires in the Kalevalsky NP might point to the natural origin of fire ignitions, despite the view on the dominance of spring and early summer fires as an indicator of human activities in northern European forests (Groven and Niklasson, 2005; Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001). Observations have documented that lightning-ignited fires in the European part of the Russian boreal zone predominantly occur early in the fire season, due to frequent high pressure cells established over that region immediately after the snowmelt (Kurbatsky, 1976a; Stolyarchyuk and Belaya, 1982). Kalevalsky NP is located in the part of the European boreal forest north of 59°N, which has been designated as a "May-June forest fire belt" (Melekhov, 1946) due to the dominance of such early season fires.

The origin of an increase in late season fires (Fig. 2.3c) from the early 1800s until the mid-1900s remains unclear. However, we speculate that the pattern was likely of a human population. We observed a strong association between the onset of a period with increased late season fires ~1810 and the time of peaking population density in the area (Fig. 2.5). Late-season fires can be potentially of higher severity and are more difficult to control (Ferrenberg et al., 2006), which make them a type of event not commonly used in the past as an agricultural tool. However, an increase in population density early in that period might have contributed to additional, not necessarily "agricultural" ignitions, which were spread over the whole fire season. The increase in the amount of area burned late in the fire season was relatively minor, since it did not appear to affect the overall FC dynamics (Fig. 2.3a).

## 2.7 Management implications

The forests of the Eastern Fennoscandia are dominated by pine, whose cohort dynamics is driven by a combination of repeated surface and stand replacing fires (Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Wallenius et al., 2004; Zackrisson, 1977). Quickly decreasing with time, the number of trees representing older cohorts make reconstruction of fire severity in these forests difficult. However, the common presence of trees and deadwood with multiple fire scars and the large amount of dead wood in the studied stands indicate that low-severity surface fires prevailed across the landscape of Kalevalsky NP in the past. Even the most pronounced fire years, such as 1640 and 1750, left behind a large number of scarred trees, many of which had earlier fire scars, pointing to a largely non-stand replacing type of these events.

Our findings demonstrate that fires have been an important factor affecting the forests of the Kalevalsky NP over the past 600 years. Conservation management of this area and similar protected areas of Eastern Fennoscandia should, therefore, acknowledge the role of this disturbance agent. We argue that a balance is needed between fire suppression activities dictated by the economic value of the forest and fire risks to human lives and infrastructure, on one hand, and the preservation of fire as a driver of vegetation dynamics, on another. The value of this nature-based approach has been convincingly demonstrated across a wide range of ecosystems, where fire acts as the primary disturbance factor (Clear et al., 2013; Conedera et al., 2009; Peterson and Reich, 2001).

A prolonged absence of fire prevents the natural regeneration of pine and promotes its replacement by shade-tolerant trees. The pattern has been documented in the pinedominant forests of the Kalevalsky NP (Gromtsev et al., 2003), in other parts of Fennoscandinavia (Kuuluvainen, 2002; Niklasson and Drakenberg, 2001; Wallenius et al., 2004) and in European Russia (Gromtsev et al., 2002; Kuosmanen et al., 2016, 2014). Prescribed surface fires can be instrumental in maintaining habitats for pine regeneration (Kuuluvainen and Rouvinen, 2000). These fires may also minimize the risks of large stand-replacing fires, by reducing the amount and continuity of fuels (Angelstam and Kuuluvainen, 2004; Drobyshev et al., 2008).

#### 2.8 Acknowledgements

The study was funded, in part, by state order to the Karelian Research Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences (Forest Research Institute KRC), the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), and the Swedish Institute (SI) Visby Programme (grant # 03793/2016 to N.R.). The study was done within the framework of the PREREAL project, funded by EU JPI Climate program and Belmont Forum, PREFORM project funded by NEFCO, CLIMECO and BalticFires projects, both funded by the Swedish Institute (grants to I.D.). Fellowship to N.R. was funded by NSERC grant (RGPIN-2018-06637 to I.D.). We thank A. Pekkoev, V. Kharitonov, I. Romashkin, J.Tkachenko, N. Genikova, V. Mamontov and S. Kochkurkina for help at various stages of the study. We are grateful to the administration of the Kalevalsky National Park for permission to collect tree samples. We thank anonymous reviewers for constructive comments on an earlier version of the manuscript

# III. CLIMATE DROVE THE FIRE CYCLE AND HUMANS INFLUENCED FIRE OCCURRENCE IN THE EAST EUROPEAN BOREAL FOREST

N. Ryzhkova, A. Kryshen, M. Niklasson, G. Pinto, A. Aleinikov, I. Kutyavin, Y. Bergeron, Adam A. Ali, I. Drobyshev

This article was published in Ecological Monographs 92(4): e1530

doi: 10.1002/ecm.1530

Copyright ESA (2022)

## 3.1 Résumé

Comprendre les historiques de feux dans les paysages boréaux sur le long terme est essentiel pour modéliser les interactions climat-feu et le rôle de l'influence humaine sur les régimes de feux naturels. Les sections orientales de la zone boréale européenne manquent actuellement de séries chronologiques, de feux annuelles et centenaires. Pour combler cette lacune, nous avons reconstruit dendrochronologiquement les 600 années d'histoire des feux dans un paysage boréal moyen dominé par les pins dans la partie sud de la République de Komi, en Russie. Nous avons combiné la reconstruction des cycles de feu (CF) et des occurrences de feu avec les données de création des villages et des indicateurs climatiques, en discutant la contribution relative du climat par rapport à l'usage humain des terres dans la formation des régimes de feux historiques. Entre 1340 et 1610, le territoire présentait un-CF de 66 ans (intervalle de confiance de 90 % entre 56,8 et 78,6 ans). L'activité des feux a augmenté durant la période 1620–1730, avec un CF atteignant 32 ans (31,0–34,7 ans). Entre 1740 et 1950, le CF a augmenté à 47 ans (41,9–52,0). La période la plus récente, 1960–2010, marque le maximum historique du CF, avec une moyenne de 153 ans (102,5–270,3 ans).

La création de villages, souvent de petits ports sur la rivière Pechora, a été associée à une augmentation non significative des occurrences de feux près des villages (p = 0,07-0,20). Nous avons toutefois observé une association temporelle entre la fondation des villages et l'occurrence des feux à l'échelle du paysage étudié. Il n'y avait pas d'association positive entre cette création de villages et les CF. En fait, nous avons documenté une diminution de la superficie brûlée, suivant une vague d'implantation de villages dans la seconde moitié du XVIIe siècle et la première moitié du XVIIIe siècle. L'absence de lien entre la dynamique des CF et les dates de fondation des villages, ainsi que l'association significative entre les années de grands feux (LFYs) et la chronologie du bois précoce de pin, utilisé comme indicateur historique de sécheresse, suggèrent indirectement que le climat était le principal déterminant des CF à l'échelle du paysage

dans les forêts étudiées. Les forêts dominées par les pins de la République de Komi peuvent occuper une position unique en tant qu'écosystème avec l'histoire la plus courte de modifications des cycles de feux liés à l'homme dans la région boréale européenne.

Mots-clés : variation climatique, perturbations naturelles, paysage boréal, régime de feu, forêts dominées par les pins, nord-est de la Russie, risques naturels.

# 3.2 Abstract

Understanding long-term forest fire histories of boreal landscapes is instrumental for parameterizing climate-fire interactions and the role of humans affecting natural fire regimes. The eastern sections of the European boreal zone currently lack a network of annually resolved and centuries-long forest fire histories. To fill in this knowledge gap, we dendrochronologically reconstructed the 600-year fire history of a middle boreal pine-dominated landscape of the southern part of the Republic of Komi, Russia. We combined the reconstruction of fire cycle (FC) and fire occurrence with data on the village establishment and climate proxies and discussed the relative contribution of climate vs. human land use in shaping historical fire regimes. Over the 1340–1610 CE period, the territory had a FC of 66 years (with the 90% confidence envelop of 56.8 and 78.6 years). Fire activity increased during the 1620–1730 CE period, with the FC reaching 32 years (31.0–34.7 years). Between 1740–1950, the FC increased to 47 years (41.9-52.0). The most recent period, 1960-2010, marks FC's historical maximum, with the mean of 153 years (102.5-270.3). Establishment of the villages, often – as small harbors on the Pechora River, was associated with a non-significant increase in fire occurrence in the sites nearest the villages (p = 0.07-0.20). We, however, observed a temporal association between village establishment and fire occurrence at the scale of the whole studied landscape. There was no positive association between the former and the FC. In fact, we documented a decline in the area burned, following the wave of village establishment during the second half of the 1600s and the first half of the 1700s. The lack of association between the dynamics of FC and the dates of village establishments, and the significant association between large fire years (LFYs) and the earlywood pine chronology, used as historical drought proxy, indirectly suggests that the climate was the primary control of the landscape-level FCs in the studied forests. Pine dominated forests of the Komi Republic may hold a unique position as the ecosystem with the shortest history of human-related shifts in fire cycles across the European boreal region.

Keywords: climate variation, natural disturbances, boreal landscape, fire regime, pinedominated forests, north-eastern Russia, natural hazards

## 3.3 Introduction

Forest fires are an integral part of the natural disturbance regime in boreal regions (Johnson, 1992; Johnstone and Chapin, 2006), shaping the dynamics of this biome (Bowman et al., 2009; Buma, 2015; Granström, 2001) since they maintain ecosystem functions and complex successional pathways (Bergeron et al., 2004; Bourgeau-Chavez et al., 2000; Payette, 1992; Pyne, 1997). Regional fire activity is primarily controlled by climate (Clark, 1990; Flannigan and Wotton, 2001; Johnson, 1992; Stocks and Lynham, 1996) that directly influences the moisture content of the fuels and ignition patterns, and indirectly – the fuel type and loads. Topography affects variation in soil moisture and vegetation cover that, in turn, introduces spatial variability in the fire regime at finer scales (Girardin et al., 2013; Hellberg et al., 2004; Kuosmanen et al., 2014; Pitkanen et al., 2003).

The reconstructions of fire activity in the European boreal forest have indicated that there is a considerable low-frequency variability in the amounts of forest burned area in Northern Europe since 1400s CE, likely reflecting both climatic and human forcing (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Pinto et al., 2020; Ryzhkova et al., 2020; Wallenius et al., 2007). An increase in the amount of burned forest areas during the coldest period of the Little Ice Age (LIA), the 1600s, (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Ryzhkova et al., 2020) was followed by a pronounced decline in fire activity that started in the mid-1800s. The decline was likely driven by climate variability (Bergeron et al., 2004; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Girardin et al., 2006; Tardif, 2004), cessation of land use practices involving fire, and some rudimentary fire suppression (Niklasson et al., 2010; Rolstad et al., 2017; Tryterud, 2003; Wallenius, 2011). The current net human impact on forest fire translates into a decrease in fire activity, even though increasing human densities are linked to a higher density of ignitions (Groven and Niklasson, 2005; Marlon et al., 2008; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Zhang and Chen, 2007). For example, in the second half of the 20th century, the FC in most parts of the Northern European boreal

forests varied among hundreds or thousands of years (Drobyshev et al., 2021). In comparison, the FC prior to the 1700s ranged from 30 to 300 years (Drobyshev et al., 2012; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Pinto et al., 2020; Ryzhkova et al., 2020). These estimates largely reflect western sections of the European boreal biome, since the vast majority of dendrochronological fire reconstructions in boreal Europe have been carried out in the Fennoscandia (Aakala et al., 2018; Drobyshev et al., 2014; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Nilsen et al., 2019; Rolstad et al., 2017; Wallenius et al., 2004). The knowledge of historical forest fire regimes of the eastern sections of the boreal zone remains limited.

Humans have been an important agent of change in fire regimes across the European boreal biome (Groven and Niklasson, 2005; Knorr et al., 2016; Rolstad et al., 2017; Stocks et al., 2002; Wallenius, 2011; Weir et al., 2000). The extent that humans affected fire activity in the boreal zone is currently being debated, with some studies arguing for the almost comprehensive spread of fire-supported agriculture across the European boreal zone (Aleinikov, 2017a; Degteva et al., 2015; Gromtsev, 2002), while others suggesting a strong climate control of boreal fire activity (Aakala et al., 2018; Drobyshev et al., 2016). In Europe, and in particular – in the Fennoscandia, population expansion increased fire frequency and reduced the dominant fire size through the use of slash-and-burn agriculture and associated forest clear-cutting (Hellberg et al., 2009; Lehtonen and Huttunen, 1997; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Wallenius et al., 2004). The production of charcoal (Östlund, 1993) and reindeer herding (Hörnberg et al., 2018) further affected fire activity through their impact on forest fuels. In contrast to Fennoscandia, the eastern fringes of the European boreal zone currently lack studies on human-fire interactions, done at the annual or near-annual resolution and extending beyond the colonization period to debate the interplay among climate, humans, and fire over the most recent centuries.

The Pechora-Ilych Nature Biosphere Reserve (from this point forward Pechora-Ilych NBR) located in the southeastern portion of the Komi Republic protects an area of the European middle boreal forests, often designated as the Virgin Komi Forests (Anufriev, 2000; Yudin, 1954). The Reserve consists of two geographically separated sections: one with predominantly flat terrain lying within the Pechora Lowland in the vicinity of Yaksha village (Fig. 3.1) and a mountainous area forming the Pechora-Ilych watershed (Dedeev, 1997; Varsanof'eva, 1940). Pine-dominated forests grow on areas with flat topography, and are particularly abundant on the sandy soils of the Pechora River and fluvioglacial lowland (Anufriev, 2000). The nutrient poor soils and the low population densities, well below 1 pers./km<sup>2</sup>, had limited the expansion of slash-and-burn agriculture in this area in the past (Aleinikov, 2014) (Fig. 3.3). However, the area had an important geopolitical role between 1500 and the 1800s, due to the presence of three portage routes. Two of them connected the Northern Dvina and the Pechora watersheds (and in this way - to the coasts of the Arctic Ocean) with the Kama Basin and Caspian Sea. The third connected the Northern Dvina and the Pechora watersheds with each other (Dmitriev, 1893; Korchagin and Lobanova, 2012; Velikanov, 1887). Colonization of the area by Russians as late as the middle 1400s, the harsh climate, the complex topography and the lack of a developed market for timber products, all protected the region from large-scale timber harvesting until the late 1800s (Aleinikov, 2014; Popova et al., 2012). Although industrial forestry operations had a considerable impact on the regional forest cover in the early and middle parts of the 20th century, creation of the Pechora-Ilych NBR in 1930 helped to maintain a considerable portion of the landscape with well-preserved fire-scarred live trees and deadwood.

To advance our understanding of the interplay between climate and human forcing upon forest fire regimes in the Eastern boreal forest, we developed a 600-year long spatially explicit reconstruction of the fire regime in a 20x30 km<sup>2</sup> area in the vicinity of Pechora-Ilych NBR, relying on the dating of fire-scarred living and dead Scots pines.



Figure 3.1 Location of the study area and the sampled sites within or in the vicinity of the Pechora-Ilych NBR. The area marked as a Pechora-Ilych NBR on the map is the western portion of the reserve.

We hypothesized that (H1) the onset of the main wave of human colonization in the area resulted in the increases of both areas burned (H1.1) and fire occurrence (H1.2). To support the discussion of H1, we took advantage of the information on the location and establishment dates for individual villages, transit portages and harbors that were recovered from documentary sources. We further hypothesized that (H2) the Pechora-Ilych NBR exhibited the most fire-prone period during the LIA, a cold period of the Maunder Minimum, apparently characterized by a dry and unstable climate and centered on the 1600s and 1700s. Previous research in other parts of the European boreal zone has associated the LIA with increased fire activity levels and, possibly, more frequent conditions of extreme fire hazard (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Ryzhkova et al., 2020). H2, therefore, tested for a broad similarity between the fire history of the Pechora-Ilych NBR and those in the western sections of the European boreal biome.

Finally, considering the low population density and low intensity of historical forest management, we hypothesized (H3) that the historical fire regime was strongly influenced by annual climate variability. To test H3, we evaluated the associations between LFYs in the Pechora-Ilych NBR and the regional earlywood-width Scots pine chronology, which served as a proxy for historical drought conditions.

## 3.4 Material and methods

## 3.4.1 The study area

The study area was located in the southeastern part of the Komi Republic, which is one of the most forest-rich regions in European Russia (Taskaev, 2006). Climatologically, the area lies within the Atlantic–continental province (Stolpovski and (eds), 1997) (Appendix B: Fig. S3.1). The annual average temperature is around 1 °C and the average length of the growing season (i.e. the number of days with an average daily temperature above 10 °C) is around 110 days. Average daily temperatures commonly exceed 10 °C during the first 10-day period of June and then fall below this value in the first week of September. Annual precipitation averages 700 mm and accumulation of thick snow cover (70–80 cm) is characteristic for the winter period, which lasts for 130–200 days. Snow melt in the pine forests occurs in mid-May and the first snow cover usually occurs in the first week of October (Appendix B: Fig. S3.1).

The area is situated on the western fringe of the Russian Plain (Dedeev, 1997). The underlying bedrock is dominated by sand and moraine loam and covered by the quaternary glacial drifts (Zaboeva, 1997). The prevailing vegetation is of the middle taiga type (Larin, 1997), broadly corresponding to boreal mixedwoods of Northern America. Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), Siberian spruce (*Picea obovata* Ledeb.), and Siberian fir (*Abies sibirica* Ledeb.) dominate. Stands of arctic white birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.), silver birch (*B. pendula* Roth) and aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) typically mark the early stages of post-fire and post-felling succession. Siberian pine
(*Pinus sibirica* Du Tour) and larch (*Larix decidua* Mill.) are both minor components of the vegetation.

Fire is the one of the major natural disturbance factors in the Komi pine-dominated forests (Drobyshev et al., 2004a, 2004b; Drobyshev and Niklasson, 2004; Manov and Kutyavin, 2018). Historical stand-level fire frequency in the pine-dominated forests in the region ranged from 60 to 220 years (Barhoumi et al., 2020; Drobyshev et al., 2004b).

A reconstruction of sediment charcoal data in the Komi Republic suggested a gradual Holocene-long increase in fire activity in the boreal Komi, driven largely by the climate, vegetation composition and, possibly, the human use of fires (Barhoumi et al., 2019). However, at the annual scale, fire activity in pine-dominated forests revealed a large temporal variability (Drobyshev et al., 2004b) and its strong connection to the summer drought conditions (Drobyshev and Niklasson, 2004). Human settlements in this region have been shown to modulate climate forcing upon the fire regime, with the distance from a site to the nearest village accounting for 50% of the variation in statistical fit between fire occurrence and tree-ring proxy of fire weather (Drobyshev et al., 2004b).

## 3.4.2 Human population of the area

A mixture of several nationalities forms the population of the area. The main nationalities are Mansi (Voguls) and Russian people, each featuring characteristic landuse patterns. In the High Middle Ages (1000 to 1500 CE), the territory belonged to the nomadic Mansi people, who were a part of the aboriginal population of the Ural Mountains. Mansi people were involved in hunting, gathering, reindeer herding and fishing (Chagin, 2017; Popova et al., 2012).

During the 1500s–1800s, the area had two major transit portages (volok, in Russian) bridging three important waterways: the Nemski portage connected the watersheds of

the Kama and Northern Dvina rivers, while the Pechora portage connected the Kama and Pechora watersheds. The first reference to the Nemski portage dates back to 1517– 1520 (Dmitriev, 1893; Zherebtsov et al., 2014). Its abandonment in the 1820s was associated with the construction of the Northern Catherine Canal (Chagin, 2017; Dmitriev, 1893; Rychkov, 1770). The Pechora route was first mentioned in the records in the 1671–1681 period (Chagin, 2017) and the establishment of Ust'-Volosnitsa village has been linked to the route activities (Chagin, 2015; Popova et al., 2012). To increase the storage capacity for the goods transported along the trade routes, several river harbors were established. Two of them were Ust'-Elovka on the Elovka River and Khoroshevskaya harbor on the Pechora River. In 1770, the latter was moved to the current location of the Yaksha village, which is currently the largest village in the area. The establishment of trade routes and villages followed the immigration of Russians into the area from 1650 to the 1700s. Russians worked mostly with various transportation services associated with the trade routes. Since the late 1800s, Russians shaped the timber market by actively engaging in the timber harvesting (Popova et al., 2012). An expedition in the area, arranged in 1912, noted numerous signs of selective cuts in the area (Nat, 1915a, 1915b).

## 3.4.3 Field sampling

The sampled sites were located within and in proximity to the Pechora-Ilych NBR, within 61°43'–63°16' N and 56°52'–59° 39' E (Fig. 3.1). Using the existing forest road network and the Pechora River, we placed sites by randomly locating points for sampling along the roads and the river. To ensure sufficient site density for estimating the size of individual fires, we kept the distance between neighboring sites within two to five km. We sampled both forested areas and areas with recent clear-cuts, since they both provided material for dendrochronological dating. Mires (mostly fens) were generally not sampled, since these locations were generally devoid of old wood. However, we collected a large number of samples on the interfaces between mires and

the drier portions of the landscape. Each site represented an area of two to three hectares. To ensure an equally distributed sampling effort, we inventoried each site during a 1.5–two-hour period, by thoroughly searching the area for the presence of living and dead trees with fire scars. At a site, we inventoried the area, using a combination of the random walk approach and an inventory of the habitats located at the interfaces between more xeric and more humid areas. These locations often host old and fire-scarred deadwood. We used chainsaws to extract wedges from living trees and snags and, in the case of stumps, cross-sections. Between six and 15 samples were collected on each site. We acquired a total of 179 samples of 51 living and 128 dead pine trees. We carried out our sampling in 2016 and integrated this dataset with a portion of the data from our earlier study (Drobyshev et al., 2004a). In particular, we screened the 2004 dataset and selected the oldest sites without a suspected hiatus in site fire chronologies. In total (2004 and 2016 datasets), our analyses operated on 30 sites and 247 trees.

Since all of our sites were located along the transport routes, the fire history reconstructed on these sites might, to a certain degree, reflect the use of fire by the local population. In particular, the use of fire for agricultural purposes, typically in the vicinity of the villages, could inflate the estimates of the natural fire activity as reconstructed on such sites. In this study, we explicitly test this assumption, by analyzing fire return intervals prior to and following the dates of village establishment in the area (see the subsection Analyzing the effect of human settlements below in this section).

To evaluate similarity in fire ignitions over the dendrochronologically reconstructed period and modern times (i.e. the second half of the 20th century), we used records of fires available for the area of the Yaksha section of the reserve, which was partly covered by our reconstruction. The area of the Yaksha section is 15800 ha and has a vegetation cover dominated by pure and mixed pine forests, i.e. similar to the cover of

the area sampled for the dendrochronological reconstruction. The record spanned the 1936-1996 period and contained information on the date and origin of recorded fires.

## 3.4.4 Development of fire chronologies

We air dried and sanded samples with progressively finer sandpapers with up to 400grit to secure a clear view of the rings and fire scars under a binocular microscope with 40× magnification. We cross-dated samples using the visual pointer year method (Stokes and Smiley, 1968), capitalizing on the point year chronology developed for that area. We provided information on the most useful pointer years in the Appendix B: Text B1. To verify the dating, we correlated sample chronologies with an earlier developed Scots pine ring-width chronology (Drobyshev et al., 2004a). Measuring rings and building ring-width chronologies provided the means to verify the dating quality. To measure tree rings, we obtained high-resolution (2400–3200 dpi) digital images of the samples with a flatbed scanner and used Cybis AB CooRecorder and CDendro 9.0 to measure the rings (Larsson, 2018). As a proxy of correlation strength, we relied on a t-test calculated in the programs COFECHA (Grissino-Mayer, 2001; Holmes, 1999, 1983) and CDendro (Larsson, 2018).

Dating of scars allowed us to associate the calendar years with (a) fire scars, (b) oldest and (c) youngest rings on each sample and to develop site-specific fire chronologies. We also attempted to identify scar position within a dated ring, which provided information on the seasonal occurrence of fire. We assigned to the fire scars one of the following four categories: no seasonal dating, earlywood scar (a scar located in early, middle and late earlywood), latewood scar (a scar located in early, middle or late latewood), and dormant scar. Dormant scars were located on the interface between two rings. The exact determination of the year for that scar was not possible. In this case, we assigned the year and season, based on the seasonal dating of scars dated at the same site and to the years in question. This approach is supported by the observation that in the parts of the boreal zone with extensive snow cover during the cold season, the "survival" of forest fires over such a period and their occurrences in two consecutive years on the same site are highly unlikely.

### 3.4.5 Reconstruction of historical FC and identification of FC regime shifts

Spatial reconstruction of fires relied on the fire dates independently identified across the network of sites. To convert point data (i.e. frequency estimates for a site) into the areal estimates, we assumed that a site fire chronology represented the fire history of a certain area centered on the site center, later referred to as unit. By summing up the areas of these units for the years with dated fire events, we obtained an annual chronology of burned areas. The studied territory featured the mosaic of boreal vegetation types that included pine and spruce-dominated stands, transitional mires and, rarely, bogs. Since the Pechora River was the only permanent waterbody in the area, we excluded the proportions of the units containing the river surface from calculations. In the analysis, we tested unit radii ranging from 200 to 600 m, which corresponded to unit sizes of 12.5 to 113.1 ha. By doing so, we wanted to check for the sensitivity of our FC reconstruction to changes in unit size. We elected to use the unit with the size of 78.5 ha (500 m radius), which tends to place the units within one element of the landscape mosaic. We refer the reader to the Supplementary Information section (Appendix B: Fig. S3.2) for the results obtained with other unit sizes. We converted the reconstructed burned areas into the estimates of FC (Van Wagner, 1978), which is the length of time required for the area equal to the total study area to burn:

$$FC = \frac{TSA}{TBA*TI}$$
(2)

where TI is the length of the time period studied (in years) and TSA and TBA are the total studied area and the total burned area over this time period (in ha), respectively. To account for the decline in the number of sites representing the oldest sections of the area-wide chronology, we adjusted the estimates of the area burned using an earlier

developed protocol (Ryzhkova et al., 2020). We estimated fire occurrence as the number of fire years aggregated into 10-year periods in the whole area studied.

We used a regime shift detection algorithm (Rodionov, 2004) to identify changes in FC and fire occurrence over the period covered by the reconstruction (1400-2010, minimum number of sites = 5). The algorithm uses sequential t-tests to identify a regime change. Specifically, a new regime is identified when the cumulative sum of normalized deviations from the mean value of a new regime is different from the mean of the current regime, calculated on a pre-defined moving timeframe. See details of the algorithm used in the context of FC analyses in Ryzhkova et al. (2020). The algorithm was run with the L parameter set to 10, the Hubert weight parameter set to 1 and with the significance level of 0.05. The Rodionov algorithm represented, therefore, the dynamics of fire activity at the level of the whole studied area. To assess the sensitivity of the results to a particular combination of sites, we used bootstrapping to obtain 10% and 90% confidence limits for the FC, resampling our pool of sites 1000 times. We did not introduce any adjustments for the fire occurrence chronology to account for the decline in sampling coverage in the early period. The rationale for that was our interest in avoiding an additional assumption on the spatial distribution of fire ignitions over our study area.

## 3.4.6 Analysis of association between fire history and environmental proxies

We used superimposed epoch analysis (SEA) to assess the role of climate forcing upon fire activity. In the analysis, we used two LFYs data sets. The selection of the large fire years for the SEA was a trade-off between (a) maximizing the climate forcing upon fire activity in selected years and (b) ensuring sufficient replication of data for the analysis itself. Two "extreme" solutions, i.e. consideration of the largest fire year and the use of all fire years, would make the analysis impossible due to the lack of replication (the first alternative) or due to a diluted climate signal in the fire record (Drobyshev et al., 2012). Keeping these considerations in mind, we selected for the SEA, the five largest fire years, based on our spatial reconstruction of fire activity in the Pechora-Ilych NBR. This number corresponded to approximately 4% of all fire years dating from 1400 AD. We run two versions of SEA, feeding the routine with years dominated by fires of different seasonality. In doing so, we wanted to test whether the differences in fire seasonality during LFYs have an effect on the statistical significance of the results.

The region of the south-eastern Komi Republic does not currently possess precipitation or drought reconstructions, which could act as a proxy for historic climate variability in fire-prone conditions. We, therefore, elected to use earlywood and latewood width chronologies of Scots pine, developed within the framework of our earlier study (Drobyshev et al., 2004b). These chronologies served as a proxy for early- and late-season drought conditions. To ensure the presence of the drought signals in these chronologies, we run response function analyses correlating that chronology with the Monthly Drought Code (MDC) over the period when both datasets were available (1901-1998). The MDC calculation used the instrumental monthly precipitation total and maximum monthly temperatures from the CRU dataset TS v. 4.02 (Harris et al., 2014). Details on the protocol of MDC calculation are available in Appendix B: Text B2.

Prior to SEA, we fit an autoregressive time series model to the pine chronology, using R function dplR::chron (Bunn, 2010). The routine used Akaike Information Criterion to choose the order of the autoregressive model and Tukey's Biweight Robust Mean to produce the master chronology.

## 3.4.7 Analyzing the effect of human settlements

To study the association between shifts in fire activity and human activities, we obtained establishment dates for villages or small harbors on the Pechora River from historical sources (Chagin, 2015; Popova et al., 2012; Rychkov, 1770; Sivokha, 2001).

We evaluated differences in the distributions of fire intervals prior to and following the establishment of the villages with a Chi-square test utilizing both complete (uncensored) and censored observations. We combined fire histories of three sites nearest to a village into a composite (village-specific) chronology for three villages located within the sampled area. To represent the probability of a fire in the sites nearest to the villages, we used the survivorship analysis and the Kaplan-Meier estimator (Kaplan and Meier, 1958):

$$S(t) = \prod_{j=1}^{t} \left[ (n-j)/(n-j+1) \right]^{\delta_{(j)}}, \qquad (3)$$

where S(t) is the site survivorship function estimated for a period t; n is the total number of observations;  $\Pi$  is the product (geometric sum) across all cases less than or equal to t (in years), and  $\delta$  (j) is a constant that equals 1 in case of complete and 0 in case of censored intervals. In the context of the current study, survivorship was understood as a probability for a site to escape fire over period t.

### 3.5 Results

We dated 449 fire scars found on 247 dated samples corresponding to a total of 106 unique fire years, from both currently developed and earlier published datasets combined (Fig. 3.2). The fire chronology for the study area covered 739 years, with the first fire dated to 1271 CE and the most recent fire dated to 2010 CE. To ensure sufficient density of sites for spatial reconstruction of fire activity, we selected the period from 1400 to 2010, for which each year was represented by at least ten sites (Fig. 3.2). Fire seasonality was successfully identified for 65% of the fires. Our evaluation of the fire season based on the intra-annual position of scars showed that 97% of fires occurred during the growing season, 60% of scars were in the earlywood and 37% were in the latewood. Dormant-season fires constituted 3% of all scars dated with seasonal resolution.



Figure 3.2 Dendrochronological reconstruction of the fire history in the Pechora-Ilych BR over the 1271–2010 period. A single straight line represents each study site, and a dark circle represents a fire event.

We assessed the regime shifts separately for the FC (Fig. 3.3a) and for the fire occurrence (Fig. 3.3b). In the reconstructed area burned, we observed four periods with FC changes according to regime shift analysis (Table 3.1 and Fig. 3.3a). In the earliest epoch, 1340–1610 CE, the mean FC was 66 years with a 90% confidence envelop of 57–79 years. In the next epoch, 1620–1730 CE, the FC was reduced to 33 years and then increased to 47 years during 1740–1950 CE. In the latest epoch, 1960–2010 CE, the FC increased to 152 years with a confidence envelop of 102–270 years.

We identified three regimes in the historical dynamics of fire occurrence since 1340 CE. During the first period, 1340–1660 CE, fires occurred at a relatively low rate (1.52 per decade) (Table 3.1 and Fig. 3.3B). The fire occurrence was maximum (3.55 fires per decade) during 1670–1950 CE. In the latest period, 1960–2010 CE, the number of the fires (0.83 per decade) had declined two to fourfold, as compared to the previous period.



Figure 3.3 The reconstructed burned area (A) and the number of fire years (B), both per decade, are shown by the black dashed lines. Shifts in the FC (A) and the fire occurrence (B) as identified by the regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004), are represented by red lines. Site replication (A) is shown by the black solid lines. Blue dashed line indicates dynamics of the total population of four villages (Ust' Pozheg, Yaksha, Kurja and Ust' Volosnitsa) (Sivokha, 2001). The period when villages were established is indicated by yellow bar (A). The establishment date of settlements is shown by solid dash lines (B). (C) – dynamics of fire seasonality, for fires dated with seasonal resolution. The abbreviations for the seasons of the dated fire scars: elw – early latewood fire, lw – latewood, dlw – dormant latewood, ew – earlywood, mew – middle earlywood, late earlywood, eew – early earlywood.

Statistics	Epoch, years CE	Mean, years	95 % CI lower bound	95 % CI upper bound
FC	1340–1610	66	56.77	78.55
	1620–1730	33	30.98	34.68
	1740–1950	47	41.89	52.00
	1960–2010	153	102.47	270.29
Decadal fire occurrence	1340–1660	1.52	1.18	1.85
	1670–1950	3.55	3.10	3.96
	1960–2010	0.83	0.67	1.50

Table 3.1 Reconstructions of the FC and fire occurrence in the Pechora-Ilych NBR for the periods identified by the regime shift analysis.

The response function analysis confirmed the presence of early- and late-season drought signals in the earlywood and latewood pine chronologies, respectively (Figs. 3.4A and 3.4B). Earlywood chronology exhibited a significant negative correlation with May Monthly Drought Code (Fig. 3.4A). This was consistent with the assumption that negative anomalies in the earlywood chronology reflected drier-than-average conditions and indicated periods with increased fire risk early in the fire season. The latewood chronology revealed a significant positive correlation with September Monthly Drought Code (Fig. 3.4B), justifying its use a proxy for late season fire weather conditions.

The five largest years selected for SEA were 1625, 1655, 1573, 1563, and 1676 (in order of the amount of area burned). During these years, the fires burned 12.6, 10.2, 6.3, 5.5, and 5.5 km<sup>2</sup>, respectively. Out of these years, the three largest featured mid-season fires (1625, 1655, and 1573), and two – early-season fires (1563, 1676).



Figure 3.4 Response function analysis of the earlywood (A) and latewood (B) Scots pine chronologies, used as a proxy of fire weather conditions, and Monthly Drought Code (MDC) during April through September. C and D are the results of superimposed epoch analyses (SEA): C - SEA on the largest fire years in the Pechora-Ilych BR (all - earlyand mid-season fires) and the earlywood chronology (n = 5), and D – SEA on the largest late season fire years and the latewood chronology (n = 5). Solid lines on A and B refer to significant response function coefficients. Dashed and solid lines in C and D refer to the 0.95 and 0.99 confidence intervals, respectively, as estimated by bootstrapping.

SEA revealed a significant (p = 0.04) negative departure of earlywood pine chronology during these years (Fig. 3.4C). Since none of these years featured late-season fires as the dominant type of fire events, we re-run the analysis using the five largest fire years with fires in the late season. These years were 1686 (4.7 km<sup>2</sup> burned), 1702 (5.5 km<sup>2</sup>), 1761 (3.14 km<sup>2</sup>), 1885 (5.5 km<sup>2</sup>), and 1934 (3.9 km<sup>2</sup>). We observed a significant positive departure of the latewood chronology (Fig. 3.4D), which was consistent with the notion of drier-than-average conditions at the end of the fire season during these years. The site survivorship function, reflecting time-dependent probability for an area in the vicinity of the village to escaping a fire event, showed a non-significant (p =

0.07-0.20) increase in the fire occurrence for the period following the village's establishment (Fig. 3.5 and Appendix B: Fig. S3.3). For example, during the period prior to the village establishment, the site nearest to the village had an approximately 50% probability of escaping fire after 30 years since the last time it burned. This probability was, on average, only 25% after the village establishment dates. The pattern, although non-significant, was consistent across other combinations of number of sites and the period lengths considered (Appendix B: Fig. S3.3). Observational records of fires in the Yaksha section of the reserve over the 1936–1996 period documented 60 fires ignited by lightning strikes, which corresponded to 0.63 ignitions per km<sup>2</sup> and year.

#### 3.6 Discussion

For the past 670 years, the forest fire has been a common disturbance agent in the Scots pine dominated forests of the Pechora-Ilych NBR. The fire activity revealed a considerable historic variability: the early period (1340 to 1610 CE) had a FC of 66 years, followed by a period (1620–1730 CE) of an increase in fire activity (FC = 32 years) and then two periods with progressively decreasing fire activity. Since then1960s, the estimated FC was 153 years, the longest over the last 600 years that was covered by our reconstruction. The dynamics of FC and fire occurrence, and the SEA results representing largely the period prior to 1900 (Fig. 3.4), suggested that climate was a driver of the FC prior to the 20th century, while human activities were the factor controlling decadal fire occurrence. We discuss these findings in detail below.

## 3.6.1 Impacts of land-use changes on the historical fire regime

The presence of the temporary hunting camps and sites identified as mammoth burial grounds suggested that human occupation of the area around the Pechora-Ilych NBR started in approximately 40 000 BC (Degteva et al., 2015; Guslitser and Kanivets, 1965; Pavlov et al., 2004). Although human presence in the area has been well-

documented since that time, it is unlikely that it had a tangible impact on fire regimes. There is no evidence suggesting that ancient humans used even rudimentary slash-andburn agriculture during this period (Degteva et al., 2015). From ~900 CE until the late 1700s, nomadic Mansi (Voguls) people had inhabited this area, subsisting mainly on reindeer herding, hunting, fishing and gathering (Chagin, 2012; Melnikov, 1852; Sokolova, 2009). The use of fires by the Mansi people in the pine-dominated forest of the Pechora-Ilych NBR is currently being debated (Abramov, 2017; Aleinikov, 2017a; Golovnev, 1993; Slezkine, 1994). It has been hypothesized that Mansi people could have burned mesic spruce forests in the upper reaches of Pechora, e.g. spruce forests of Myrtillus type, to maintain early successional stands dominated by young deciduous trees as forage grounds for moose, which were hunted (Aleinikov, 2017b). However, the common pine lichen forests in the study area were unlikely targets for such burns, since they served as winter pastures for the reindeers until the late 1800s. Records document the fear from the local population of escaping fires that could destroy reindeer feeding grounds (Milovanovich, 1926; Varsanofieva, 1929). Similarly, studies in the Nordic countries have suggested that reindeer herders were careful in their use of fire because it removed the ground lichens (Collins et al., 2011; Laestadius, 1833; Sarvas, 1937; Wallenius et al., 2005; Wretlind, 1934), with their recovery taking up to 100 years in this forest type (Gorshkov et al., 1996).

FC did not reveal changes associated with the colonization waves (refuting H1.1), while a change in fire occurrence was synchronized with the second colonization wave, supporting H1.2 (Fig. 3.2). The first wave of colonization was formed by Russians coming from the East and dates back to the middle of the 1400s. Russians pushed the Mansi people eastwards, into the highlands of the Ural mountains (Glushkov, 1900; Popov, 1892). Development of the network of portages was both the sign and the driver of this colonization wave. The earliest portage, the Nemski portage route, dates back to 1517–1520, and was actively used until the construction of the Northern Catherine Canal in the 1820s (Chagin, 2017; Dmitriev, 1893; Rychkov, 1770).



Figure 3.5 Effect of village establishment on the frequency of fires in the neighboring sites, as estimated by the Kaplan-Meier estimator. Green and red lines represent the dynamics of the probability for a site to escape fire along the time gradient. The 95% confidence intervals are shown as shaded areas of the respective colors. Small empty circles represent fire return intervals on the studied sites.

The second wave of Russian colonization began in the second half of the 1600s, followed by the establishment of new trade routes. The Pechora route, first referenced between 1671–1681 (Chagin, 2017), contributed to the increase in the traffic of commercial goods between the basin of the Pechora River with the basin of the Kama, a tributary of the Volga (Korchagin and Lobanova, 2012; Popova et al., 2012; Zherebtsov et al., 2014). Since the late 1600s, and possibly earlier, people from the Perm region actively traveled into the Upper Pechora area to fish and hunt (Lashuk, 1958). These activities might contribute to fire ignitions and the amount of burned areas. A similar pattern has been documented in Fennoscandia, where hunter and shepherd camps were sources of ignitions (Groven and Niklasson, 2005). In the studied area, this development resulted in the establishment of homesteads, each consisting of one to five families, between 1670 and 1810 (Zherebtsov, 1972). Their livelihoods

relied on fishing, hunting, and their services as construction workers to build barges on the trade route between the river Kama basins and the Pechora area. The appearance of these homesteads, often as small harbors on the Pechora River, coincided with the doubling of the decadal fire occurrence in the area (Table 3.1, Fig. 3.2). We propose that this pattern was a result of human activities contributing with additional sources of ignitions that are consistent with hypothesis H1.2. However, village-centered analysis showed a non-significant increase in fire occurrence (Fig. 3.4), suggesting a limited effect of these ignitions, even on the local scale.

Fire cycle and fire occurrence in the Pechora-Ilych NBR appeared to be driven by different sets of factors. Indeed, in contrast to fire occurrence (i.e. the frequency of fire years, estimated at the decadal scale), there was no obvious temporal synchrony between the dynamics of the FC and known trends in regional colonization events, which disproved the hypothesis H1.1. Specifically, the dynamics of the FC did not reveal any synchrony with the second colonization wave: the increase in fire activity (i.e. the shortening of the FC) occurred half a century earlier, around the 1610s. The increase occurred about one century after the onset of the Nemski portage activities (1517 CE). We also noted that the shorter FC was associated with the period of minimal population density, while the onset of the longer FC happened during the late 1700s, the period when the portage-centered transportation activities were at their highest.

A common view of the fire history of the European boreal forest is that human forest use and particularly – slash-and-burn agriculture, resulted in higher fire activity (Lehtonen and Huttunen, 1997; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Rolstad et al., 2017; Wallenius et al., 2004). This pattern may not hold in the Upper Pechora region. At the beginning of 1600s, the use of fire to create arable land in the Upper Pechora was very limited due to climate conditions that were unfavorable for cultivation and generally infertile soils (Krivoshchekov, 1914; Popov, 1801). The wheat and rye was actually delivered to the Upper Pechora through the Pechora portage (Zherebtsov et al., 2014). An expedition diary into the study area in early 1800s reads: "There were few people that are engaged in agriculture: rye rarely ripen, and they do not have a profit from cattle breeding either. Hunting is the main trade" (Latkin, 1843). The importance of Yaksha harbor and Ust'-Volosnisa, the first Russian village established in 1671 (Popova et al., 2012; Sivokha, 2001), as principal hubs on the Pechora trade route further disfavored investments in agriculture, and in particular – in slash-and-burn practices. However, historical records documented the building of riverboats, including steamships in Ust'-Volosnisa (Aleinikov and Chagin, 2015; Krivoshchekov, 1914; Popov, 1801), suggesting that the clearing of the forest and eventual human-related ignitions did occur in proximity to the villages.

Continuing colonization of the area by Russians contributed to a population increase during the 1800s – 1900s (Popova et al., 2012; Sivokha, 2001). The increase in the economic value of timber and profit from the transportation services drove economic development at that time. Barge building, fishing and fur extraction were popular occupations among the local population, until the late 1800s (Sivokha, 2001). The increasing presence of humans in the forest likely contributed to additional ignition sources. However, our reconstruction did not indicate an increase in the fire occurrence nor in the amount of burned area during that period, indicating that the effect of these land-use patterns on the fire regime was minimal. We speculate that a combination of few slash-and-burn activities, a rudimentary fire control, and a progressively less fire-prone climate in the post-LIA era could explain the observed pattern.

The earliest available documented evidence of fires in proximity to the Pechora-Ilych NBR dates back to forestry reports of the late 1800s and early 1900s, indicating that the majority of the fires were caused by lightning strikes (Cherdyn Regional Museum. Forestry Fund., 1910, 1894) (Table 3.2). The report listed four fires, three of which were present in our dendrochronological record. One of these years, 1885, was noted as a year with just six ha burned in a single fire. In contrast, the dendrochronological

reconstruction identified this year as the year with one of the largest amounts of reconstructed area burned in the studied area since the 1400s. Two other fires, in 1887 and 1907, were dated as multi-site fires, with the location of the sites corresponding well to the fire localization in the forestry records (Table 3.2). The size of the 1907 fire was probably larger than the size reported in the historical sources, since it affected a large portion of the area outside the area the historical records focused on. This comparison suggests that historical sources, while providing important information on fire occurrence, may significantly underestimate the level of fire activity, with the bias likely to be substantial in sparsely populated regions. Some impact of general economic recession following the coup-d'état of 1917 and the establishment of the Pechora-Ilych NBR in 1930 that effectively halted most of the traditional activities in the area (Aleinikov et al., 2015; Degteva et al., 2015) might further reduce fire activity, by lowering the number of human-related ignitions. The observed decline in fire activity that occurred around the 1960s likely reflected the onset of active fire suppression. Effective fire suppression in Russia began in the early 1930s, following the establishment of the forest protection program based on aerial reconnaissance and airborne fire suppression brigades. Demobilized military paratroopers joined these brigades, following the end of World War II (Kozubov and Taskaev, 1999; Stocks and Conard, 2000). The 1960s also mark the onset of the extensive use of helicopters by the Russian Aerial Forest Protection Service (Avialesookhrana) (Bryukhanov and Korshunov, 2017), coinciding with the shift from high to significantly lower fire activity in the Pechora-Ilych NBR. Until the early 1990s, Russia had the world's largest fire suppression system, which led to the successful reduction of the burned area, especially around settlements (Goldammer, 2006). The State Forest Enterprise (Lespromkhoz) drove industrial-scale harvesting operations in the area during 1940– 1960s (Popova et al., 2012). Road building in connection with these activities improved the possibility of suppressing fires (Kozubov and Taskaev, 1999).

Date	Area burned, ha		Location	Notes from forestry records
	reported	reconstructed	-	
1875, September	N/A	not recorded	In proximity of Ust'- Elovka harbor	N/A
1885, August 27	6	3.86 km <sup>2</sup> (386 ha)	Vogulka river	"The cause of the fire is unknown. Surface fire, growing pines were not damaged"
1887, July 20	1250	1.55 km² (155 ha)	Right coast of the Volosnitsa river, along the portage and south to the Vogulka river	"Lightning-ignited fire. Young pine-dominated forests were burned down"
1907, July 1–2	110	0.77 km <sup>2</sup> (77 ha)	1 km far away from Ust'-Volosnitsa village	"Lightning-ignited forest fire following a severe drought"
1907, July 6–8	N/A		Yaksha route	"Lightning-ignited forest fire following a severe drought"

Table 3.2 The earliest forestry records on forest fires in the proximity of Pechora-Ilyc	h
NBR (Cherdyn Regional Museum. Forestry Fund., 1910, 1894).	

# 3.5.2 Climate and fires

Lack of regional reconstruction of drought conditions, preserving variability at both low and high frequency bands, makes it difficult to convincingly discuss the role of climate in shaping fire activity in the Pechora-Ilych NBR. Since the region lies on the eastern fringes of the European boreal domain, it is generally not represented by reconstructions done in more western sections of boreal Europe. Analysis of recent dynamics of fire weather suggest, in fact, that summer drought conditions over the Komi Republic tend to be in antiphase with those in the western section of Northern Europe (Drobyshev et al., 2021). To address this challenge, we relied on the earlywood and latewood pine chronologies, which were sensitive to the drought conditions in the study area (Fig. 3.4A).

SEA revealed a significant (p = 0.04) negative departure of the earlywood pine chronology in the analysis with the five largest fire years (all – early- and mid-season fires) and a significant (p = 0.01) negative departure of the latewood chronology for the largest late-season fires (Figs. 3.4C and 3.4D). The pattern was broadly consistent with the notion of LFYs occurring during drier-than-average conditions that supported hypothesis H3. Since the five largest years included both early- and mid-season fires, the significant results of SEA suggested that spring droughts might predispose high levels of fire activity towards the mid-season. This pattern has been recently demonstrated in the attribution study of the 2018 fire season in Sweden (Krikken et al., 2019). The early season fires were likely of lightning origin: such fires in the European part of the Russian boreal zone have been reported to predominantly occur early in the fire season, due to fuel-drying high pressure cells being common early in the fire season (Kurbatsky, 1976; Stolyarchyuk and Belaya, 1982). In Russian fire literature, this period has been known as "May-June forest fire belt (Melekhov, 1946). The association between LFYs dominated by late-season fires and the latewood chronology exhibited a higher degree of statistical significance (as compared to the earlywood chronology), possibly pointing to the stronger climate forcing upon late-season fires.

Concerning the low-frequency variability in fire activity, we documented an increase in forest fire activity in the early 1600s. The region of southern Komi currently lacks precipitation or drought reconstructions which extended over the period covered by our fire reconstruction, which would support discussion of low-frequency trends in climate forcing upon fire activity. However, borehole temperature reconstructions have indicated that the temperature in the Ural region was approximately one degree lower during the 1600–1800s, as compared to the year 2000 (Pollack et al., 2003), supporting a wider pattern of cooling of the Northern Hemisphere during the LIA. It follows that the observed pattern was broadly similar to the pattern observed in the Northern Hemisphere boreal forest, where shortening of fire cycles (i.e. increase in the amount of area burned) tends to coincide with the cold period of the LIA with unstable atmosphere and the dominance of dry Arctic air masses over the boreal region (Bergeron and Flannigan, 1995; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Gagen et al., 2011). This suggests climate forcing this shift. Indeed, the timing of the increase in fire activity in the study area was not synchronized with a shift in the land-use patterns of the region, as suggested by the history of land-use and, specifically – the dates of village establishments. The relative role of climate vs. fire suppression in the decline in fire activity since the 1960s remains unclear, although it is highly probable that fire suppression played a role in this dynamic (see the previous sub-section).

# 3.6.3 Ecology and fire regime of the Komi pine-dominated forests

Extending the analyses to the less exploited sections of the European boreal zone provides a possibility to better parameterize the role of fires in shaping disturbance regimes of this biome. Modern lightning ignition frequency in the studied forests was 0.63 per km<sup>2</sup> and year. This is much higher than previously reported for other sections of the European boreal region. For example, in central and northern Sweden these levels have been estimated at 0.05–0.15 per km<sup>2</sup> and year (Granström, 1993). The difference might be due to a variation in the density of lightning flashes. The majority of the Komi Republic experiences two to four lightning flashes per km<sup>2</sup> and year, which is considerably higher than in the Swedish central and northern boreal regions (0.2–0.6 flashes per km<sup>2</sup> and year, Cecil, 2006).

Under an assumption that a fire year corresponded to a single fire within our study area, the reconstructed ignition frequencies in the Komi boreal forests were at the range of 0.02 to 0.03 per km<sup>2</sup> and year. These estimates were close to those obtained in the Swedish boreal forest. We noted, however, that more than 75% of the years in the modern dataset had multiple lightning-ignited fires within a single year, which indicated that our historical estimates of ignition frequencies were overly conservative. Reanalysis of the modern dataset under the same assumption (i.e. assuming that one fire year "hosts" a single fire) gave 0.25 ignition per km<sup>2</sup> and year, i.e. a three-fold

decrease. Adjusting for this bias in the reconstructed data would result in ignition frequencies in the range of 0.05–0.08 per km<sup>2</sup> and year over the reconstructed period. The reasons for the large difference between the modern and reconstructed ignition frequencies are less clear. We can speculate that a portion of smaller fires were not picked up by our reconstruction. These fires were common among lightning ignited fires in the modern dataset, with 33% of all these fires were below one ha and 53% below five ha.

Both variability in ignition frequencies and frequencies of fire-prone episodes likely contributed towards high variability in the FC prior to the onset of the modern fire suppression era. We documented two-fold changes in the FC between the most and least fire-prone periods over that time (Table 3.1). However, we observed a limited variability in the absolute estimates of the fire cycles under generally low levels of human forest use. Indeed, prior to the 1960s, the variability in the reconstructed FC was limited from ~30 to 70 years. The observation highlights a degree of resilience of the boreal fire regime to variability in climate settings. The fact that we reconstructed such short fire cycles during the 1800s, the period when most Fennoscandian studies have documented a sharp decline in the fire activity (Granström and Niklasson, 2008; Lehtonen et al., 1996), supports the notion of that decline being driven primarily by the change in land-use patterns, and not climate variability.

Since our sampling protocol excluded humid sites with very limited availability of firescarred and old trees, our FC estimates reflected predominantly a more xeric portion of the landscape. This explains why most of the previous studies reported longer FCs (see reviews in Ryzhkova et al. 2020; Wallenius 2011). Such short FCs and commonly observed multiple scars on living and dead trees pointed to low severity of the historical fires, which did not impede pine regeneration in the studied stands. Low-severity surface fires are often considered as a characteristic feature of the Eurasian boreal fire regimes (de Groot et al., 2013), and our study supports this assertion. The dominance of early-season fires (Fig. 3.3) (Shvidenko and Nilsson, 2000), which occur when deep organic layers are still well-hydrated following the snow melting, is a feature of the seasonal fire dynamics that likely keeps the fire severity low and also removes the portion of fuels which would be available for late-season fire activity. It also appears that such short fire cycles were controlled, to a considerable degree, by fuel accumulation rates (Schimmel and Granström, 1996) rather than the frequency of extreme fire-prone periods. Fuel recovery time in both Eurasian and North American boreal forests has been reported to approach a few decades (Bernier et al., 2016; Schimmel and Granström, 1997). A study of a gradient of boreal forest types in North American boreal forest has estimated fuel recovery times in most of the forest types to vary between six to 30 years (Thompson et al., 2017). Both estimates are well consistent with the suggestion of an important role of fuel recovery in controlling fire cycles in the pine-dominated Komi forests and is of direct relevance for the development of nature-based fire management strategies (Adams, 2013; Bergeron et al., 2001; Swetnam et al., 1999).

Does the variability in reconstructed FC prior to the onset of modern fire suppression reflect the dynamics of its natural drivers? We tend to answer positively to this question. Previous studies of fire activity in Fennoscandia have consistently pointed to the strong influence of human colonization (Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Rolstad et al., 2017; Wallenius, 2011), and the impact of in forest-use practices (Hellberg et al., 2009; Lehtonen et al., 1996; Wallenius et al., 2004) on forest fires in European boreal forest. In our study, however, we observed no synchronization between the colonization waves and the dynamics of the fire cycle. Although earlier analyses of historical records has suggested that Russian colonists played an important role in shaping the historical fire regimes in Upper Pechora (Aleinikov, 2019; Aleinikov and Chagin, 2015), these impacts might have been relatively local and largely limited to the dynamics of fire occurrence. Humans did affect FC in these ecosystems, but it happened as late as in the 1960s, about one to two and a half centuries later than in

Fennoscandia (Lehtonen et al., 1996; Niklasson et al., 2010; Pinto et al., 2020; Wallenius, 2011). The pine-dominated forests of the Komi Republic may, therefore, hold a unique position as the ecosystem with the shortest history of human-related shifts in fire cycles across the European boreal region.

### 3.7 Acknowledgements

The study was funded, in part, by state order to the Karelian Research Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences (Forest Research Institute KRC), the grant from the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (grant # 20-04-00568), the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), and the Swedish Institute (SI) Visby Programme (grant # 03793/2016 to N.R.). The study was done within the framework of the PREREAL project, funded by EU JPI Climate program and Belmont Forum, PREFORM project funded by NEFCO, CLIMECO and BalticFires projects, both funded by the Swedish Institute (grants to I.D.). Portions of the fieldwork and the fellowship to N.R. were funded by NSERC grant (RGPIN-2018-06637 to I.D.). Aleinikov A. was supported by CEPF RAS (no. AAAA-A18-118052400130-7). We would like to thank Svetlana V. Degteva, the Director of the Institute of Biology of Komi Scientific Centre of the Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, for the help with the fieldwork. We are grateful to the administration of the Pechora-Ilych Nature Biosphere Reserve for permission to collect tree samples. We thank two anonymous referees for many stimulating comments on an earlier version of the paper. This paper is a publication of the SNS NordicProxy and GDRI ColdForests networks.

# IV. PDO DYNAMICS SHAPE THE FIRE REGIME OF BOREAL SUBARCTIC LANDSCAPES IN THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES, CANADA

N. Ryzhkova, H. Asselin, A. A. Ali, A. Kryshen', Y. Bergeron, D. Robles, S. Pineda-Zapata, I. Drobyshev.

This article was published in JGR: Biogeosciences 130:

doi: 2 e2024JG008178

Copyright AGU (2025)

## 4.1. Résumé

Les reconstructions spatiales explicites de l'activité des feux dans le nord-ouest de la forêt boréale canadienne sont rares, bien qu'elles soient essentielles pour modéliser les régimes de perturbation actuels et futurs et la dynamique forestière. Nous présentons une reconstruction dendrochronologique de l'activité historique des feux le long de la Route 3 dans les Territoires du Nord-Ouest (TNO), Canada, au sein de la zone boréale subarctique. Nous avons daté 129 incendies ayant eu lieu entre 1202 et 2015, à partir d'échantillons de 479 pins gris (*Pinus banksiana* Lamb.) vivants et morts portant des cicatrices de feu. Trois périodes distinctes se dégagent en termes de cycle de feu (CF) et d'occurrence des feux. Dans un premier temps (1340-1440), l'activité des feux était faible (CF=572 ans; 1 feu/décennie), avant d'augmenter considérablement entre 1460 et 1840 (CF=171 ans; 4,45 feux/décennie), puis encore davantage dans les périodes récentes (1860-2015; CF=95 ans; 7,63 feux/décennie).

Le climat a joué un rôle important dans les changements de fréquence des feux et des cycles de feu dans les TNO depuis les années 1300. Les décennies 1440 et 1850 correspondent à des périodes d'intensification de l'activité des feux, synchronisées avec des passages de phases négatives à positives de l'Oscillation Décennale du Pacifique (ODP). Depuis le milieu des années 1800, les activités humaines ont peut-être contribué à l'augmentation de l'activité des feux, bien que le climat demeure le facteur principal. Durant le 20e siècle, les années de grande superficie brûlée correspondaient à des périodes plus sèches que la moyenne, associées aux phases positives de l'ODP, ce qui suggère que l'activité des feux dans la région étudiée est encore influencée par le climat. Les téléconnexions spatiales entre l'ODP, la sécheresse et les années de grands feux (AGF) dans les TNO révèlent des relations persistantes entre les régimes de circulation océan-atmosphère et l'activité des feux. La dynamique de l'ODP offre un fort potentiel pour prédire les risques régionaux d'incendies dans le nord-ouest de l'Amérique du Nord.

Mots-clés : Echangement climatique, perturbations naturelles, paysage boréal, régime de feu, aléas naturels, circulation océan-atmosphère

## 4.2 Abstract

Spatially explicit reconstructions of fire activity in northwestern boreal Canada are rare, despite their importance for modelling current and future disturbance regimes and forest dynamics. We provide a dendrochronological reconstruction of historical fire activity along Highway 3 in the Northwest Territories (NWT), Canada, within the boreal subarctic zone. We dated 129 fires having occurred between 1202 and 2015 CE, using samples from 479 fire-scarred living and dead jack pine trees (Pinus banksiana Lamb.). Three distinct periods can be distinguished in terms of historical fire cycle (FC) and fire occurrence. Initially (1340-1440 CE), fire activity was low (FC=572 years; 1 fire/decade), before increasing notably between 1460 and 1840 (FC=171 years; 4.45 fires/decade), and even more in recent times (1860-2015 CE; FC=95 years; 7.63 fires/decade). Climate has been an important factor controlling changes in fire frequency and FC in the NWT since the 1300s. The 1440s and 1850s correspond with periods of increased fire activity synchronized with shifts from negative to positive Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) phases. Since the mid-1800s, human activities may have contributed to the increase in fire activity, but climate remained the leading factor. During the 20th century, years with increased area burned corresponded to periods with drier-than-average conditions associated with positive PDO, suggesting fire activity in the study region is still influenced by climate. Spatial teleconnection patterns among PDO, drought, and large fire years (LFYs) in the NWT reveal persistent relationships between ocean-atmosphere circulation patterns and fire activity. PDO dynamics hold strong potential for predicting regional fire hazards across northwestern North America.

Keywords: climate change, natural disturbances, boreal landscape, fire regime, natural hazards, ocean-atmosphere circulation

## 4.3 Introduction

Fire is a primary disturbance agent in forests of the Northern Hemisphere (Flannigan et al., 2005; McLauchlan et al., 2020; Stocks et al., 2003). In the boreal forests of northwestern Canada, the area burned by wildfires has increased over the past 50 years, primarily due to an increase in the occurrence of large fire years (LFYs) that have contributed disproportionally to areas burned over decadal and century scales (Hanes et al., 2019; Kasischke and Turetsky, 2006). In the Northwest Territories (NWT), Canada, the year 2014 stands out with 3.4 million ha burned, an event that was almost six times larger than the average annual area burned during 2009-2019 (600 000 ha, NTENR, 2015). Recent data from the 2023 wildfire season reveals that the area burned across Canada was approximately 22% larger than in 2014, highlighting high fire activity across the whole country (Natural Resources Canada, 2019).

LFYs and single large wildfires correlate with persistent (>10 days) positive height anomalies in the mid-troposphere (500 hPa) that block zonal atmospheric circulation (Johnson & Wowchuk, 1993; Justino et al., 2022; Skinner et al., 2002). During such events, the lack of rainfall and the predominantly meridional flow of warm air rapidly dry out forest fuels over large areas, increasing the climatological fire hazards and, eventually, extending the fire season (Gedalof et al., 2005; Hessl et al., 2004; Heyerdahl et al., 2002). These anomalies are, in turn, often driven by teleconnection patterns such as the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO), the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO), and the Pacific North American pattern (PNA) (Bonsal and Shabbar, 2011; Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2006). Large-scale atmospheric circulation patterns, therefore, define the spatiotemporal extent of fire-prone periods (Bonsal & Shabbar, 2011; Heyerdahl et al., 2008; Yasunari et al., 2021).

Human activities have influenced fire regimes in western Canada over several thousand years. Fire has historically been used to manage pastures, aid in hunting, maintain berry crops, and assist in communication and ceremonial activities (Anonymous, 1970;

Needlay et al., 2012; Turner, 1999). Although fire has been used as a tool by Indigenous peoples of western North America (Holman, 1944; Johnson & Miyanishi, 2012), the contribution of human-mediated fires to total area burned in this region remains a subject of debate, with some studies arguing that human activities dominated the causes of forest fires (Wallenius, et al., 2011), while others suggest a stronger climate control (Hanes et al., 2019; Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2006).

Annually resolved reconstructions of fire history allow us to quantify the factors that shaped historical fire regimes and, in particular, to decipher the relative contributions of climate variability and human land use. While a few dendrochronological (Larsen, 1997; Wallenius, et al., 2011; Weir et al., 2000) and paleoecological (Gaboriau et al., 2020; Kuosmanen et al., 2023; Sulphur et al., 2016) reconstructions have been conducted in northwestern Canada, the long-term fire dynamics remain poorly understood.

We developed a 680-year spatially explicit reconstruction of fire activity in the area along Highway 3 in the vicinity of Yellowknife, the capital of NWT, based on the dating of fire-scarred living and dead jack pines trees (*Pinus banksiana*). The reconstructed period included the Little Ice Age (LIA, ~1300-1850s, MacDonald et al., 2008), and the subsequent warming period, including the onset of the industrial era and fire suppression (1920s and 1930s). We hypothesized that (H1) climate variability would be the dominant force controlling regional fire activity in the NWT, with historical Indigenous land use being of marginal importance. Specifically, we suggested that periods of increased fire activity in the NWT would be associated with changes in atmospheric and ocean circulation patterns. We further hypothesized (H2) that the study region would exhibit higher fire activity during the LIA, as shown across the boreal zone (Chavardès et al., 2022; Drobyshev et al., 2016). We tested H1 using an annual fire reconstruction spanning 1340-2015 CE supplemented with modern observational records of climate and fire (1959-2019 CE). We tested H2 by comparing

fire cycle values between periods. We used documentary information on Indigenous land use, European settlement, and census data, as the historical background necessary to interpret the results.

## 4.4 Material and methods

## 4.4.1 Study region

The study area is located in the Taiga Shield High Boreal (HB) Ecoregion (Ecosystem Classification Group, 2008) of the Taiga Shield Ecological Region within the NWT (62.4575°N, 114.3776°W; Fig. 4.1). The climate of the NWT is continental with short, cool summers and very cold winters with persistent snow cover. The mean annual temperature ranges from -3°C to -6°C, with January being the coldest month (-6 to - 8°C) and July the warmest (15 to 16°C). Annual precipitation averages 280 to 360 mm, with the wettest period from June through November, evenly distributed between rain and snow. Snow covers the ground from October to April-May, reaching a depth of 40 cm in late winter (Ecosystem Classification Group, 2008).

The Taiga Shield HB Ecoregion is characterized by plains and hills on a Precambrian bedrock. The landscape features numerous small lakes and bogs, and two very large lakes, Great Bear Lake and Great Slave Lake. The region is underlain by discontinuous permafrost (Ecosystem Classification Group, 2008).

Forests cover 18% of the NWT and are typical of open subarctic forests (Rowe, 1972). The most common coniferous species are white and black spruce (*Picea glauca* and P. *mariana*), jack pine, and eastern larch or tamarack (*Larix laricina*). The main deciduous tree species in the region are paper birch (*Betula papyrifera*) and trembling aspen (Populus tremuloides) (Ecosystem Classification Group, 2008; Rowe, 1972). Ground vegetation is dominated by dwarf shrubs (*Vaccinium spp., Ledum spp. and Empetrum nigrum*), lichens (*Flavocetraria nivalis, Cladina mitis, Umbilicaria*)

hyperborea, and Cladonia spp.), and mosses (Pleurozium schreberi, Hylocomium splendens, Tomentypnum nitens) (Rowe, 1972).



Figure 4.1 Location of the study area and sampled sites in the Northwest Territories (NWT), Canada.

Forest fires are widespread in the subarctic region of the central NWT (Gaboriau et al., 2020; Sulphur et al., 2016). Cloud-to-ground lightning associated with summer thunderstorms cause the majority of forest fires (Epp & Lanoville, 1996; Kochtubajda et al., 2006). Severe drought has been linked to the occurrence of recent forest fires in the central NWT (Whitman et al., 2018). Modern observational data indicate that the fire season typically begins in late May and usually ends in early September (Forster, 1995). Paleoecological studies have documented a decline in the frequency of forest fires in the central NWT during periods of wetter and cooler conditions throughout the Holocene, along with an increase in the 20th century suggested to have been driven by warmer and drier climate conditions (Gaboriau et al., 2020; Sulphur et al., 2016).

## 4.4.2 Human population and land use

In the NWT, the earliest known human settlements date to about 7 000 BP and are attributed to the Dene people (Ridington, 2012). The Dene were nomadic people who lived in the boreal forest and followed the rhythm of the seasons and the migration routes of animals (Helm, 1981; June and Andrews, 2009; Ridington, 2012). In addition to hunting, the Dene subsisted by fishing, trapping, and gathering wild plants (Anonymous, 1970). Farming and slash-and-burn agriculture were not practiced by the Dene people due to the harsh climate and their nomadic lifestyle. Crops which are successfully grown in the study region today were introduced only after contact with the Europeans (Ridington, 2012).

The Dene people traditionally used fire in various ways to manage landscapes, e.g., to promote habitat diversity, prevent wildfires by clearing understory vegetation, enhance berry production, and support spiritual and cultural activities (Needlay et al., 2012; Turner, 1999). They carefully controlled fires to minimize the risk of them spreading (Turner, 1999). For example, to boost berry yields, they would burn a patch after harvest, timing the burn just before rainfall. They also used natural and human-made firebreaks, backfires, and water-soaked conifer boughs to control the fires (Turner, 1999). Although these practices are documented in regions south of the study area, they reflect a broader tradition of Indigenous fire use in similar environments. However, it is uncertain how much these practices influenced the larger fire patterns in the boreal subarctic region. Due to the small population sizes and likely strategic use of fire, it is improbable that Indigenous activities significantly affected the overall fire history observed in the study area.

The first European explorer to reach the NWT is believed to have been the English navigator Martin Frobisher in 1576 (Anonymous, 1970; Coates, 1985; Zaslow, 1971), but his visit apparently had no effect on the traditional lifestyle of the Dene (Anonymous, 1970). The first European settlement in the study region, Old Fort

Providence, was established in 1789 as a center for the fur trade (Watt, 2013). Fur trading had major consequences on Dene lifestyle and livelihood (Anonymous, 1970; Watt, 2013). Yellowknife was founded following the discovery of gold deposits in the 1930s (Price, 1967; Watt, 2013). Since the beginning of the 20th century, many Dene people have been employed by gold and diamond mines, as well as associated industries (GNWT, 2008).

### 4.4.3 Field sampling

Sampling sites were located in proximity to Yellowknife, NWT (Fig. 4.1). We carried out sampling in 2018. We randomly located sampling points along NWT Highway 3, every 2-5 km to ensure sufficient sampling density for the reconstruction of individual fire sizes. During field sampling, we inventoried each site and paid particular attention to the presence of old living black spruce or jack pine trees, and old deadwood. Rocky substrates were carefully inventoried, as their dry conditions would have facilitated wood preservation.

To provide an even distribution of the sampling effort, we surveyed a 2-3 ha area around each site for two hours. The sampling was carried out by two experienced teams in parallel with partially overlapping "zones of responsibility", i.e., the areas to search for the presence of live and deadwood with fire scars. While surveying the areas, the teams aimed to maximize the chance of locating fire-scarred trees by always inventorying dry areas and "interfaces", i.e., areas located at the transition between dry and wet portions of the surveyed zone. We used chainsaws to cut wedges from live trees and snags, and cross sections from stumps. Between five and 20 samples were taken from each site. In total, we collected 483 samples of jack pine: 190 living and 293 dead.

## 4.4.4 Development of fire chronologies

The cross sections and tree cores were sanded with progressively finer grits up to 400grit to secure a clear view of the annual growth rings and fire scars under a binocular microscope at 40× magnification. We cross-dated cross sections using the visual pointer year method (Stokes and Smiley, 1968), capitalizing on the pointer year chronology developed for that area. Information on the most useful pointer years is provided in Text C1 of the Appendix C. To measure tree rings, we obtained highresolution (2400–4800 dpi) digital images of the samples using a flatbed scanner and measured the rings using Cybis AB CooRecorder and CDendro 9.0 (Larsson, 2018). As a proxy for correlation strength, we relied on a t-test calculated with the programs COFECHA (Grissino-Mayer, 2001; Holmes, 1999, 1983) and CDendro (Larsson, 2018).

Dating helped us associate calendar years with (a) fire scars, (b) oldest and (c) youngest rings on each sample and to develop site-specific fire chronologies. We also attempted to locate the position of each scar within the dated ring to obtain information on the seasonal occurrence of the fire. We assigned fire scars to one of the following four categories: scar with no seasonal dating, earlywood scar, latewood scar, and dormant scar. Dormant scars were located at the interface between two rings, and for these scars the exact determination of the fire year and season was not possible. In these cases, we assigned the year and season, based on the dates obtained from other trees at the same site. This approach was supported by the observation that in parts of the boreal zone with extensive snow cover during winter, the persistence of forest fires in the soil beneath the snow cover is highly unlikely (although see Scholten et al., 2021).

## 4.4.5 Reconstruction of historical fire cycle and identification of fire regime shifts

The spatial reconstruction of fires relied on the fire dates independently identified across the network of sites. To convert point data (i.e., fire frequency estimates for a

site) into areal estimates, we assumed that a site fire chronology represented the fire history of a certain area centered on the site center, hereafter referred to as unit. By summing up the areas of these units for the years with dated fire events, we obtained an annual chronology of area burned.

Selection of the unit size for this analysis requires knowledge of the local topography. The study area includes many lakes formed after glacial retreat ca. 10 000–9 000 years BP (Dyke, 2005; Latifovic et al., 2017) and large sphagnum-dominated peatlands established after 6000 BP (MacDonald, 1995). The terrain surrounding Yellowknife predominantly consists of peatlands populated by *Picea mariana*, and upland bedrock outcrops colonized by *Pinus banksiana* (Beaudoin et al., 2014). Considering the dominant mosaic of habitats and distance among sites, we opted for a unit size of 78.5 ha (radius 500 m), which tends to place the units within one element of the landscape mosaic. We converted the reconstructed burned areas into FC estimates (Van Wagner, 1978), i.e., the length of time required for an area equal to the total study area to burn:

$$FC = \frac{TSA}{TBA*TI} \tag{1}$$

where TI is the length of the period studied (in years) and TSA and TBA are the total study area and the total burned area over this time period (in ha), respectively. To account for the decline in the number of sites representing the oldest periods of the area-wide chronology, we adjusted the estimates of the area burned using a protocol similar to that developed by (Ryzhkova et al., 2020). For periods with declining site replication, we assumed that the proportion of burned sites among non-recording sites was equal to that of recording sites. This approach simply extended the observed proportion of burned sites to non-recording sites and randomly assigned "burned" status only to a corresponding proportion of non-recording sites.

We estimated fire occurrence as the number of fire years aggregated over 10-year periods in the whole area studied. To ensure the fire occurrence over the study period
was not affected by the variability in the number of recording sites, we adjusted the number of fire years, capitalizing on the relationship between their number and the length of the period (Drobyshev et al., 2022). We assumed that over the period with declining site coverage (from 1800 CE to 1450 CE) the fire regime had remained constant throughout the LIA, and the observed changes in the number of reconstructed fire years were primarily due to declining site replication. This assumption was only to account for the variability in the number of "recording sites" in the early part of the reconstructed fire chronology. We avoided introducing any potential change in fire activity, which might be due to the adjustment itself. For the 50-year segments within this period, we obtained the number of fire years and the number of sites representing that segment. We then estimated the difference between the maximum number of sites over the whole period (i.e., maximum number of sites representing a year) and the number of sites representing a focal segment in question. This difference (deltaS) entered as an argument in the regression with the number of fire years as the dependent variable:

$$Number of fire years = F (deltaS),$$
(2)

The regression provided us with an estimation of the number of missing fire years, which was the difference between expected and observed fire years (Figure S1 in Supporting Information S1). We added these years to random positions within that segment. This represented a conservative solution to the adjustment problem: it assumed the same "process density", decreased the risk of Type I error, but increased the risk of Type II error in the regime shift analysis.

We used a regime shift detection algorithm (Rodionov, 2004) to identify changes in FC and fire occurrence over the period covered by the fire reconstruction (1340–2015 CE, minimum number of sites = 5). The algorithm uses sequential t-tests to identify a regime change. Specifically, a regime shift is identified when the cumulative sum of normalized deviations from the mean value of a new regime is different from the mean

of the current regime, calculated on a pre-defined moving timeframe. The time scale to be detected is controlled primarily by the cut-off length. Both cut-off length and probability level affect the statistically significant difference between regimes, and hence the magnitude of the shifts to be detected (Rodionov & Overland, 2005). The algorithm was run with the L parameter set to 20, the Hubert weight parameter set to 1, and the significance level for the t-test set to 0.05. To assess the sensitivity of the results to a particular combination of sites, we used bootstrapping to obtain 10% and 90% confidence limits for FC, resampling our pool of sites 1 000 times. Details of the algorithm used for analysis of dendrochronological reconstruction of fire activity are provided in (Ryzhkova et al., 2020).

#### 4.4.6 Estimation of ignition rates

Quantifying historical ignition rates is critical to assessing potential human contribution to the total amount of ignitions. The ignition rate is a function of the number of fires, the area studied, and the time period considered:

Ignition rate = 
$$\frac{\text{number of fires}}{(\text{period_considered × area_studied})}$$
, (3)

The definition of the area studied, and the spatial extent of a single fire event are significant contributors to the uncertainty in ignition rate estimates. We used an earlier developed protocol (Drobyshev et al., 2022), which attempts to encompass the range of variability in both metrics and involves calculation of two estimates for each of the metrics. We used two alternative protocols to calculate the area studied: (a) the opportunistic protocol assumed that the study area equals the size of a single polygon covering the entirety of sampled locations within a studied landscape, and (b) the conservative protocol assumed the study area to be the sum of the areas of the inventoried sites (*units*). The opportunistic protocol likely leads to an underestimation of true ignition frequencies, as some smaller fires are likely to "escape" the existing network of sites, while the area where they occurred contributes to the area used for

the calculation. Using this protocol, the study area was  $301.3 \text{ km}^2$ . The use of the conservative protocol, however, can potentially inflate ignition estimates since the sampled sites, which are often more xeric and therefore more fire-prone than the rest of the landscape, represent only a proportion of the area studied. According to this protocol, the study area was  $40.04 \text{ km}^2$ . Similarly, we used two protocols to estimate the number of fires, to account for uncertainty in defining the perimeters of historical fire events. The conservative approach was to count a single fire year as a single fire, and the opportunistic approach was to count each burned study site (*unit*) as a single fire. We assumed that the true value of ignition rate was constrained by two values: one obtained with the conservative estimate of the study area and opportunistic estimate of the number of fires, and one obtained with the opportunistic estimate of the study area and conservative estimate of the number of fires. We provide, therefore, two estimates for each period, determined from reconstructed burned areas (see previous subsection).

#### 4.4.7 Climate indices

We examined PNA, PDO and ENSO, all of which affect precipitation patterns in the Northern Hemisphere (Hall et al., 2015; Macias-Fauria & Johnson, 2008; Trouet & Taylor, 2010), as potential controls of fire activity in NWT.

The PNA plays an important role in shaping the North American hydro climate (Liu et al., 2017; van der Schrier & Barkmeijer, 2007; Shabbar, Bonsal et al., 1997). The PNA has four action centers: a cyclone around the Aleutian Islands called the Aleutian Low, an anticyclone near Hawaii, a high-pressure system (ridge) over western Canada, and a low-pressure system (trough) over the southeastern United States (Wallace and Gutzler, 1981). During a positive PNA pattern a deeper Aleutian Low intensifies the meridional flow of the jet stream across the North American continent, resulting in a pronounced ridge-trough configuration. This leads to warming in northwestern North America and cooling in the southeastern United States (Liu et al., 2017). In comparison, a negative PNA pattern is consistent with a more zonal flow, with weather anomalies

reversing those associated with the positive PNA (Liu et al., 2021, 2017). The typical periodicity for the PNA is two to three years (Liu et al., 2017). We used the tree-ring-based reconstruction of the winter PNA index developed by Liu et al. (2017).

The ENSO describes the cyclical warming (El Niño phase) and cooling (La Niña phase) of the sea surface temperature (SST) in the central and eastern tropical Pacific Ocean that then affects global atmospheric circulation and weather patterns (Hart et al., 2010). During the La Niña phase, the eastern equatorial winds strengthen, which leads to a shallow thermocline due to upwelling of cool subsurface waters in the eastern tropical Pacific Ocean, and the piling up of warm surface waters in the western tropical Pacific (Larkin & Harrison 2002; Siqueira et al., 2019). This east-to-west SST gradient reinforces an east-to-west air pressure gradient that in turn maintains the easterly winds. During the El Niño phase, the easterlies weaken and become westerlies. This westward shift of the trade wind leads to a low-pressure cell over the eastern part of the tropical Pacific that increases precipitation and lowers the thermocline, and a high-pressure cell over the western tropical Pacific that brings colder and drier conditions. These ENSO events have extratropical effects in North America as they affect the Aleutian Low and the formation of the PNA pattern. El Niño events are generally associated with the strengthening of the Aleutian Low and the PNA pattern (Taschetto et al., 2020). The typical periodicity for the ENSO is three to five years (Fedorov et al., 2020). We used the tree-ring based millennial reconstruction of interannual ENSO variability by Li et al., (2011).

The PDO describes the variability of the North Pacific Ocean-atmospheric system and is measured as the leading principal component of monthly sea-surface temperature (SST) anomalies poleward of 20° N in the Pacific basin (Mantua et al., 1997). The cool phase of the PDO features lower-than-normal SST along the coasts of North America and the equator, and warm SST in the western North Pacific, forming a horseshoe-shaped pattern (Jia and Ge, 2017). During the warm (or positive) phase of the PDO,

the pattern is reversed. The warm phase of the PDO is associated with a deeper Aleutian Low, whereas the negative phase is associated with a shallow Aleutian Low (Larson et al., 2022; Newman et al., 2016). The typical periodicity for the PDO is between 15-25 and 50-70 years (Mantua et al., 1997).

There are numerous reconstructions of the PDO based on tree rings (Biondi, 2001; D'Arrigo et al., 2001; Gedalof et al., 2002; Gedalof & Smith, 2001; Lyu et al., 2019), corals (Felis et al., 2010; Ramos et al., 2019), and historical documents (Shen et al., 2006). Unfortunately, most of these records do not extend beyond 300-500 years, making it difficult to analyze the effect of this variability under different climate regimes, e.g., prior, during and following the LIA. Here, we used a tree-ring-based reconstruction of the PDO based on limber pine (*Pinus flexilis*) growing in California and Alberta, which spans over 1000 years to cover periods with contrasting climate regimes (MacDonald & Case, 2005).

#### 4.4.8 Association between climate and historical fire activity

To test the association of the NWT fire activity with ocean-atmosphere circulation patterns at the annual scale, we used the output of regime shift analyses on chronologies of circulation indices in a contingency analysis framework. First, we ran regime shift analyses on PDO, ENSO and PNA chronologies to classify the studied period into subperiods with high (above the long-term mean) altitude lower phases of the indices. For the regime shift analysis, we used a cut-off length (parameter L, see Rodionov, 2006) of 10 years because we were primarily interested in the interannual influence of circulation patterns, as represented by the climate indices, on the occurrence of LFYs. Second, we assessed the statistical significance of the differences between observed and expected values of climate for each of the sub-periods by bootstrapping. To this end, we assumed the same "abundance" of the identified regimes but their random localization over the studied period. We performed contingency analyses on the reconstructed (1400-1998 CE) and modern (1950-2019 CE) records. For the reconstructed record, we identified LFYs as years in which at least two sites had burned. Modern LFYs were obtained from the Canadian National Fire Database (CNFDB). We extracted annually burned areas for the region centered on the study area and limited by 60-65°N and 100-120°W over 1950-2019 CE.

#### 4.4.9 Climate-fire associations in the modern record

We used superposed epoch analysis, SEA (Grissino-Mayer and Swetnam, 2000; Swetnam, 1993), to assess the role of drought forcing on fire activity. The analysis used seven modern LFYs (1971, 1979, 1980, 1981, 1994, 1995 and 2014) identified over 1959–2019 CE. For the SEA we used the June-August self-calibrated Palmer Drought Severity Index (scPDSI) (Wells et al., 2004) covering the grid cells across the northwestern portion of North America (30–80°N, 180–80°W). The analysis was conducted using the KNMI Climate Explorer tool (Trouet & van Oldenborgh, 2013). To investigate the relationship between ocean-atmospheric oscillations and drought conditions, we correlated the March-May and June-August mean values of the instrumental record of the PDO (Japan Meteorological Agency, 2024) with the scPDSI over the period 1901-1996 CE.

#### 4.4.10 Population data

To assess the relationship between fire activity and human presence, we developed a chronology of population density covering the entire NWT area. We used modern census data (Statistics Canada, 2022) and historical population data dating back to 1861 CE (Canada Year Book, 2010). Since population data prior to 1991 covered both the NWT and Nunavut, we used combined NWT and Nunavut population data after 1991 to track population trends in the NWT.

#### 4.5 Results

We dated 349 fire scars found on 479 samples, corresponding to a total of 129 unique fire years (Fig. 4.2). The fire chronology for the study area covered 892 years, with the first fire dated to 1202 CE and the most recent fire dated to 2015 CE. To ensure a sufficient density of sites for spatial reconstruction of fire activity, we selected the period from 1340 to 2015 CE, for which each year was represented by at least ten sites (Fig. 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Dendrochronologically reconstructed annual fire history of the NWT over 1200–2018 CE. A single straight horizontal line represents a site, and a dark circle represents a fire event. Each line extends over the period covered by chronologies of at least five trees.

We assessed the regime shifts separately for the FC (Fig. 4.3A) and for the decadal fire occurrence (Fig. 4.3B). During the 1340–1440 CE, the mean FC was 572 years (95% confidence intervals, CI 400.4–1000.9 years). It decreased to 171 (CI 150.6–195.0 years) between 1460 and 1840 CE and then decreased again to 95 years (CI 82.4–109.9 years) over the 1860–2015 CE period (Table 4.1, Fig. 4.3A). The dynamics of ignition

frequencies reflected the changes in FC, with the lowest frequencies between 1340 and 1440 CE and the highest between 1860 and 2015 CE (Table 4.2).

Period, years CE	Mean, years	95 % CI lower bound	95 % CI upper bound
1340–1440	572	400.35	1000.87
1460–1840	171	150.63	195.04
1860–2015	95	82.42	109.90
1340–1440	1.00	0.57	1.43
1460–1840	4.45	3.75	5.05
1920–2015	7.63	6.38	8.50
	Period, years CE 1340–1440 1460–1840 1860–2015 1340–1440 1460–1840 1920–2015	Period, years CEMean, years1340–14405721460–18401711860–2015951340–14401.001460–18404.451920–20157.63	Period, years CEMean, years95 % CI lower bound1340–1440572400.351460–1840171150.631860–20159582.421340–14401.000.571460–18404.453.751920–20157.636.38

Table 4.1 Reconstructions of the fire cycle and fire occurrence (fire years per decade) in the Northwest Territories for the periods identified by regime shift analysis.

We also identified three regimes in the historical dynamics of decadal fire occurrence since 1340 CE. During the first period, 1340–1440 CE, fire years occurred once per decade (Table 4.1 and Fig. 4.3B). In the following period, 1460–1840 CE, fire occurrences increased to 4.45 fire years per decade. During 1840–2015 CE, the number of fire years had again increased to 7.63 per decade.

We examined the timing of tree regeneration using pith dates from our samples (Appendix C: Fig. S4.6). Our dataset included samples from all sites, covering both dry and wetter areas of the landscape, the latter predominantly dominated by black spruce. The analysis revealed several distinct regeneration waves, with the most noteworthy occurring in the mid-1800s, broadly coinciding with a regime shift towards increased fire activity as reconstructed from fire scar data (Fig. 4.3A). The temporal resolution of the regeneration data remains limited, precluding further detailed conclusions on fire regime dynamics across the landscape.

Period, CE	Type of estimate	Frequency, km <sup>-2</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>
1340-1440	Conservative	1.46*10-3
	Opportunistic	7.50*10-6
1460-1840	Conservative	5.74*10-3
	Opportunistic	3.30*10-5
1860-2015	Conservative	9.68*10-3
	Opportunistic	1.23*10-4

Table 4.2 Reconstructed ignition frequencies in the study area of the Northwest Territories for three periods identified by regime shift analysis. See Methods section for explanations concerning the types of estimates.

The number of samples with at least two scars was 39.4% and the number of samples with at least three scars was 12.2% of the total number of trees with scars. Fire seasonality estimated from the intra-annual scar position was successfully determined for 63% of the fires (Fig. 4.4). Almost all (97%) of the fires occurred during the growing season, of which 72% were in the earlywood and 25% in the latewood. Only 7 fires, i.e., 3% of all fires dated with seasonal resolution, occurred in the dormant season.

We observed an association between a shift towards positive PDO and reconstructed fires. The observed shifts from negative to positive phases of the PDO in 1460 and 1840 CE (Fig. 4.3D) coincide with increases in fire activity (Fig. 4.3A). Modern fire data indicated that positive phases of the PDO during the 1975-1995 CE period and since 2015 CE were associated with a higher frequency of LFYs (Table 4.3 and Fig. 4.5). The other climate indices (ENSO and PNA) did not show any significant association with LFYs (Appendix C: Figs. S4.2, S4.3 and Table S4.1).



Figure 4.3 Reconstructed burned area (a) and number of fire years (b), both per decade; chronology of population density of the Northwest Territories (c); and Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) (MacDonald, and Case, 2005) (d). Red solid lines in (a), (b) and (d) indicate the changes in fire regime identified by the regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004) on fire cycle (FC), fire occurrence and PDO. The black solid lines in (a) indicate site replication, which is also relevant to the interpretation of the data in (b) and (d). Black dots in (a) and (b) represent values for single fire years. Vertical dark-red bars on (d) represent fire years that occurred at two or more sites. Grey-shaded areas in (a), (b), and (d) represent confidence intervals. The black vertical arrow in (c) indicates the onset of European colonization of the NWT. Yellow bars stretching across all plates indicate periods of positive PDO, as estimated by the regime shift analysis (d).



Figure 4.4 Reconstructed fire seasonality across the Yellowknife region. ESF – early season fires, MSF – mid-season fires, and LSF – late season fires.

Table 4.3 Contingency analysis of the large fire year (LFY) frequencies under positive/negative states of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO, MacDonald, & Case, 2005). For the period 1400-1998 CE, probabilities of LFY occurrence were estimated from the reconstructed fire chronology (this study). For the period 1950-2021 CE, the probabilities were estimated using observational data and selected thresholds (see Methods section). Percentiles represent the proportion of the bootstrapped distribution of respective frequency to the left of the observed value; these can be viewed as estimates of statistical significance of differences between observed and bootstrapped values.

Climate indices	Frequency of events, years		Percentiles	Number of LFY years
	Observed	Expected	-	
Recor	nstructed PDC	(mostly histe	orical period)	
PDO -	0.0504	0.0725	0.006	20
PDO +	0.108	0.0718	0.996	26
	Modern PD	O (modern po	eriod)	
PDO -	0.15	0.214	0.115	6
PDO +	0.3	0.215	0.918	9

The contingency analysis showed that the majority of LFYs occurred during the positive phase of the PDO (Table 4.3, Fig. 4.3D). This pattern was consistent for both the reconstructed (1400-1998 CE) and modern (1950-2019 CE) periods: the observed

fire year frequencies reached 0.996 and 0.918 percentiles of the bootstrap-derived distributions of fire year frequencies during positive PDO phases (Table 4.3).



Figure 4.5 Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) chronology (MacDonald, and Case, 2005) thin grey line, smoothed with a spline function) and modern large fire years (LFYs) (vertical orange lines). The thick red line shows the outcome of regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004). The solid gray horizontal line refers to the PDO long-term average.

Modern LFYs occurred during years with low scPDSI and positive PDO (Fig. 4.5 and Fig. 4.6A). Low scPDSI values (indicative of drought conditions) occurred during the same years as LFYs (Fig. 4.6A), and positive PDO correlated with drier-than-average conditions across the study area (Fig. 4.6B, 4.6C).

#### 4.6 Discussion

We developed a 680-year long annual reconstruction of forest fire activity in the area around Yellowknife, making it the longest record within the boreal subarctic landscape of the NWT. Unlike previous dendrochronological reconstructions of fire activity in the NWT, which only extended back to the 1600-1700s CE (Lewis et al., 2019; Wallenius, et al., 2011) and relied on fire interval data (Bothwell et al., 2004; de Groot and Chowns, 1994), our reconstruction featured sub-annual resolution and estimates of burned areas. Long-term changes in annually resolved fire activity showed partial synchrony with changes in the PDO phases, suggesting climatic forcing of the fire regime, hence supporting our first hypothesis (H1). Statistically significant increases in fire activity in both the mid-1400s and mid-1800s followed shifts from negative to positive phases of the PDO and were not synchronized with human colonization waves. Higher fire activity after the mid-1800s does not support our second hypothesis (H2) of a decline in fire activity after the LIA in the NWT. The temporal association between population growth and increased fire activity in the mid-1800s in the boreal subarctic of the NWT suggests some human impact on fire activity at that time. Below, we discuss these findings in detail.

#### 4.6.1 Climate and fires in the boreal subarctic

The reconstruction of fire activity, based on fire scars, pointed to the PDO as the principal driver of regional fire activity in NWT. Two shifts towards higher fire activity (in the mid-1400s and mid-1800s) coincided with shifts from negative to positive phase of the PDO (Fig. 4.3D and Fig. 4.5). In line with this observation, periods with positive PDO had a higher frequency of LFYs as compared with periods with negative PDO (Table 4.3).

A close connection between PDO phases and the position of the winter jet stream (Gershunov et al., 1999) may explain PDO influence on forest fire activity. The positive phase of the PDO features warm SSTs in the Gulf of Alaska and cool temperatures in the broader North Pacific (Chen et al., 2021; Niebauer, 1998; Trenberth, 1992). In turn, the warmer SSTs contribute to the development of a high-pressure ridge in the North Pacific (Niebauer, 1998; Zhang and Chen, 2007) that can stretch from the Gulf of Alaska to the central North Pacific. The ridge modifies the flow of the jet stream, pushing it northward (Mantua et al., 1997), leading to enhanced meridional flow of air masses and the intrusion of warmer and drier air from the south into western boreal Canada. These developments change storm tracks and reduce precipitation patterns over the NWT (Niebauer, 1998; Trenberth, 1992), likely resulting in longer and drier fire seasons. When associated with cyclonic storms, such ridges produce strong winds and lightning activity (Flannigan & Wotton, 2001; Gedalof et al., 2005), promoting ignition and fire spread. In line with this interpretation, analyses of observational fire and weather data over 1959–2019 CE indicated that dry periods in the NWT coincided

with positive PDO (Fig. 4.6B, 4.6C). In turn, the persistence of warm and dry weather contributes to the development of a water deficit in the forest fuels (Girardin et al., 2004), preconditioning them for effective ignition and fire spread (Johnson & Wowchuk, 1993; Macias-Fauria & Johnson, 2008). This pattern explains the association between modern LFYs in the study area and summer drought (scPDSI), which supports this interpretation (Fig. 4.6A).



Figure 4.6 Teleconnection between the northern North Atlantic and fire weather in the Northwest Territories (NWT). (a) Superposed epoch analysis of the self-calibrated Palmer's Drought Severity Index scPDSI (Wells et al., 2004) from June to August and LFYs in the NWT over the 1959–2019 CE. Note that lower PDSI values mean increased drought conditions. Correlation between the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) and scPDSI fields for (b) March through May and (c) June through August during 1901-1996 CE. The location of the study area is marked with a dark circle. Colored areas in (a) indicate PDSI anomalies, significant at p < 0.10, and in (b, c) areas with significance of the correlation coefficient being 0.10 or lower.

The earliest period in our reconstruction (1340-1440 CE) covers the late stages of the Medieval Warm Period (MWP) and featured a long FC (572 years), which is one of the longest FC reported for conifer-dominated circumboreal forests in the northern Hemisphere (Larsen and MacDonald, 1998; Niklasson and Granström, 2000; Rolstad et al., 2017). While some studies have characterized the MWP as a warm and dry period with increased fire activity in the Pacific Northwest (Marlon et al., 2012), others have suggested that the MWP period may not have been dry (Bracht-Flyr and Fritz, 2012; Steinman et al., 2012) and not particularly fire-prone (Holmquist et al., 2016). During the MWP, cool SSTs in the eastern tropical Pacific indicated persistent La Niña conditions, coupled with the sustained positive phases of PDO, NAO, and AO (MacDonald & Case, 2005; Ortega et al., 2015; Trouet et al., 2009). Winter precipitation in the Pacific Northwest and parts of boreal Canada is typically enhanced under these conditions (Henke et al., 2017; Holmquist et al., 2016; Shabbar et al., 1997b). The resulting increase in snow cover and shortening of the fire season might explain the lower fire activity in the NWT during the later stages of MWP.

A shift towards higher fire activity in the mid-1400s broadly coincided with the onset of the LIA. Studies of the fire history of the boreal biome have suggested that the LIA, characterized by a dry and unstable climate, represents the most fire-prone period in boreal forests (Bergeron and Flannigan, 1995; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Gavin et al., 2003; Wallenius et al., 2007). Although cooling during the LIA has been consistently identified in a wide range of dendrochronological and paleoecological studies across northern latitudes, its offset and duration vary in different parts of the boreal (Cohen, 2003; Delwaide et al., 2021; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Gagen et al., 2011). In central NWT, the cooling trends attributed to the LIA have been dated to various periods: 1200-1750 CE (Dalton et al., 2018), 1250-1600 CE (Taylor et al., 2018), 1450-1850 CE (Tillman et al., 2010), and 1300-1850 CE (MacDonald et al., 2008). In the NWT, cooler periods have been associated with increased summer aridity (Kuosmanen et al., 2023), a pattern also observed in eastern (Bergeron et al., 2001) and in

Scandinavia (Drobyshev et al., 2016). An increase in fire activity in the NWT in the mid-1400s coincided with a positive PDO phase, which has been suggested to cause drier conditions in the Pacific Northwest (MacDonald & Case, 2005). Analysis of modern precipitation and temperature data for that region, however, does not suggest a correlation between these variables and PDO dynamics (Appendix C: Figs. S4.4-S4.5).

We lack a definitive explanation for the absence of a decline in fire activity following a shift from a positive to a negative PDO phase in the late 1500s (Fig. 4.3D). We speculate that the fire-prone areas might consistently maintain a sufficient level of combustibility under different climatic conditions, even in cases where shifts in the PDO phases override the general cooling of the climate, as observed during the LIA.

Upon analyzing fire scar dates, we found no evidence of a decline in fire activity, contrary to the previously documented trend for the NWT since the mid-1800s CE (Larsen, 1997; Wallenius, et al., 2011). In contrast, the period 1860-2015 CE had the shortest FC of 95 years (Fig. 4.3A). This finding did not support the results of other studies in the Canadian boreal forest, which indicated a decrease in fire activity in the post-LIA period (Bergeron et al., 2001; Chavardès et al., 2022; Drobyshev et al., 2017; Kuosmanen et al., 2023). The lack of agreement between our fire scar reconstruction and those developed elsewhere may be due to the introduction of human ignitions (see next section). Moreover, Gaboriau et al. (2020) have shown that a decrease in fire fire fire scare in fire scare in fire scare in fire scare in fire fire scare in fire scare in fire scare in fire fire scare in fire scare in fire scare in fire fire scare in fire scare in fire scare in fire scare in fire fire scare in fire fire scare in fire

#### 4.6.2 Human activities as a potential driver of fire regimes

Although human presence in the NWT has been documented to date back to at least 7000 BP (Ridington, 2012), it is unlikely that it had a significant impact on fire regimes. Until the late 1700s, the area was inhabited by nomadic Dene people who subsisted

primarily on hunting, fishing, trapping, and gathering wild plants (Anonymous, 1970; Ridington, 2012). There is no record of an effect of Indigenous people on fire activity in the Yellowknife area, although it has been suggested that the Dene used fire to clear land around their traplines (Anonymous, 1970; Needlay et al., 2012; Ridington, 2012). Fires were typically set during periods of low fire susceptibility and, as a result, they were small and of low intensity (Lewis, 1982; Turner, 1999). Given the small size of the fires and the low population density, it is likely that Dene influence on fire activity was minimal.

An increase in fire activity around Yellowknife occurred in the 1440s (Table 4.1, Fig. 4.3A), i.e., 350 years prior to European colonization in the late-1700s when European fur traders established trading posts across the NWT (Asch, 2012; Coates, 1985; Zaslow, 1971). European settlers used fires to hunt, eliminate insect pests, and create supplies of dry firewood (Turner, 1999). While increased human presence in the NWT in the late 1700s possibly contributed to additional ignition sources, the fire regime did not change until the mid-1800s (Fig. 4.3A and 4.3B).

Slash-and-burn cultivation and activities carried out in connection with timber harvesting were the primary causes of human-related ignitions during the colonization period in the southern boreal zone (Boucher et al., 2014; Reich et al., 2001; Weir et al., 2000). Around Yellowknife, however, slash-and-burn agriculture was not practiced due to the harsh climate and nutrient poor soils, with the introduction of cold-resistant crops occurring only in the early 1990s (Ridington, 2012). In nearby British Columbia, large-scale burning was used to clear land for mineral exploration and to promote grass growth for livestock, particularly in the 1800s (Turner, 1999). However, such practices were likely absent from our study area. The region around Yellowknife remained largely isolated, with European settlement and the associated mining activities only beginning after the discovery of gold deposits in the 1930s. Moreover, the low productivity of the boreal subarctic trees made these forests of little interest for modern

forestry, with the vast majority of the landscape remaining unaffected by industrial clear cutting.

The lack of a clear impact of human activities on the fire regimes around Yellowknife supports the view of climate as the leading factor. The vast majority of forests in the NWT are in Wildfire Management Zone 3 (Tymstra et al., 2020), which means that active fire suppression is not implemented due to the remoteness of these forests. Hence, wildfires are mostly left free to burn, unless they approach human settlements.

#### 4.6.3 Ignition frequencies

Ignition rates in the study area were generally low but broadly similar to those in other regions of the circumboreal forest, suggesting that the forests of the study area were exposed to near-natural ignition densities. Over the past 680 years, conservative estimates range from 0.002 to 0.009 ignitions per year per km<sup>2</sup>, while opportunistic estimates range from  $7.50*10^{-6}$  to  $1.23*10^{-4}$  ignitions per year per km<sup>2</sup> (Table 4.3). These estimates are in concordance with modern data on lightning flash densities and lightning efficiency coefficients (LEC, i.e., proportion of effective ignitions in the total pool of lightning strikes). The modern lightning flash density around Yellowknife is between 0.2 and 0.6 strikes per year per km<sup>2</sup> (Cecil, 2006), with lightning efficiency coefficients of  $2*10^{-4}$  which would give an effective ignition rate of  $0.4*10^{-3}$  to  $1.2*10^{-3}$  ignitions per year per km<sup>2</sup>.

Early and mid-season ignitions predominantly occurred over late-season fires across the Yellowknife region during the reconstruction period. Early- and mid-season fires were likely induced by lightning. The thunderstorm season in the NWT generally begins in late May, peaks in July, and decreases by late August (Kochtubajda et al., 2002). This pattern is attributed to the prevalence of fuel-drying high-pressure cells developing early in the fire season (Kochtubajda et al., 2019; Nash & Johnson, 1996; Skinner et al., 2002). In particular, the positive anomaly in the mid-tropospheric circulation forms a prominent ridge over the NWT, causing warm and dry conditions that dry out forest fuels (Flannigan & Wotton, 2001; Sharma et al., 2022; Skinner et al., 2002). The breakdown of such ridge often leads to the formation of thunderstorms and lightning systems that favor ignitions (Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2008; Skinner et al., 2002).

#### 4.6.4 Future fire in the boreal subarctic of the NWT

The association between the PDO and the reconstructed fire record suggests a teleconnection between ocean-atmospheric circulation and the natural disturbance regime of the boreal subarctic. Prediction of PDO trends might therefore be used to project regional fire activity over the NWT. Since PDO dynamics feature a strong decadal component and are inherently dependent on SST dynamics in the Pacific, predictions of PDO states are possible with lead times between 1 and 10 years, depending on the computational approach (Qin et al., 2023; Wiegand et al., 2019). Predictions of fire activity over the NWT, even with a one-year lead-time, would be highly instrumental in operational planning and preparedness. However, the actual response of the forests to climate will likely depend on tree species composition (Gaboriau et al., 2023), which will have to be taken into account in projections.

Since 2018, the PDO has been in a negative phase generally less conducive to fire (NCEI, 2023). Its evolution towards a positive phase over the next several decades should increase fire activity in the boreal subarctic of the NWT. Paleoecological reconstructions from the same region indicate that past increases in fire activity incurred changes in vegetation cover: the proportion of deciduous (primarily paper birch and trembling aspen) and jack pine had been increasing at the expense of black spruce (Gaboriau et al., 2020; Sulphur et al., 2016). Similar trends are to be expected with an eventual future transition of the PDO into its positive state.

#### 4.7 Acknowledgements

The study was supported by a grant from Polar Knowledge Canada (# NST-1718-0014 to H.A.), a scholarship from the Fondation de l'Université du Québec en Abitibi-Témiscamingue (FUQAT) and funding from the European Union's H2020 research and innovation programmes ECO2ADAPT (101059498). The study was supported by the Natural sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC, grant # RGPIN-2018-06637 to I.D.). The study was done within the framework of the PREREAL project funded by EU JPI Climate program and the Belmont Forum (grant # 292-2015-11-30-13-43-09 to I.D.). We appreciate the support and cooperation of the Tł<sub>i</sub>cho Nation and community members, whose insights were integral to the success of this research. A Research License to reconstruct the multi-century history of wildfire was granted by the Aurora Research Institute in 2018 (License No. 16333). We thank Zhongfang Liu for generously sharing the reconstruction of the PNA index with us. We are also grateful to Oskars Zemītis and Andrey Hacket-Pain for their help during fieldwork. This is a publication of the SNS NordicFuels and GDRI ColdForests networks

#### V. GENERAL CONCLUSION

Disentangling the role of human activities and climate on fire activity is a complicated task, as the two closely interact at multiple temporal and spatial scales. The results of this thesis demonstrate the complex relationship between climate and humans in determining fire regimes in circumboreal forests. Forest fire activity in the circumboreal biome remains strongly linked to annual climate variability. Humans have been an important agent of change in boreal fire activity over the last 200 years, influencing fire regimes through slash-and-burn agriculture and associated clear-cutting, and more recently - through fire suppression policies.

In the Republic of Karelia, we have shown several lines of evidence indicating that climate was a major factor in increasing fire activity in the early 1600s, while anthropogenic impacts likely contributed to its decline in the early 1900s (Chapter II). An increase in fire activity in the early 1600s coincided with a decrease in reconstructed spring streamflow, indicating drier conditions during the LIA, a pattern previously noted in other studies (Bergeron and Flannigan, 1995; Drobyshev et al., 2016; Gagen et al., 2011). Periods of increased fire activity in Kalevalsky NP were associated with the formation of Scandinavia blocking during the summer, which contributed to drier forest fuels (Drobyshev et al., 2016; Seftigen et al., 2013). The dramatic increase in fire activity in the early 1600s occurred at a time when local population densities were very low, suggesting that climate was the primary driver at that time. In contrast, the decrease in fire activity in the early 1900s was likely due to changes in forest management practices, particularly the increased emphasis on timber production.

A study of historical fire regimes in boreal forests of the Republic of Komi has underscored the significant role of human influence in controlling fire occurrence, while climate emerged as the main factor controlling the amount of burned area (Chapter III). Village establishment in the area around the 1650s coincided with an increase in fire occurrence. However, there was no clear relationship between village establishment and area burned. Changes in the fire cycle were not synchroniszed with dates of village establishment. We observed a strong association between large fire years and spring droughts, suggesting that climate was the primary driver of FC in these forests.

For northwestern Canada, we demonstrated that climate variability, PDO in particular, is the dominant force controlling regional fire (Chapter IV). Years with significantly higher fire activity in the reconstructed and modern fire records were consistently associated with the positive phases of the PDO. This suggests that the Pacific Ocean climate is likely an important control on future boreal fire activity in the western sections of North American boreal forest. The PDO has been in a negative phase since 2018, making it less conducive to fire. As the PDO evolves towards a positive phase, a suggested return to drier climate regimes will imply an increase in the area burned in the boreal subarctic of the NWT.

#### 5.1 Comparison of Canadian and Northern European boreal forest fire regimes

The fire regime of the Canadian boreal forest is typically dominated by high-severity, stand-replacing crown fires (Flannigan et al., 2009; Kasischke and Stocks, 2000). Our results (Chapter IV) indicate, however, that the fire regime of subarctic boreal landscapes in the NWT does not fully conform to this pattern, but instead exhibits characteristics of a mixed-severity fire regime. Sites on rocky outcrops with jack pine-dominated stands exhibited a discontinuous canopy and fragmented fuel bed, conditions that reduce the likelihood of high-intensity crown fires. The presence of multiple fire scars in 39.4% of sampled trees (with at least two scars) and a relatively short mean fire return interval (62 years) suggest that these rocky sites experienced frequent, low- to moderate-intensity surface fires, rather than being predominantly shaped by stand-replacing events. This pattern is consistent with observations in jack pine forests in very dry habitats in Quebec, where open canopy pine stands were associated with a mixed-severity fire regime (Smirnova et al., 2008). In open jack pine

stands, where fuel discontinuity and drier conditions limited crown fire spread, moderate-severity fires were shown to be more frequent.

Low severity surface fires are a characteristic feature of Eurasian boreal fire regimes (de Groot et al., 2013), and our study supports this assertion (Chapters II and III). Fire dynamics in the boreal forests of Northern Europe are closely related to the dominant tree species. In pine-dominated forests, surface fires are more common, but standreplacing fires can also occur (Aakala and Kuuluvainen, 2011; Wallenius et al., 2004). The natural loss of older cohorts over time makes it difficult to reconstruct the severity of past fires, but multiple fire scars on both live and dead trees, coupled with the abundance of coarse woody debris, suggest that low-severity surface fires historically dominated the eastern European boreal landscape. Mean fire return intervals in pinedominated eastern European boreal forests (39 years in Kalevalsky NP and 48 years in Pechora-Ilych NBR, respectively) were comparable to those in northwestern Canada. It appears that such short fire return intervals were controlled, to a considerable degree, by fuel accumulation rates (Schimmel and Granström, 1996; Shvidenko and Nilsson, 2000) rather than the frequency of extreme fire-prone periods. Fuel recovery times in both Eurasian and North American boreal forests have been reported to approach a few decades (Bernier et al., 2016; Schimmel and Granström, 1997). A study of a gradient of boreal forest types in North American forests has estimated fuel recovery times in most of the forest types to range from six to 30 years (Thompson et al., 2017). These estimates strongly support the idea that fuel recovery plays a key role in regulating fire return intervals in the pine-dominated boreal forests of northwestern Canada and eastern Europe. This finding is directly relevant to the development of nature-based fire management strategies (Bergeron et al., 2001; Swetnam et al., 1999).

Research methods for reconstructing fire history should consider the characteristics of fire regimes, because fires can affect forests in ways that depend on their frequency, severity, and extent. Although age analysis is the most commonly used method for

reconstructing disturbance histories in systems dominated by stand-replacing events (Bergeron, et al., 2017; Portier et al., 2016; Reed, 2000; Weir et al., 2000), it provides only a coarse estimate of regime change that is further degraded for older regeneration chronologies. Historical fire regimes in the boreal forests of North America have largely been reconstructed using methods designed to capture infrequent standreplacing fires (Bergeron, et al., 2017; Reed, 2000) that burn thousands of hectares (Kasischke and Turetsky, 2006). As a result, low-intensity fires have often been underestimated or ignored. Our methods reconstructed fire regimes at finer spatial and temporal scales, and we detected frequent low-severity fire events that have been largely overlooked in North American boreal forests (Alfaro Sánchez et al., 2024). Our results indicate that low-severity fire events were frequent, widespread, and an important component of the fire regime of subarctic boreal landscapes in northwestern Canada. Detecting and quantifying variability in fire regimes that include frequent, low-severity fires and infrequent, high-severity fires is a critical step in identifying the ecological consequences of altered fire regimes (McLauchlan et al., 2020) and understanding the implications of altered fire dynamics in circumboreal forests.

#### 5.2 Management implications

Understanding regional fire regimes provides critical knowledge for the effective management of forest fires and their impacts, which is particularly important in the context of climate change (Stephens et al., 2013). Projections for western North America indicate warmer temperatures, earlier snowmelt, and longer fire seasons with increased drought, potentially leading to more frequent, larger, and more severe wildfires (Flannigan et al., 2009, 2005; Qin et al., 2023). These climate impacts may be exacerbated by land use change, fire exclusion, and urban expansion (Moritz et al., 2014). Adapting forest management to climate change requires understanding the impacts of climate on forests, industries, and communities; predicting how these impacts may change over time; and incorporating this knowledge into management

decisions (Boulanger et al., 2025; Keenan, 2015). A preventive approach is essential in the face of uncertain global warming. Monitoring of PDO trends can improve fire risk assessments by identifying periods of increased fire hazard in the boreal subarctic (Ryzhkova et al., 2025), which can aid in resource allocation and preparedness for fireprone periods (Bergeron et al., 2004; Macias-Fauria and Johnson, 2006). This approach may extend regional climate-sensitive fire management strategies that use models to predict forest fire risk at monthly, seasonal, and above-annual time scales (Eden et al., 2020; Raita-Hakola and Pölönen, 2024). A better prediction of future fire activity should help limit the economic and social impacts of fires (Coogan et al., 2019), and specifically - preserve ecosystem services (Cuerrier et al., 2015), and minimise the costs associated with firefighting (Stocks and Martell, 2016), which requires increasingly significant material and human resources (Hope et al., 2016).

In the boreal forests of Eastern Europe, fire has historically been a major disturbance (Barhoumi et al., 2020; Ryzhkova et al., 2022, 2020), but today it is a rare event (Drobyshev et al., 2021), which in itself is a threat to biodiversity. Therefore, maintaining fire in forest landscapes is essential, but the negative aspects of fire also have to be considered. Although future fire activity is uncertain, there are indications that forest fires will become more frequent in certain regions of northern Europe due to global warming (Lehtonen et al., 2016). Conservation management of the eastern fringes of the European boreal zone should therefore recognize the role of this disturbance agent. A balance needs to be struck between fire suppression activities dictated by the economic value of the forest and the risk of fire to human life and infrastructure, on the one hand, and the maintenance of fire as a driver of vegetation dynamics, on the other. The value of this nature-based approach has been convincingly demonstrated in a wide range of ecosystems where fire is the primary disturbance (Clear et al., 2013; Conedera et al., 2009; Peterson and Reich, 2001). Prescribed fire may be the key to preserving fire ecological functions (Granström, 2001; Kuuluvainen et al., 2002). In addition, increased pressure on forest ecosystem goods and services in the future is expected to have negative impacts on biodiversity, highlighting the need for effective conservation measures. Although the value of prescribed fire for biodiversity conservation is widely recognized, more research is needed to increase the effectiveness of prescribed fire there (Koivula and Vanha-Majamaa, 2020; Kuuluvainen et al., 2002).

#### 5.3 Research prospects

Circumboreal forest ecosystems are exposed to a higher degree of warming than the global average as a result of warming-induced environmental changes (Cunningham et al., 2024; Ummenhofer and Meehl, 2017). These changes could affect different ecosystem services, such as carbon storage and biodiversity preservation, and also impact the availability of forest products (Adams, 2013; Allen et al., 2024; Bergeron et al., 2001). Boreal forests are experiencing increased extreme fire events (Cunningham et al., 2024), resulting in extraordinary carbon dioxide emissions and smoke (Zheng et al., 2023). A 2021 was an anomalous year because the North American and Eurasian boreal forests synchronously experienced their largest water deficits. Increasing numbers of extreme fire events and stronger climate-fire feedbacks challenge climate mitigation efforts (Zheng et al., 2023). Indeed, generally extreme events rather than average changes have the greatest impact on ecosystems and human populations (Stocks et al., 2002). This is why policymakers need not only knowledge of extreme fire events, but also robust risk assessments, predictive tools, and adaptation strategies that can guide proactive management.

In a context where extreme fire years could multiply in the future, it is important to continue improving our understanding of the factors governing LFYs. Further dendroecological studies in areas with relatively high (e.g., eastern Siberia) and low (e.g., eastern Europe) fire activity are appropriate to obtain a broader coverage history of fire regimes in the boreal biome. Despite a large amount of dendroecological work on forest fires in circumboreal forests, we still lack replicated and adequately resolved

multi-century estimates of area burned in individual landscapes, especially in the Siberian cector of the boreal biome. This lack of data hinders analyses of long-term variability in fire regimes, their effects on successional pathways, contribution to the C cycle, and resilience to future climate change. Adequate reference and verification datasets provide the basis for interpreting past and modeling future fire activity. This knowledge is also critical for understanding sub-regional patterns of fire activity across the boreal biome, especially in the context of recent studies suggesting region-specific responses of fire regimes to future climate (Girardin et al., 2009; Marlon et al., 2009). To characterize fire regimes more broadly and to better understand the spatiotemporal dynamics of extreme fire years, it would be necessary to incorporate information on fire severity (Whitman et al., 2018). In addition, the operation of high-resolution models and improved monitoring systems targeting extreme fire years should be developed (Walsh et al., 2020). Modeling techniques for boreal ecosystems and fire regimes could be improved by incorporating climate-fire interactions, fine-scale fuel dynamics, and post-fire vegetation recovery rates for more accurate and realistic simulations (Kim et al., 2024; Molinari et al., 2020; Schuur et al., 2008). Further work is also needed on the effects of extreme fire years on ecosystems and human societies, to guide forest management agencies towards management practices designed to limit fire-related threats in the regions concerned.

## APPENDIX A - MULTI-CENTURY RECONSTRUCTION SUGGESTS COMPLEX INTERACTIONS OF CLIMATE AND HUMAN CONTROLS OF FOREST FIRE ACTIVITY IN A KARELIAN BOREAL LANDSCAPE,

#### **NORTH-WEST RUSSIA**



Figure S2.1 Dynamics of the FC for (A) unit size of 78.5 ha, corresponding to a circle with 500 m radius; (B) unit size of 177 ha with 750 m radius; (C) unit size of 491 ha with 1250 m radius; and (D) unit size of 707 ha with 1500 m radius in the Kalevalsky NP over 1400–2010 AD. Dashed lines represent burned area in km<sup>2</sup> and a decade. Red line show periods with similar fire cycle as identified by regime shift analysis (Rodionov 2004) using a 10-year window. Solid black line indicates represents sample depth.

### APPENDIX B - CLIMATE DROVE THE FIRE CYCLE AND HUMANS INFLUENCED FIRE OCCURRENCE IN THE EAST EUROPEAN BOREAL



#### FOREST

Figure S3.2 Climatology of the EBZ, based on the ERAS 5 reanalysis data. The snow cover data are available from https://doi.org/10.7289/V5N014G9. A – mean December temperature, B – mean July temperature (both - in degree Celsius), C – mean winter (DJF) precipitation, D – mean summer precipitation (both – in mm/day). Snow cover depth, in m, for May (E), June (F), October (G) and November (H). The empty circle represents the study area.

# Text B1. The list of the most useful "pointer year" rings in the Yaksha Scots pine chronology.

The following rings were instrumental in dating:

- 1993 (wide ring and dark latewood),
- 1992 (a ring with narrow latewood),
- 1969 (a narrow ring with pale latewood),
- 1862 (a narrow ring with pale latewood),
- 1861 (a wide ring with dark latewood),
- 1799, 1789, and 1779 (all with narrow latewood),
- 1728 (a wide ring with dark latewood),
- 1699 (a narrow ring and pale latewood),
- 1698 (a wide ring with dark latewood),
- 1601 (a ring with pale latewood),
- 1551 (a wide ring with dark latewood),
- 1466 (a narrow ring with pale latewood),
- 1378 (narrow latewood),
- 1296, 1282, and 1281 (all wide rings with dark latewood),
- 1280, 1278, and 1274 (all with narrow rings with pale latewood)

#### Text B2. Calculation of the MDC.

The MDC value is calculated as

$$MDC = (MDC_0 + MDC_m)/2$$
,

where MDC0 is the value of the index at the end of the previous month and  $MDC_m$  is the estimate of the drought code (DC) value at the end of the focal month. In turn,  $MDC_m$  is calculated as

$$MDC_m = 400 \ln (800/Q_{mr}) + 0.25E_m$$

where

$$Q_{mr} = 800e^{(DC}_{HALF}/400) + 3.937RM_{EFF}$$

where  $RM_{EFF} = 0.83r_m$ . If  $Q_{mr} > 800$  in the equation above, then  $Q_{mr}$  should be set equal to 800.  $E_m$  is the potential evapotranspiration, which is calculated as follows:

$$E_{\rm m} = N [0.36 \ (TempMax) + L_{\rm f}]$$
.

Here TempMax is the monthly mean of daily maximum temperatures,  $L_f$  is the standard day length adjustment factor, and N is the number of days in the month.

DC<sub>HALF</sub> is the value drought code at the middle of the month:

$$DC_{HALF} = MDC_0 + 0.25 E_m$$
.

In turn, DC is calculated as

$$DC = 400 \ln (800/Q_r) + 0.5E_d$$
,

Where  $E_d$  is the daily version of potential evapotranspiration and  $Q_r$  is the moisture equivalent in the organic soil layer after rain. Further detail in MDC calculation is available in (Girardin and Wotton, 2009).



Figure S3.3 Dynamics of the FC for (A) unit size of 12.5 ha with 200 m radius; (B) unit size of 28.3 ha with 300 m radius; (C) unit size of 50.3 ha with 400 m radius; and (D) unit size of 113 ha with 600 m radius in the Pechora-Ilych NBR over 1300–2010 AD. Dashed lines represent burned area in a decade. Red line show periods with similar FC as identified by regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004) using a 10-year window. Solid black line indicates represents sample depth.



Figure S3.4 Effect of village establishments, as revealed by survivorship analyses with varying input parameters. Red color represents the period prior to village establishment and the blue color – period following the village establishment. The number of sites considered, and the length of periods compared for particular analysis are indicated on each graph.

## APPENDIX C - PDO DYNAMICS SHAPE THE FIRE REGIME OF BOREAL SUBARCTIC LANDSCAPES IN THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES,

#### CANADA

Text C1. The list of the most useful "pointer year" rings in the Yellowknife jack pine chronology. The following rings were instrumental in dating:

- 2014 (narrow and pale latewood);
- 1991, 1984 and 1957 (all with dark latewood);
- 1975, 1964 and 1927 (all with narrow latewood);
- 1836 (narrow and pale latewood);
- 1761, 1754 and 1704 (all with narrow latewood);
- 1657 (a wide ring with dark latewood);
- 1602 (narrow and pale latewood);
- 1527 (dark latewood);
- 1423 (narrow and pale latewood);
- 1393, 1364, 1323, 1288 and 1274 (all with narrow latewood);
- 1281, 1268 and 1256 (dark latewood).

Table S4.1 Contingency analysis of the large fire years (LFY) frequencies under positive/negative climate states. For the period 1400-1998 CE, probabilities of LFY occurrence were estimated from reconstructed fire chronology (this study). For the period 1950-2021 CE, we estimated the probabilities using observational data and selected thresholds (see Methods section). Percentiles represent the proportion of the bootstrapped distribution of respective frequency to the left of the observed value; these can be viewed as estimates of statistical significance of difference between observed and bootstrapped values.

Climate indices	n	Frequencies	Frequencies of events, years		Number of LFY
		Observed	Expected		years
Reconstructed PNA					
PNA -	270	0.115	0.0719	1	31
PNA +	367	0.0409	0.0724	0	15
Reconstructed ENSO					
ENSO -	17	0.118	0.0695	0.905	2
ENSO +	620	0.0710	0.0723	0.328	44
Modern PNA					
PNA -	32	0.25	0.215	0.816	8
PNA +	38	0.184	0.214	0.355	7
Modern ENSO					
ENSO -	27	0.185	0.215	0.418	5
ENSO +	43	0.233	0.214	0.777	10

Table S4.2 Results of Poisson regression test trends in the number of fires across different seasonal categories (early, mid and late) for the period 1600-1900 CE. Fire counts were aggregated by century. The fixed factor was the start of the period (century), and the dependent variable was the number of fires within each season. Poisson regression coefficients and p-values are reported for each seasonal category. A significant positive trend was observed for mid-season fires. Corresponding graphics are presented in Fig. 4.4 in the main text.

Season	Coefficient	p-value
Early Season	1.15*10-2	0.633
Mid-Season	4.19*10-2	0.021
Late Season	9.55*10-3	0.626
Table S4.3 Results of Fisher's exact tests for differences in fire occurrences across different combinations of seasons since the 1600s. Fisher's exact tests were used to assess whether there are significant differences in the distribution of fire occurrences between early, mid, and late seasons. p-values are reported for each comparison, showing no significant differences in fire occurrences between seasons.

Comparison	p-value
Early vs Mid-Season	0.454
Early vs Late-Season	0.875
Mid vs Late-Season	0.875



Figure S4.1 Adjustment of the fire occurrence for the decline in the site coverage of older part of the fire chronology. Each point represents a single 20-year period with corresponding number of fire years and the amount of "recording sites", i.e. sites which covered the period in question. The shaded area represents a confidence envelope for a linear regression with R2 = 0.46.



Figure S4.2 Historical Pacific North American teleconnection (PNA) index (A), El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) reconstruction (B) (both thin grey lines, smoothed with a spline function) and modern large fire years (LFYs) (vertical orange lines). The thick red line shows the outcome of regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004). The solid gray horizontal line refers to the climate index long-term average.



Figure S4.3 Modern Pacific North American teleconnection (PNA) index (A), El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) reconstruction (B) (both thin grey lines, smoothed with a spline function) and modern large fire years (LFYs) (vertical orange lines). The thick red line shows the outcome of regime shift analysis (Rodionov, 2004). The solid gray horizontal line refers to the climate index long-term average.



Figure S4.4 Correlation between July and August Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) and CRU TS4.08 monthly precipitation fields over the 1902-2021 period. Colored areas indicate a significant level of correlation coefficient at p < 0.10.



Figure S4.5 Correlation between July and August PDO and CRU TS4.08 Tmax anomalies over the 1902-2021 period. Colored areas indicate a significant level of correlation coefficient at p < 0.10.



Figure S4.6 Frequency of tree pith dates for sampled dead and live trees over time.

## LIST OF REFERENCES

- Aakala, T., Kuuluvainen, T., 2011. Summer droughts depress radial growth of Picea abies in pristine taiga of the Arkhangelsk province, northwestern Russia. Dendrochronologia 29, 67–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2010.07.001</u>
- Aakala, T., Pasanen, L., Helama, S., Vakkari, V., Drobyshev, I., Seppä, H., Kuuluvainen, T., Stivrins, N., Wallenius, T., Vasander, H., Holmström, L., 2018. Multiscale variation in drought controlled historical forest fire activity in the boreal forests of eastern Fennoscandia. Ecological Monographs 88, 74– 91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.127</u>
- Abramov, I.V., 2017. Distant reindeer herding in the mountains of the Northern Urals: history, routes and ethno-social significance. In: Proceedings of the Conference "Natural and historical factors of forming modern ecosystems of Middle and Northern Urals". [In Russian]
- Adams, M.A., 2013. Mega-fires, tipping points and ecosystem services: Managing forests and woodlands in an uncertain future. Forest Ecology and Management 294, 250–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.11.039
- Ahti, T. L., Hämet-Ahti, L., Jalas, J. 1968. Vegetation zones and their sections in northwestern Europe. Annales Botanici Fennici 569–211.
- Aleinikov, A., 2019. The fire history in pine forests of the plain area in the Pechora-Ilych Nature Biosphere Reserve (Russia) before 1942: possible anthropogenic causes and long-term effects. Nature Conservation Research 4, 21–34. https://doi.org/10.24189/ncr.2019.033
- Aleinikov, A., 2017a. The population and transformation features of natural landscapes of the upper Pechora River in the 15th–19th centuries. Russian Journal of Ecosystem Ecology 2(3), 1–16. [In Russian]. <u>https://doi.org/10.21685/2500-0578-2017-3</u>-2
- Aleinikov, A., 2017b. Forest fires and traditional land use in the Upper Pechora basin. Anthropogenic Transformation of Natural Environment 3, 12–15. [In Russian]
- Aleinikov, A., 2014. Historical reasons for the preservation of forests in the upper reaches of the Pechora River. Scientific Foundations of Sustainable Forest Management, pp. 49–51. [In Russian]
- Aleinikov, A., Tyurin, V., Simakin, V., Efimenko, S., Laznikov, A., 2015. Fire history of dark needle coniferous forests in Pechora-Ilych nature reserve since second half of XIX century to present time. Siberian Journal of Forest Science 2, 31–42. [In Russian]. <u>https://doi.org/10.15372/SJFS20150603</u>
- Aleinikov, A.A., Chagin, G.N., 2015. Population in Upper Pechora and Un'ya rivers in the middle of 19th – early 20th century. Proceedings of the Pechora-Ilych State Reserve 17, 4–12. [In Russian]
- Alfaro Sánchez, R., Johnstone, J., Baltzer, J., 2024. Low-severity fires in the boreal region: reproductive implications for black spruce stands in between stand-

replacing fire events. Annals of Botany 135. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcae055

- Ali, A.A., Blarquez, O., Girardin, M.P., Hely, C., Tinquaut, F., El Guellab, A., Valsecchi, V., Terrier, A., Bremond, L., Genries, A., Gauthier, S., Bergeron, Y., 2012. Control of the multimillennial wildfire size in boreal North America by spring climatic conditions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 20966–20970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.120346710</u>
- Alisov, B.P., 1936. Geographic Climate Types. Meteorology and Hydrology 6, 16-25.
- Allen, B.J., Hill, D.J., Burke, A.M., Clark, M., Marchant, R., Stringer, L.C., Williams, D.R., Lyon, C., 2024. Projected future climatic forcing on the global distribution of vegetation types. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 379, 20230011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2023.0011</u>
- Angelstam, P., Kuuluvainen, T., 2004. Boreal forest disturbance regimes, successional dynamics and landscape structures: a European perspective, Ecological Bulletins 51, 117–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/20113303</u>
- Anonymous, 1970. Indians of Yukon and Northwest Territories. Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, Ottawa. <u>https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2017/aanc-inac/R5-326-1970eng.pdf</u>
- Anonymous, 1957. Essays on the history of Karelia. Gosizdat KASSR, Petrozavodsk. 430 p. [In Russian].
- Anonymous, 1918. The Decree on Forests. Izvestia 118. [In Russian].
- Anufriev, V., 2000. Land of virgin forests. Pechoro-Ilich biosphere reserve. Syktyvkar. 157 p. [In Russian]
- Asch, M.I., 2012. Slavey. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Retrieved June 02, 2024, from <u>https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/slavey-slave</u>
- ASSR, 1989. Atlas of the Karelian ASSR. Moscow: GUGK. 40 p. [In Russian]
- Balagurov, I.A., 1959. The past of Karelia in pre-revolutionary historical and regional literature. Transactions of the Karelian Branch of the USSR Academy of Sciences 22, 87–109. [In Russian]
- Barhoumi, C., Ali, A.A., Peyron, O., Dugerdil, L., Borisova, O., Golubeva, Y., Subetto, D., Kryshen, A., Drobyshev, I., Ryzhkova, N., Joannin, S., 2020. Did long-term fire control the coniferous boreal forest composition of the northern Ural region (Komi Republic, Russia)? Journal of Biogeography 47. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13922
- Barhoumi, C., Peyron, O., Joannin, S., Subetto, D., Kryshen, A., Drobyshev, I., Girardin, M.P., Brossier, B., Paradis, L., Pastor, T., Alleaume, S., Ali, A.A., 2019. Gradually increasing forest fire activity during the Holocene in the northern Ural region (Komi Republic, Russia). Holocene 29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683619865593

- Beaudoin, A., Bernier, P.Y., Guindon, L., Villemaire, P., Guo, X., Stinson, G., Bergeron, T., Magnussen, S., Hall, R.J., 2014. Mapping attributes of Canada's forests at moderate resolution through k NN and MODIS imagery. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 521–532. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2013-0401
- Beck, P.S., Goetz, S.J., Mack, M.C., Alexander, H.D., Jin, Y., Randerson, J.T., Loranty, M., 2011. The impacts and implications of an intensifying fire regime on Alaskan boreal forest composition and albedo. Global Change Biology 17, 2853–2866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02412.x</u>
- Bergeron, Y., 2004. Is regulated even-aged management the right strategy for the Canadian boreal forest? Forestry Chronicle 80, 458–462. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc80458-4
- Bergeron, Y., 1991. The influence of island and mainland lakeshore landscapes on boreal forest fire regimes. Ecology 72, 1980–1992.
- Bergeron, Y., Brisson, J., 1990. Fire regime in red pine stands at the northern limit of the species range. Ecology 71, 1352–1364.
- Bergeron, Y., Flannigan, M., Gauthier, S., Leduc, A., Lefort, P., 2004. Past, current and future fire frequency in the Canadian boreal forest: Implications for sustainable forest management. Ambio 33, 356–360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-33.6.356</u>
- Bergeron, Y., Flannigan, M.D., 1995. Predicting the effects of climate-change on fire frequency in the southeastern Canadian boreal forest. Water Air and Soil Pollution 82, 437–444.
- Bergeron, Y., Gauthier, S., Kafka, V., Lefort, P., Lesieur, D., 2001. Natural fire frequency for the eastern Canadian boreal forest: Consequences for sustainable forestry. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31, 384–391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x00-178</u>
- Bergeron, Y., Vijayakumar, D.B.I.P., Ouzennou, H., Raulier, F., Leduc, A., Gauthier, S., 2017. Projections of future forest age class structure under the influence of fire and harvesting: implications for forest management in the boreal forest of eastern Canada. Forestry 90, 485–495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpx022</u>
- Bernier, P.Y., Gauthier, S., Jean, P.O., Manka, F., Boulanger, Y., Beaudoin, A., Guindon, L., 2016. Mapping local effects of forest properties on fire risk across Canada. Forests 7(8), 157. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f7080157</u>
- Biondi, F., 2001. A 400-year tree-ring chronology from the tropical treeline of North America. Ambio 30, 162–166.
- Bodens kommun, S., 2006. Modern tids största skogsbrand Bodträskfors. Norrbotten. [In Swedish]
- Bond-Lamberty, B., Gower, S.T., 2007. Estimation of stand-level leaf area for boreal bryophytes. Oecologia (Berlin) 151, 584–592.
- Bonsal, B., Shabbar, A., 2011. Large-scale climate oscillations influencing Canada, 1900-2008. Presented at the Canadian biodiversity: ecosystem status and trends 2010 Technical thematic report No. 4, Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers, 15 p.

- Bothwell, P.M., de Groot, W.J., Dube, D.E., Chowns, T., Carlsson, D.H., Stefner, N.C., 2004. Fire regimes in Nahanni National Park and the Mackenzie Bison Sanctuary, Northwest Territories, Canada, in: Engstrom, R.T., Galley, K.E.M., de Groot, W.J. (Eds.), Fire in temperate, boreal and montane ecosystems. Tallahassee, Florida, pp. 43–54.
- Boucher, Y., Grondin, P., Auger, I., 2014. Land use history (1840-2005) and physiography as determinants of southern boreal forests. Landscape Ecology 29, 437–450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-013-9974-x</u>
- Boulanger, Y., Arseneault, D., Bélisle, A.C., Bergeron, Y., Boucher, J., Boucher, Y., Danneyrolles, V., Erni, S., Gachon, P., Girardin, M.P., Grant, E., Grondin, P., Jetté, J.-P., Labadie, G., Leblond, M., Leduc, A., Puigdevall, J.P., St-Laurent, M.-H., Tremblay, J.A., Waldron, K., 2025. The 2023 wildfire season in Québec: an overview of extreme conditions, impacts, lessons learned, and considerations for the future. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 55, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2023-0298
- Boulanger, Y., Gauthier, S., Burton, P., Vaillancourt, M.A., 2012. An alternative fire regime zonation for Canada. International Journal of Wildland Fire 21, 1052– 1064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF11073</u>
- Boulanger, Y., Gauthier, S., Burton, P.J., 2014. A refinement of models projecting future Canadian fire regimes using homogeneous fire regime zones. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 44, 365–376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2013-0372</u>
- Bourgeau-Chavez, L., Alexander, M., Stocks, B., Kasischke, E., 2000. Distribution of Forest Ecosystems and the Role of Fire in the North American Boreal Region. In: Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J. (eds) Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest. Ecological Studies, vol 138. Springer, New York, NY. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-4\_7</u>
- Bowman, D.M.J.S., Balch, J.K., Artaxo, P., Bond, W.J., Carlson, J.M., Cochrane, M.A., D'Antonio, C.M., Defries, R.S., Doyle, J.C., Harrison, S.P., Johnston, F.H., Keeley, J.E., Krawchuk, M.A., Kull, C.A., Marston, J.B., Moritz, M.A., Prentice, I.C., Roos, C.I., Scott, A.C., Swetnam, T.W., van der Werf, G.R., Pyne, S.J., 2009. Fire in the Earth system. Science (New York, N.Y.) 324, 481–484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1163886</u>
- Bracht-Flyr, B., Fritz, S.C., 2012. Synchronous climatic change inferred from diatom records in four western Montana lakes in the U.S. Rocky Mountains. Quaternary Research 77, 456–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yqres.2011.12.005
- Bradstock, R.A., 2010. A biogeographic model of fire regimes in Australia: current and future implications. Global Ecology and Biogeography 19, 145–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2009.00512.x
- Bryukhanov, A. V., Korshunov, N.A., 2017. Aerial wildfire fighting: history, current situation, problems and perspectives. Siberian Journal of Forest Science 5, 37–54. [In Russian]. <u>https://doi.org/10.15372/sjfs20170504</u>

- Buma, B., 2015. Disturbance interactions: characterization, prediction, and the potential for cascading effects. Ecosphere 6(4), 70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/ES15-00058.1</u>
- Bunn, A.G., 2010. Statistical and visual crossdating in R using the dplR library. Dendrochronologia 28(4), 251–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2009.12.001</u>
- Burton, C., Betts, R., Jones, C., Feldpausch, T., Cardoso, M., Anderson, L., 2020. El Niño driven changes in global fire 2015/16. Frontiers in Earth Science 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2020.00199</u>
- Canada Year Book, C., 2010. In: Table 24.1 Population, by province and territory, Selected Years, 1861 to 2009. Retrieved from <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-402-x/2010000/chap/pop/tbl/tbl01-eng.htm</u>
- Carcaillet, C., Bergman, I., Delorme, S., Hornberg, G., Zackrisson, O., 2007. Longterm fire frequency not linked to prehistoric occupations in northern Swedish boreal forest. Ecology 88, 465–477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2007)88[465:LFFNLT]2.0.CO;2</u>
- Cecil, D.J., 2006. LIS/OTD 0.5 Degree High Resolution Annual Climatology (HRAC) .<u>https://doi.org/undefined</u>
- Chagin, G.N., 2017. Kolva, Chusovskoy, Pechora: history, culture, life from antiquity to 1917, Perm. ed. Pushka. 672 p. [In Russian]
- Chagin, G.N., 2015. Social and economic development of the Cherdyn-Pechora area in 18th – early 20th centuries. Perm University Herald-History 1, 183–194.
- Chagin, G.N., 2012. Mansi of the Northern Urals: economy, worldview, relations with other nations in the first third of the XX century. Perm University Herald. History 1(18), 144–150 [In Russian].
- Chavardès, R.D., Danneyrolles, V., Portier, J., Girardin, M.P., Gaboriau, D.M., Gauthier, S., Drobyshev, I., Cyr, D., Wallenius, T., Bergeron, Y., 2022.
  Converging and diverging burn rates in North American boreal forests from the Little Ice Age to the present. International Journal of Wildland Fire 31, 1184–1193.<u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF22090</u>
- Chen, S., Yu, B., Wu, R., Chen, W., Song, L., 2021. The dominant North Pacific atmospheric circulation patterns and their relations to Pacific SSTs: historical simulations and future projections in the IPCC AR6 models. Climate Dynamics 56, 701–725. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-020-05501-1
- Cherdyn Regional Museum. Forestry Fund., 1910. Individual cases of violation. 1880-1910. In: Cherdyn Regional Museum. [In Russian]
- Cherdyn Regional Museum. Forestry Fund., 1894. Archival inventory of cases of Kolvinskoe forest district from 1842 to 1894. In Cherdyn Regional Museum. [In Russian]
- Chubinskii, P.P., 1866. Statistical and ethnographic essay of Korela, in: Proceedings of the Arkhangelsk Statistical Committee for 1885. Arkhangelsk, pp. 65–134.

- Clark, J.S., 1990. Landscape interactions among nitrogen mineralization, species composition, and long-term fire frequency. Biogeochemistry 11, 1–22.
- Clear, J.L., Seppa, H., Kuosmanen, N., Bradshaw, R.H., 2013. Holocene fire frequency variability in Vesijako, Strict Nature Reserve, Finland, and its application to conservation and management. Biological Conservation 166, 90–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.06.008</u>
- Coates, K., 1985. Canada's colonies: a history of the Yukon and Northwest Territories. Toronto: Lorimer, Toronto. 260 p.
- Cohen, A.S., 2003. Paleolimnology: the history and evolution of lake systems. Oxford University Press, New York. 500 p. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780195133530.001.0001
- Collins, W.B., Dale, B.W., Adams, L.G., Mcelwain, D.E., Joly, K., 2011. Fire, grazing history, lichen abundance, and winter distribution of caribou in Alaska's taiga. The Journal of Wildlife Management 75, 369–377. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.39
- Conedera, M., Tinner, W., Neff, C., Meurer, M., Dickens, A.F., Krebs, P., 2009. Reconstructing past fire regimes: methods, applications, and relevance to fire management and conservation. Quaternary Science Reviews 28, 555–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2008.11.005</u>
- Coogan, S.C.P., Robinne, F.-N., Jain, P., Flannigan, M.D., 2019. Scientists' warning on wildfire – a Canadian perspective. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 49, 1015–1023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2019-0094</u>
- Cuerrier, A., Turner, N., C Gomes, T., Garibaldi, A., Downing, A., 2015. Cultural Keystone Places: Conservation and Restoration in Cultural Landscapes. Journal of Ethnobiology 35, 427. <u>https://doi.org/10.2993/0278-0771-35.3.427</u>
- Cunningham, C.X., Williamson, G.J., Bowman, D.M.J.S., 2024. Increasing frequency and intensity of the most extreme wildfires on Earth. Nature Ecology & Evolution 8, 1420–1425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-024-02452-2</u>
- Cyr, D., Gauthier, S., Bergeron, Y., 2007. Scale-dependent determinants of heterogeneity in fire frequency in a coniferous boreal forest of eastern Canada. Landscape Ecology 22, 1325–1339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-007-9109-3</u>
- Dalton, A.S., Patterson, R., Roe, H., Macumber, A., Swindles, G., Galloway, J., Vermaire, J., Crann, C., Falck, H., 2018. Late Holocene climatic variability in Subarctic Canada: Insights from a high-resolution lake record from the central Northwest Territories. PLoS ONE 13, e0199872. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199872
- D'Arrigo, R., Villalba, R., Wiles, G., 2001. Tree-ring estimates of Pacific decadal climate variability. Climate Dynamics 18, 219–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s003820100177</u>
- de Groot, W J, Cantin, A.S., Flannigan, M.D., Soja, A.J., Gowman, L.M., Newbery, A., 2013. A comparison of Canadian and Russian boreal forest fire regimes.

Forest Ecology and Management 294, 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.07.033

- de Groot, W.J., Chowns, T., 1994. Fire History of the Fort Providence, NWT area: A Preliminary Assessment. In: Duncan, T.A., Foster, W.A.D., Lanoville, R.A. (Eds.), Presented at the 1992 annual meeting and workshop of the Interior West Fire Council on "Managing Fire Dependant Ecosystems: Options and Technologies". Northern Forestry Centre, pp. 55–63.
- de Groot, William J, Flannigan, M.D., Cantin, A.S., 2013. Climate change impacts on future boreal fire regimes. Forest Ecology and Management 294, 35–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.09.027</u>
- Dedeev, V., 1997. Geological structure, in: Stolpovski., P.M. (Ed.), Republic of Komi, Vol. I. Komi Publishing House, Syktyvkar, pp. 18–20. [In Russian]
- Degteva, S. V., Ponomarev, V.I., Eisenman, S.W., Dushenkov, V., 2015. Striking the balance: Challenges and perspectives for the protected areas network in northeastern European Russia. Ambio 44, 473–490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0636-x
- Delwaide, A., Asselin, H., Arseneault, D., Lavoie, C., Payette, S., 2021. A 2233-year tree-ring chronology of subarctic black spruce (*Picea mariana*): growth forms response to long-term climate change. Écoscience 28, 399–419. https://doi.org/10.1080/11956860.2021.1952014
- Deser, C., Hurrell, J.W., Phillips, A.S., 2017. The role of the North Atlantic Oscillation in European climate projections. Climate Dynamics 49, 3141– 3157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-016-3502-z</u>
- Dissing, D., Verbyla, D.L., 2003. Spatial patterns of lightning strikes in interior Alaska and their relations to elevation and vegetation. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33, 770–782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x02-214</u>
- Dmitriev, A.A., 1893. The origin of the name and the fate of Bukhonin's volok. Perm region 1. [In Russian]
- Drobyshev, I., Bergeron, Y., de Vernal, A., Moberg, A., Ali, A., Niklasson, M., 2016. Atlantic SSTs control regime shifts in forest fire activity of Northern Scandinavia. Scientific Reports 6, 22532–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22532</u>
- Drobyshev, I., Bergeron, Y., Girardin, M., Gauthier, S., Ols, C., Ojal, J., 2017. Strong gradients in forest sensitivity to climate change revealed by dynamics of forest fire cycles in post Little Ice Age era. Journal of Geophysical Research Biogeosciences. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017JG003826</u>
- Drobyshev, I., Bergeron, Y., Linderholm, H.W., Granstrom, A., Niklasson, M., 2015. A 700-year record of large fire years in northern Scandinavia shows large variability and increased frequency during the 1800s. Journal of Quaternary Science 30, 211–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jqs.2765</u>
- Drobyshev, I., Goebel, P., Bergeron, Y., Corace, R., 2012. Detecting changes in climate forcing on the fire regime of a North American mixed-pine forest: A case study of Seney National Wildlife Refuge, Upper Michigan.

Dendrochronologia 30, 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2011.07.002

- Drobyshev, I., Goebel, P.C., Hix, D.M., Corace, R.G., Semko-Duncan, M.E., 2008. Interactions among forest composition, structure, fuel loadings and fire history: A case study of red pine-dominated forests of Seney National Wildlife Refuge, Upper Michigan. Forest Ecology and Management 256, 1723–1733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.05.017</u>
- Drobyshev, I., Granstrom, A., Linderholm, H.W., Hellberg, E., Bergeron, Y., Niklasson, M., 2014. Multi-century reconstruction of fire activity in Northern European boreal forest suggests differences in regional fire regimes and their sensitivity to climate. Journal of Ecology 102, 738–748. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12235
- Drobyshev, I., Niklasson, M., 2004. Linking tree rings, summer aridity, and regional fire data: an example from the boreal forests of the Komi Republic, East European Russia. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34, 2327–2339. https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-112
- Drobyshev, I., Niklasson, M., Angelstam, P., 2004a. Contrasting tree-ring data with fire record in a pine-dominated landscape in Komi republic (Eastern European Russia): recovering a common climate signal. Silva Fennica 38, 43–53. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.434
- Drobyshev, I., Niklasson, M., Angelstam, P., Majewski, P., 2004b. Testing for anthropogenic influence on fire regime for a 600-year period in the Jaksha area, Komi Republic, East European Russia. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34, 2027–2036. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-081</u>
- Drobyshev, I., Niklasson, M., Linderholm, H., 2012. Forest fire activity in Sweden: Climatic controls and geographical patterns in the 20th century. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 154–155, 174–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.11.002
- Drobyshev, I., Ryzhkova, N., Eden, J., Kitenberga, M., Pinto, G., Lindberg, H., Krikken, F., Yermokhin, M., Bergeron, Y., Kryshen, A., 2021. Trends and patterns in annually burned forest areas and fire weather across the European boreal zone in the 20 th and early 21 st centuries. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 306, 108467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2021.108467</u>
- Drobyshev, I., Ryzhkova, N., Niklasson, M., Zhukov, A., Mullonen, I., Pinto, G., Kryshen', A., 2022. Marginal imprint of human land use upon fire history in a mire-dominated boreal landscape of the Veps Highland, North-West Russia. Forest Ecology and Management 507, 120007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120007</u>
- Drury, S.A., Grissom, P.J., 2008. Fire history and fire management implications in the Yukon Flats National Wildlife Refuge, interior Alaska. Forest Ecology and Management 256, 304–312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.04.040</u>

- Duffy, P.A., Walsh, J.E., Graham, J.M., Mann, D.H., Rupp, T.S., 2005. Impacts of large-scale atmospheric-ocean variability on Alaskan fire season severity. Ecological Applications 15, 1317–1330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0739</u>
- Dyke, A., 2005. Late Quaternary Vegetation History of Northern North America Based on Pollen, Macrofossil, and Faunal Remains. Géographie physique et Quaternaire 59, 211–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/014755ar</u>
- Ecosystem Classification Group, 2008. Ecological regions of the Northwest Territories-Taiga shield, 146.
- Eden, J.M., Krikken, F., Drobyshev, I., 2020. An empirical prediction approach for seasonal fire risk in the boreal forests. International Journal of Climatology 40, 2732–2744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6363</u>
- Epp, H., Lanoville, R., 1996. Satellite data and geographic information systems for fire and resource management in the Canadian arctic. Geocarto International 11, 97–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049609354537</u>
- Erni, S., Arseneault, D., Parisien, M.A., Bégin, Y., 2017. Spatial and temporal dimensions of fire activity in the fire-prone eastern Canadian taiga. Global Change Biology 23, 1152–1166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13461</u>
- Fedorov, A.V., Hu, S., Wittenberg, A.T., Levine, A.F.Z., Deser, C., 2020. ENSO low-frequency modulation and mean state interactions, in: El Niño Southern Oscillation in a Changing Climate, Geophysical Monograph Series. pp. 173– 198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119548164.ch8</u>
- Felis, T., Suzuki, A., Kuhnert, H., Rimbu, N., Kawahata, H., 2010. Pacific Decadal Oscillation documented in a coral record of North Pacific winter temperature since 1873. Geophysical Research Letters 37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL043572</u>
- Ferrenberg, S., Schwilk, D.W., Knapp, E.E., Groth, E., Keeley, J.E., 2006. Fire decreases arthropod abundance but increases diversity: Early and late season prescribed fire effects in a Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forest. Fire Ecology 2, 79–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.4996/fireecology.0202079</u>
- Flannigan, M., Amiro, B.D., Logan, K.A., Stocks, B.J., Wotton, B.M., 2005. Forest fires and climate change in the 21st century. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 11, 847–859. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-005-9020-7</u>
- Flannigan, M., Stocks, B., Turetsky, Wotton, M., 2009. Impact of climate change on fire activity and fire management in the circumboreal forest. Global Change Biology 15, 549–560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01660.x</u>
- Flannigan, M.D., Wotton, B.M., 2001. Climate, weather, and area burned, in: Johnson, E.A., Miyanishi, K. (Eds.), Forest Fires: Behavior and Ecological Effects. Academic Press, San Francisco, CA, pp. 315–373.
- Flannigan, M.D., Wotton, B.M., 1991. Lightning-ignited forest-fires in Northwestern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 21, 277–287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x91-035</u>

- Folland, C.K., Knight, J., Linderholm, H.W., Fereday, D., Ineson, S., Hurrell, J.W., 2009. The summer North Atlantic Oscillation: past, present, and future. Journal of Climate 22, 1082–1103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/2008JCLI2459.1</u>
- Forster, W., 1995. Northwest Territories fire weather report. Fort Smith, Northwest Territories: Territorial Forest Fire Centre, GNWT Department of Renewable Resources. p. 63.
- Fromm, M., Lindsey, D.T., Servranckx, R., Yue, G., Trickl, T., Sica, R., Doucet, P., Godin-Beekmann, S., 2010. The untold story of pyrocumulonimbus. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 91, 1193–1210. https://doi.org/10.1175/2010BAMS3004.1
- Gaboriau, D.M., Chaste, É., Girardin, M.P., Asselin, H., Ali, A.A., Bergeron, Y., Hély, C., 2023. Interactions within the climate-vegetation-fire nexus may transform 21st century boreal forests in northwestern Canada. iScience 26, 106807. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2023.106807</u>
- Gaboriau, D.M., Remy, C.C., Girardin, M.P., Asselin, H., Hély, C., Bergeron, Y., Ali, A.A., 2020. Temperature and fuel availability control fire size/severity in the boreal forest of central Northwest Territories, Canada. Quaternary Science Reviews 250, 106697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2020.106697</u>
- Gagen, M., Zorita, E., McCarroll, D., Young, G.H., Grudd, H., Jalkanen, R., Loader, N.J., Robertson, I., Kirchhefer, A., 2011. Cloud response to summer temperatures in Fennoscandia over the last thousand years. Geophysical Research Letters 38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL046216</u>
- Gauthier, S., Bergeron, Y., Simon, J.P., 1996. Effects of fire regime on the serotiny level of jack pine. The Journal of ecology 84, 539–548. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2261476</u>
- Gavin, D.G., Brubaker, L.B., Lertzman, K.P., 2003. Holocene fire history of a coastal temperate rain forest based on soil charcoal radiocarbon dates. Ecology 84, 186–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-</u> <u>9658(2003)084[0186:HFHOAC]2.0.CO;2</u>
- Gedalof, Z., Mantua, N.J., Peterson, D.L., 2002. A multi-century perspective of variability in the Pacific Decadal Oscillation: new insights from tree rings and coral. Geophysical Research Letters 29, 57–1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2002GL015824</u>
- Gedalof, Z., Peterson, D.L., Mantua, N.J., 2005. Atmospheric, climatic, and ecological controls on extreme wildfire years in the northwestern United States. Ecological Applications 15, 154–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5116</u>
- Gedalof, Z., Smith, D.J., 2001. Dendroclimatic response of mountain hemlock (Tsuga mertensiana) in Pacific North America. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31, 322–332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x00-169</u>
- Gershunov, A., Barnett, T., Cayan, D., 1999. North Pacific interdecadal oscillation seen as factor in ENSO-related North American climate anomalies. EOS Transactions 80, 25–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/99EO00019</u>

- Girardin, M., Ali, A., Carcaillet, C., Mudelsee, M., Drobyshev, I., Hely, C., Bergeron, Y., 2009. Heterogeneous response of circumboreal wildfire risk to climate change since the early 1900s. Global Change Biology 15, 2751–2769. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01869.x
- Girardin, M., Tardif, J., Flannigan, M., Bergeron, Y., 2004. Multicentury reconstruction of the Canadian Drought Code from eastern Canada and its relationship with paleoclimatic indices of atmospheric circulation. Climate Dynamics 23, 99–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-004-0417-x</u>
- Girardin, M., Wotton, M., 2009. Summer Moisture and Wildfire Risks across Canada. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/2008JAMC1996.1</u>
- Girardin, M.P., Ali, A.A., Carcaillet, C., Gauthier, S., Hely, C., Le Goff, H., Terrier, A., Bergeron, Y., 2013. Fire in managed forests of eastern Canada: Risks and options. Forest Ecology and Management 294, 238–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.07.005</u>
- Girardin, M. P., Tardif, J., Flannigan, M.D., 2006. Temporal variability in area burned for the province of Ontario, Canada, during the past 200 years inferred from tree rings. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2005JD006815</u>
- Girardin, M.P., Tardif, J.C., Flannigan, M.D., Bergeron, Y., 2006. Synoptic-scale atmospheric circulation and Boreal Canada summer drought variability of the past three centuries. Journal of Climate 19, 1922–1947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI3716.1</u>
- Girardin, M.P., Tardif, J.C., Flannigan, M.D., Bergeron, Y., 2006. Forest fireconducive drought variability in the southern Canadian boreal forest and associated climatology inferred from tree rings. Canadian Water Resources Journal 31, 275–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.4296/cwrj3104275</u>
- Glushkov, I.N., 1900. Cherdynsk Voguls. Ethnographic review. Moscow: A. A. Levenson. p. 65. [In Russian]
- GNWT, [Government of the Northwest Territories], 2008. History of mining in the Northwest Territories. Government of the Northwest Territories. Retrieved from <u>http://www.iti.gov.nt.ca/about-iti/copyright.shtml</u>
- Goldammer, J.G., 2006. Global Forest Resource Assessment 2005 report on fires in the Central Asian Region and adjacent countries. Working Paper FM/16/E, Forestry Department, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations. p. 16.
- Golovnev, A.V., 1993. Historical typology of the economy of the peoples of North-Western Siberia. Publishing house Novosibirsk. 204 p. [In Russian].
- Golubtsov, N.A., Ivanovskii, A.V., Lengauer, V.A., 1908. Arkhangelsk Karelia. Arkhangelsk: Arkhangelsk Provincial Statistical Committee. p. 144. [In Russian]
- Gorham, E., 1991. Northern peatlands role in the carbon-cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. Ecological Applications 1, 182–195.

- Gorkovets, V.Y., Rayevskaya, M.B., 2002. Geological characteristics and assessment of the study area. – In: Gromtsev, A.N. (eds.), Natural complexes, flora and fauna of the proposed Kalevala National Park. The Finnish Environment 577, 9–10. [In Russian]
- Gorshkov, V.V., Bakkal, I.J., Stavrova, N.I., 1996. Postfire recovery of forest litter in Scots pine forests in two different regions of boreal zone. Silva Fennica 30, 209–219.
- Granström, A., 2001. Fire management for biodiversity in the European boreal forest. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16(sup003), 62–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/028275801300090627
- Granström, A., 1993. Spatial and temporal variation in lightning ignitions in Sweden. Journal of Vegetation Science 4, 737–744.
- Granström, A., Niklasson, M., 2008. Potentials and limitations for human control over historic fire regimes in the boreal forest. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 363, 2353–2358. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2205
- Grissino-Mayer, H.D., 2001. Evaluating crossdating accuracy: a manual and tutorial for the computer program COFECHA. Tree-Ring Research 57, 205–221.
- Grissino-Mayer, H.D., Romme, W.H., Lisa Floyd, M., Hanna, D.D., 2004. Climatic and human influences on fire regimes of the southern San Juan Mountains, Colorado, USA. Ecology 85, 1708–1724. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-0425
- Grissino-Mayer, H.D., Swetnam, T.W., 2000. Century-scale climate forcing of fire regimes in the American Southwest. Holocene 10, 213–220. https://doi.org/10.1191/0959683006684512
- Gromtsev, A.N., 2009. Forests of Kostomukshsky Strict Nature Reserve: structure, dynamics, landscape patterns. Transactions of Karelian Research Centre of Russian Academy of Science 2, 71–78. [In Russian]
- Gromtsev, A.N., 2002. Natural disturbance dynamics in the boreal forests of European Russia: A review. Silva Fennica 36, 41–55.
- Gromtsev, A.N., Kitaev, S.P., Krutov, V.I., Kuznetsov, O.L., Lindholm, T., Yakovlev, E.B., 2003. Biotic diversity of Karelia: conditions of formation, communities and species. Karelian Research Centre of RAS, Petrozavodsk, pp. 47–50. [In Russian]
- Gromtsev, A.N., Presnukhin, Y.V., Shelekhov, A., 2002. Characteristics and assessment of forest ecosystems In: Gromtsev, A.N. (eds.), Natural complexes, flora and fauna of the proposed Kalevala National Park. The Finnish Environment 577, 21–25. [In Russian]
- Groven, R., Niklasson, M., 2005. Anthropogenic impact on past and present fire regimes in a boreal forest landscape of southeastern Norway. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35, 2719–2726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x05-186</u>
- Guslitser, B.I., Kanivets, V.I., 1965. Caves of the Pechora Urals. Moscow; Leningrad: Nauka, p. 133. [In Russian]

- Hall, R., Erdélyi, R., Hanna, E., Jones, J.M., Scaife, A.A., 2015. Drivers of North Atlantic Polar Front jet stream variability. International Journal of Climatology 35, 1697–1720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4121</u>
- Hanes, C.C., Wang, X., Jain, P., Parisien, M.A., Little, J.M., Flannigan, M.D., 2019. Fire-regime changes in Canada over the last half century. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 49, 256–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2018-0293</u>
- Harris, I., Jones, P.D., Osborn, T.J., Lister, D.H., 2014. Updated high-resolution grids of monthly climatic observations – the CRU TS3.10 Dataset. International Journal of Climatology 34, 623–642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3711</u>
- Hart, S.J., Henkelman, J., McLoughlin, P.D., Nielsen, S.E., Truchon-Savard, A., Johnstone, J.F., 2019. Examining forest resilience to changing fire frequency in a fire-prone region of boreal forest. Global Change Biology 25, 869–884. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14550</u>
- Hart, S.J., Smith, D.J., Clague, J.J., 2010. A multi-species dendroclimatic reconstruction of Chilko River streamflow, British Columbia, Canada. Hydrological Processes 24, 2752–2761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.7674</u>
- Helama, S., Merilänen, J., Tuomenvirta, H., 2009. Multicentennial megadrought in northern Europe coincided with a global El Niño-Southern Oscillation drought pattern during Medieval Climate Anomaly. Geology 37, 175–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1130/G25329A.1</u>
- Hellberg, E., Josefsson, T., Ostlund, L., 2009. The transformation of a Norway spruce dominated landscape since pre-industrial times in Northern Sweden: the influence of modern forest management on forest structure. Silva Fennica 43, 783–797. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.173</u>
- Hellberg, E., Niklasson, M., Granström, A., 2004. Influence of landscape structure on patterns of forest fires in boreal forest landscapes in Sweden. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34, 332–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x03-175</u>
- Helm, J., 1981. Handbook of North American Indians: Subarctic. Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.
- Henke, L.M.K., Lambert, F.H., Charman, D.J., 2017. Was the Little Ice Age more or less El Niño-like than the Medieval Climate Anomaly? Evidence from hydrological and temperature proxy data. Climate of the Past 13(3), 267-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-13-267-2017</u>
- Hess, J.C., Scott, C.A., Hufford, G.L., Fleming, M.D., 2001. El Niño and its impact on fire weather conditions in Alaska. International Journal of Wildland Fire 10, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF01007
- Hessl, A., Mckenzie, D., Schellhaas, A., 2004. Drought and Pacific Decadal Oscillation linked to fire occurrence in the Inland Pacific Northwest. Ecological Applications 14, 425–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5019</u>
- Heyerdahl, E.K., Brubaker, L.B., Agee, J.K., 2002. Annual and decadal climate forcing of historical fire regimes in the interior Pacific Northwest, USA. Holocene 12, 597–604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/0959683602hl570rp</u>

- Heyerdahl, E.K., Morgan, P., Riser, J.P., 2008. Multi-season climate synchronized historical fires in dry forests (1650-1900), northern Rockies, USA. Ecology 89, 705–716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/06-2047.1</u>
- Hijmans R.J., Guarino L., Cruz M., E., R., 2001. Computer tools for spatial analysis of plant genetic resources data: 1. DIVA-GIS. Plant Genetic Resources Newsletter 127, 15–19.
- Högbom, A.G., Wiksell, A.&, 1934. Om skogseldar förr och nu och deras roll i skogarnas utvecklingshistoria. Uppsala & Stockholm. [In Swedish]
- Holman, H.L., 1944. Report on forest fire protection in the Mackenzie District NWT. National. Archives of Canada, Record Group 39, Vol. 464, File 50050.
- Holmes, R.L., 1999. Dendrochronological Program Library (DPL). Users Manual. Laboratory of Tree-Ring Res., University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA.
- Holmes, R.L., 1983. Computer-assisted quality control in tree-ring dating and measurement. Tree Ring Bulletin 43, 69–78.
- Holmquist, J.R., Booth, R.K., MacDonald, G.M., 2016. Boreal peatland water table depth and carbon accumulation during the Holocene thermal maximum, Roman Warm Period, and Medieval Climate Anomaly. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 444, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2015.11.035
- Holsinger, L., Parks, S.A., Miller, C., 2016. Weather, fuels, and topography impede wildland fire spread in western US landscapes. Forest Ecology and Management 380, 59–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.08.035</u>
- Hope, E.S., McKenney, D.W., Pedlar, J.H., Stocks, B.J., Gauthier, S., 2016. Wildfire suppression costs for Canada under a changing climate. PLoS ONE 11, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157425
- Hörnberg, G., Josefsson, T., Deluca, T.H., Higuera, P.E., Liedgren, L., Ostlund, L., Bergman, I., 2018. Anthropogenic use of fire led to degraded scots pinelichen forest in northern Sweden. Anthropocene 24, 14–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ancene.2018.10.002</u>
- Hu, Z.-Z., Huang, B., 2009. Interferential Impact of ENSO and PDO on Dry and Wet Conditions in the U.S. Great Plains. Journal of Climate 22, 6047–6065. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2798.1</u>
- Huang, B., Thorne, P.W., Banzon, V.F., Boyer, T., Chepurin, G., Lawrimore, J.H., Menne, M.J., Smith, T.M., Vose, R.S., Zhang, H.-M., 2017. Extended Reconstructed Sea Surface Temperature, Version 5 (ERSSTv5): Upgrades, Validations, and Intercomparisons. Journal of Climate 30, 8179–8205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/jcli-d-16-0836.1</u>
- Hurrell, J.W., 1996. Influence of variations in extratropical wintertime teleconnections on northern hemisphere temperature. Geophysical Research Letters 23, 665–668. https://doi.org/10.1029/96GL00459
- Hurrell, J.W., Deser, C., 2009. North Atlantic climate variability: The role of the North Atlantic Oscillation. Journal of Marine Systems 78(1), 28–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2008.11.026</u>

- Ivanishcheva, O.N., Ershtadt, A.M., 2014. The dictionary of words describing traditional crafts and economic occupations of the Kola Saami (as exemplified by the Kildin dialect of the Saami language). Murmansk: MGGU.
- Japan Meteorological Agency, 2024. Reconstruction of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) index [Dataset]. Japan Meteorological Agency. Retrieved from <u>https://ds.data.jma.go.jp/tcc/tcc/products/elnino/</u>
- Jia, X., Ge, J., 2017. Modulation of the PDO to the relationship between moderate ENSO events and the winter climate over North America. International Journal of Climatology 37, 4275–4287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5083</u>
- Johnson, E.A., 1992. Fire and vegetation dynamics. Studies from the North American boreal forest. Cambridge University Press, New York. <u>doi:10.1017/CBO9780511623516</u>
- Johnson, E.A., Miyanishi, K., 2012. The boreal forest as a cultural landscape. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1249, 151–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06312.x
- Johnson, E.A., Wowchuk, D.R., 1993. Wildfires in the southern Canadian Rockymountains and their relationship to midtropospheric anomalies. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23, 1213–1222.
- Johnson, E.A.A., Miyanishi, K., Weir, J.M.H.M.H., 1998. Wildfires in the western Canadian boreal forest: Landscape patterns and ecosystem management. Journal of Vegetation Science 9, 603–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3237276</u>
- Johnson, L.B., Kipfmueller, K.F., 2016. A fire history derived from Pinus resinosa Ait. for the Islands of Eastern Lac La Croix, Minnesota, USA. Ecological Applications 26, 1030–1046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1151</u>
- Johnstone, J., Chapin, F., 2006. Effects of soil burn severity on post-fire tree recruitment in boreal forest. Ecosystems 9, 14–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-004-0042-x</u>
- June, H., Andrews, T.D., 2009. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Historica Canada. Tlicho (Dogrib). Retrieved from https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/tlicho-dogrib
- Justino, F., Bromwich, D.H., Schumacher, V., daSilva, A., Wang, S.-H., 2022. Arctic Oscillation and Pacific-North American pattern dominated-modulation of fire danger and wildfire occurrence. npj Climate and Atmospheric Science 5, 52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41612-022-00274-2</u>
- Juvelius, J.W., 1889. Muistoja pohjoisen Venäjän Karjalan muinaisuudesta., in: Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seuran Kirjapainossa. Helsinki, pp. 1–89.
- Kaplan, E.L., Meier, P., 1958. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. Journal of the American Statistical Association 53, 457–481.
- Kasischke, E., Stocks, B., 2000. Fire, Climate change, and carbon cycling in the boreal forest. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-4</u>
- Kasischke, E.S., Turetsky, M.R., 2006. Recent changes in the fire regime across the North American boreal region Spatial and temporal patterns of burning

across Canada and Alaska. Geophysical Research Letters 33, L09703. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL025677

- Kay, C.E., 2000. Native burning in Western North America: Implications for hardwood forest management, in: Yaussy, D.A. (Ed.), Proceedings: Workshop on Fire, People, and the Central Hardwoods Landscape, Gen. Tech. Rep. NE-274. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northeastern Research Station, Richmond, KY, pp. 19–27.
- Keenan, R.J., 2015. Climate change impacts and adaptation in forest management: a review. Annals of Forest Science 72, 145–167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-014-0446-5
- Kim, I.-W., Timmermann, A., Kim, J.-E., Rodgers, K.B., Lee, S.-S., Lee, H., Wieder, W.R., 2024. Abrupt increase in Arctic-Subarctic wildfires caused by future permafrost thaw. Nature Communications 15, 7868. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-51471-x</u>
- Kitzberger, T., Brown, P.M., Heyerdahl, E.K., Swetnam, T.W., Veblen, T.T., 2007. Contingent Pacific-Atlantic Ocean influence on multicentury wildfire synchrony over western North America. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 543–548.
- Klement'ev, E.I., Shlygina, N.V., 2003. Baltic-Finnish peoples of Russia. Moscow: Nauka. [In Russian]
- Kneeshaw, D., Bergeron, Y., Kuuluvainen, T., 2011. Dynamics across the Circumboreal Forest, in: Millington, A., Blumler, M., Schickhoff, U. (Eds.), The SAGE Handbook of Biogeography. pp. 261–278.
- Knorr, W., Arneth, A., Jiang, L., 2016. Demographic controls of future global fire risk. Nature Climate Change 6, 781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2999</u>
- Kochkurkina, S.I., 2000. Suunnittelun Kalevalan kansallispuiston (Venehjärvi) kulttuurihistoriallinen perintö, in: Sammon Säkeniä. Rovaniemi, pp. 72–87.
- Kochtubajda, B., Flannigan, M.D., Gyakum, J.R., Stewart, R.E., Logan, K.A., Nguyen, T.-V., 2006. Lightning and fires in the Northwest Territories and responses to future climate change. Arctic 59, 211–221. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40512795
- Kochtubajda, B., Stewart, R.E., Flannigan, M.D., Bonsal, B.R., Cuell, C., Mooney, C.J., 2019. An Assessment of Surface and Atmospheric Conditions Associated with the Extreme 2014 Wildfire Season in Canada's Northwest Territories. Atmosphere-Ocean 57, 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/07055900.2019.1576023
- Kochtubajda, B., Stewart, R.E., Gyakum, J.R., Flannigan, M.D., 2002. Summer convection and lightning over the Mackenzie river basin and their Impacts during 1994 and 1995. Atmosphere-Ocean 40, 199–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.3137/ao.400208</u>
- Koivula, M., Vanha-Majamaa, I., 2020. Experimental evidence on biodiversity impacts of variable retention forestry, prescribed burning, and deadwood

manipulation in Fennoscandia. Ecological Processes 9, 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13717-019-0209-1

Korchagin, P.A., Lobanova, A.S., 2012. Sketches on the Early History of Perm the Great: Water-Log Paths. Vestnik Permskogo universiteta. Ser.: Istoriya 1 (18), 121–134. [In Russian]

- Kosmenko, MikhailG., 1978. The archaeological complex Mesolithic epoch on the Kento-Kostomuksha lake system. Mesolithic Monuments of Karelia, pp. 59– 94. [In Russian]
- Kozubov, G.M., Taskaev, A.I. (Eds), 1999. Forestry and forest resources of the Komi Republic. Publishing center "Design. Information. Cartography". P. 512. [In Russian]
- Krikken, F., Lehner, F., Haustein, K., Drobyshev, I., Van Oldenborgh, G.J., 2019.
   Attribution of the role of climate change in the forest fires in Sweden 2018.
   Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences Discussions, pp. 1–24.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-2019-206">https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-2019-206</a>
- Krivoshchekov, I.Ya., 1914. Geographical and statistical dictionary of Cherdynsky district of Perm province. Edition of Perm. P. 850. [In Russian]
- Kuosmanen, N., Fang, K., Bradshaw, R.H.W., Clear, J.L., Seppä, H., 2014. Role of forest fires in Holocene stand-scale dynamics in the unmanaged taiga forest of northwestern Russia. The Holocene 24, 1503–1514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683614544065</u>
- Kuosmanen, N., Seppa, H., Reitalu, T., Alenius, T., Bradshaw, R.H., Clear, J.L., Filimonova, L., Kuznetsov, O., Zaretskaya, N., 2016. Long-term forest composition and its drivers in taiga forest in NW Russia. Vegetation History and Archaeobotany 25, 221–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-015-0542-y</u>
- Kuosmanen, N., Väliranta, M., Piilo, S., Tuittila, E.-S., Oksanen, P., Wallenius, T., 2023. Repeated fires in forested peatlands in sporadic permafrost zone in Western Canada. Environmental Research Letters 18, 094051. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/acf05b</u>
- Kurbatsky, N.P., 1976. On the mechanism of forest fire generation by lightning. Sylvics 3, 95–98.
- Kuuluvainen, T., 2002. Natural variability of forests as a reference for restoring and managing biological diversity in boreal Fennoscandia. Silva Fennica 36, 97–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.552</u>
- Kuuluvainen, T., Aakala, T., 2011. Natural forest dynamics in boreal Fennoscandia: a review and classification. Silva Fennica 45, 823–841. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.73</u>
- Kuuluvainen, T., Aapala, K., Ahlroth, P., Kuusinen, M., Lindholm, T., Sallantaus, T., Siitonen, J., Tukia, H., 2002. Principles of ecological restoration of boreal forested ecosystems: Finland as an example. Silva Fennica 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.572</u>

- Kuuluvainen, T., Rouvinen, S., 2000. Post-fire understorey regeneration in boreal *Pinus sylvestris* forest sites with different fire histories. Journal of Vegetation Science 11, 801–812.
- Laestadius, P., 1833. Fortsättning af Journalen öfver missions-resor i Lappmarken innefattande åren 1828–1832. Stockholm, Sweden. [In Swedish]
- Larin, V., 1997. Forests, their exploitation and regeneration, in: Stolpovski., P.M. (Ed.), Republic of Komi, Vol. I. Komi Publishing House, Syktyvkar, pp. 34– 40. [In Russian].
- Larkin, N.K., Harrison, D.E., 2002. ENSO Warm (El Niño) and Cold (La Niña) Event Life Cycles: Ocean Surface Anomaly Patterns, Their Symmetries, Asymmetries, and Implications. Journal of Climate 15, 1118–1140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0442(2002)015<1118:EWENOA>2.0.CO;2</u>
- Larsen, C.P.S., 1997. Spatial and Temporal Variations in Boreal Forest Fire Frequency in Northern Alberta. Journal of Biogeography 24, 663–673.
- Larsen, C.P.S., MacDonald, G.M., 1998. Fire and vegetation dynamics in a jack pine and black spruce forest reconstructed using fossil pollen and charcoal. Journal of Ecology 86, 815–828.
- Larson, S.M., Okumura, Y., Bellomo, K., Breeden, M.L., 2022. Destructive Interference of ENSO on North Pacific SST and North American Precipitation Associated with Aleutian Low Variability. Journal of Climate 35, 3567–3585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-21-0560.1</u>
- Larsson, L.A., 2018. Cybis dendro dating program v. 9.1.
- Larsson, L.A., 2017. Cybis dendro dating program v. 9.0.
- Lashuk, L.P., 1958. Report on ethnic history of the Pechora Region (experience of historical ethnographic research). Syktyvkar: Komi. [In Russian].
- Latifovic, R., Pouliot, D., Olthof, I., 2017. Circa 2010 land cover of Canada: Local optimization methodology and product development. Remote Sensing 9, 1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9111098</u>
- Latkin, V.N., 1843. Travel diary to Pechora River during the 1840-1843. [In Russian]
- Lavrenko, E.M., Vasilev, Y.Y., Leskov, A.I., 1947. Geobotanical zoning of the USSR, Proceedings of the Commission on Natural Historical Zoning of the USSR. Academy of Science of the USSR, Moscow, Leningrad. [In Russian]
- Le Goff, H., Girardin, M.P., Flannigan, M.D., Bergeron, Y., 2008. Dendroclimatic inference of wildfire activity in Quebec over the 20th century and implications for natural disturbance-based forest management at the northern limit of the commercial forest. International Journal of Wildland Fire 17, 348–362. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF07080
- Lehtonen, H., 1997. Forest fire history in North Karelia: a dendroecological approach. PhD thesis, University of Joensuu, Finland. 23 p.
- Lehtonen, H., Huttunen, P., 1997. History of forest fires in eastern Finland from the fifteenth century AD -the possible effects of slash-and-burn cultivation, Holocene 7(2), 223–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/095968369700700210</u>

- Lehtonen, H., Huttunen, P., Zetterberg, P., 1996. Influence of man on forest fire frequency in North Karelia, Finland, as evidenced by fire scars on Scots pines. Annales Botanici Fennici 33, 257–263.
- Lehtonen, H., Kolström, T., 2000. Forest fire history in Viena Karelia, Russia. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 15, 585–590.
- Lehtonen, I., Venälaïnen, A., Kämäraïnen, M., Peltola, H., Gregow, H., 2016. Risk of large-scale fires in boreal forests of Finland under changing climate. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences 16, 239–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-16-239-2016</u>
- Lewis, H.T., 1982. A time for burning. Boreal Institute for Northern Studies, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.
- Lewis, K., Johnson, C., Karim, M., 2019. Fire and lichen dynamics in the Taiga Shield of the Northwest Territories and implications for barren-ground caribou winter forage. Journal of Vegetation Science 30, 448–460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12736</u>
- Li, J., Xie, S.-P., Cook, E.R., Huang, G., D'Arrigo, R., Liu, F., Ma, J., Zheng, X.-T., 2011. Interdecadal modulation of El Niño amplitude during the past millennium. Nature Climate Change 1, 114–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1086</u>
- Liu, Z., Risi, C., Codron, F., He, X., Poulsen, C.J., Wei, Z., Chen, D., Li, S., Bowen, G.J., 2021. Acceleration of western Arctic sea ice loss linked to the Pacific North American pattern. Nature Communications 12, 1519–1519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21830-z</u>
- Liu, Z., Tang, Y., Jian, Z., Poulsen, C., Welker, J., Bowen, G., 2017. Pacific North American circulation pattern links external forcing and North American hydroclimatic change over the past millennium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 3340–3345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618201114</u>
- Loope, W.L., Anderton, J.B., 1998. Human vs. lightning ignition of presettlement surface fires in coastal pine forests of the upper Great Lakes. American Midland Naturalist 140, 206–218.
- Luoto, T.P., Helama, S., 2010. Palaeoclimatological and palaeolimnological records from fossil midges and tree-rings: the role of the North Atlantic Oscillation in eastern Finland through the Medieval Climate Anomaly and Little Ice Age. Quaternary Science Reviews 29, 2411–2423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2010.06.015
- Luterbacher, J., Xoplaki, E., Dietrich, D., Rickli, R., Jacobeit, J., Beck, C., Gyalistras, D., Schmutz, C., Wanner, H., 2002. Reconstruction of Sea Level Pressure fields over the Eastern North Atlantic and Europe back to 1500. Climate Dynamics 18, 545–561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-001-0196-6
- Lyu, L., Büntgen, U., Treydte, K., Yu, K., Liang, H., Reinig, F., Nievergelt, D., Li, M.-H., Cherubini, P., 2019. Tree rings reveal hydroclimatic fingerprints of the

Pacific Decadal Oscillation on the Tibetan Plateau. Climate Dynamics 53, 1023–1037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-019-04629-z</u>

- MacDonald, G., 1995. Vegetation of the Continental Northwest Territories at 6 ka BP. Géographie physique et Quaternaire 49, 37–43. https://doi.org/10.7202/033028ar
- MacDonald, G., Porinchu, D., Rolland, N., Kremenetsky, K., Kaufman, D., 2008. Paleolimnological evidence of the response of the central Canadian treeline zone to radiative forcing and hemispheric patterns of temperature change over the past 2000 years. Journal of Paleolimnology 41, 129–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10933-008-9250-2
- MacDonald, G.M., Case, R.A., 2005. Variations in the Pacific Decadal Oscillation over the past millennium. Geophysical Research Letters 32, L08703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2005GL022478</u>
- Macias-Fauria, M., Johnson, E.A., 2008. Climate and wildfires in the North American boreal forest. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 363, 2317–2329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2202</u>
- Macias-Fauria, M., Johnson, E.A., 2006. Large-scale climatic patterns control large lightning fire occurrence in Canada and Alaska forest regions. Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences 111. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JG000181
- Mäkelä, H.M., Venäläinen, A., Jylhä, K., Lehtonen, I., Gregow, H., 2014. Probabilistic projections of climatological forest fire danger in Finland. Climate Research 60, 73–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/cr01223</u>
- Manov, A., Kutyavin, I., 2018. Stand structure of the old-growth postfire crowberrylichen pine forest in Pechora basin. Russian Journal of Forest Science 6, 434– 443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S0024114818050054</u>
- Mantua, N.J., Hare, S.R., Zhang, Y., Wallace, J.M., Francis, R.C., Mantua, N.J., Hare, S.R., Zhang, Y., Wallace, J.M., Francis, R.C., 1997. A Pacific Interdecadal Climate Oscillation with Impacts on Salmon Production. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 78, 1069–1080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0477(1997)078<1069:APICOW>2.0.CO;2.</u>
- Marlon, J., Bartlein, P., Walsh, M., Harrison, S., Brown, K., Edwards, M., Higuera, P., Power, M., Anderson, R., Briles, C., Brunelle, A., Carcaillet, C., Daniels, M., Hu, F., Lavoie, M., Long, C., Minckley, T., Richard, P., Scott, A., Shafer, D., Tinner, W., Umbanhowar, C., Whitlock, C., 2009. Wildfire responses to abrupt climate change in North America. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 2519–2524.
- Marlon, J.R., Bartlein, P.J., Carcaillet, C., Gavin, D.G., Harrison, S.P., Higuera, P.E., Joos, F., Power, M.J., Prentice, I.C., 2008. Climate and human influences on global biomass burning over the past two millennia. Nature Geoscience 1, 697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo313</u>
- Marlon, J.R., Bartlein, P.J., Gavin, D.G., Long, C.J., Anderson, R., Briles, C.E., Brown, K.J., Colombaroli, D., Hallett, D.J., Power, M.J., Scharf, E.A., Walsh,

M.K., 2012. Long-term perspective on wildfires in the western USA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, E535–E543. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1112839109

- McLauchlan, K., Higuera, P., Miesel, J., Rogers, B., Schweitzer, J., Shuman, J., Tepley, A., Varner, J., Veblen, T., Adalsteinsson, S., Balch, J., Baker, P., Batllori, E., Bigio, E., Brando, P., Cattau, M., Chipman, M., Coen, J., Crandall, R., Watts, A., 2020. Fire as a fundamental ecological process: Research advances and frontiers. Journal of Ecology 108, 2047–2069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13403</u>
- Melekhov, I.S., 1946. Forest fire seasons and building the geographical scheme of forest fire belts. Proceedings of the Arkhangelsk Forestry Institute 8, 1–15. [In Russian]
- Melnikov, B.V., 1852. Information about the nomadic Mansi in the Berezovsky district. The Imperial Russian Geographical Society Herald 3, 23–30. [In Russian]
- Meriläinen, J., Lindholm, M., Timonen, M., 2014. International Tree-Ring Databank. Retrieved from https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/paleo-search/study/3978.
- Milovanovich, D.A., 1926. Forests of the Pechora region. Report of the Pechora Forest Economic Expedition 483. [In Russian]
- Miuller, R.B., 1978. Lapland pogosts, in: Agrarian History of the North-West of Russia of the XVII Century: North, Pskov. Leningrad, p. 80–86. [In Russian]
- Molinari, C., Carcaillet, C., Bradshaw, R.H.W., Hannon, G.E., Lehsten, V., 2020. Fire-vegetation interactions during the last 11,000 years in boreal and cold temperate forests of Fennoscandia. Quaternary Science Reviews 241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2020.106408</u>
- Mori, A.S., 2011. Climatic variability regulates the occurrence and extent of large fires in the subalpine forests of the Canadian Rockies. Ecosphere 2, art7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/ES10-00174.1</u>
- Morice, C.P., Kennedy, J.J., Rayner, N.A., Jones, P.D., 2012. Quantifying uncertainties in global and regional temperature change using an ensemble of observational estimates: The HadCRUT4 data set. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 117.
- Moritz, M.A., Batllori, E., Bradstock, R.A., Gill, A.M., Handmer, J., Hessburg, P.F., Leonard, J., McCaffrey, S., Odion, D.C., Schoennagel, T., Syphard, A.D., 2014. Learning to coexist with wildfire. Nature 515, 58–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13946</u>
- MSB, 2015. Skogsbranden i Västmanland 2014 Observatörsrapport.
- Nash, C.H., Johnson, E.A., 1996. Synoptic climatology of lightning-caused forest fires in subalpine and boreal forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 26, 1859–1874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x26-211</u>
- Nat, S., 1915a. Woods and waters of Pechora region, Vologda province, Part 2. Forest Journal 5, 787–815. [In Russian]

- Nat, S., 1915b. Woods and waters of Pechora region, Vologda province. Forest Journal 4, 531–561. [In Russian]
- Natural Resources Canada, 2019. Forest fact book 2018-2019, p. 52.
- NCEI, [National Centers for Environmental Information], 2023. Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO). National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncei.noaa.gov/access/monitoring/pdo/</u>
- Needlay, L., Needlay, E., Leverkus, K., Wolfenden, S., 2012. The Dene interaction with fire: a traditional perspective amongst recovering wood bison populations. In: The Dene fire project.
- Nevalainen, L., Helama, S., Luoto, T.P., 2013. Hydroclimatic variations over the last millennium in eastern Finland disentangled by fossil Cladocera. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 378, 13–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2013.03.016</u>
- Newman, M., Alexander, M.A., Ault, T.R., Cobb, K.M., Deser, C., Di Lorenzo, E., Mantua, N.J., Miller, A.J., Minobe, S., Nakamura, H., Schneider, N., Vimont, D.J., Phillips, A.S., Scott, J.D., Smith, C.A., 2016. The Pacific Decadal Oscillation, Revisited. Journal of Climate 29, 4399–4427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-15-0508.1</u>
- Niebauer, H.J., 1998. Variability in Bering Sea ice cover as affected by a regime shift in the North Pacific in the period 1947–1996. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans 103, 27717–27737. https://doi.org/10.1029/98JC02499
- Niklasson, M., Drakenberg, B., 2001. A 600-year tree-ring fire history from Norra Kvills National Park, southern Sweden: implications for conservation strategies in the hemiboreal zone. Biological Conservation 101, 63–71.
- Niklasson, M., Drobyshev, I., Zielonka, T., 2010. A 400-year history of fires on lake islands in south-east Sweden. International Journal of Wildland Fire 19, 1050–1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF09117</u>
- Niklasson, M., Granström, A., 2000. Numbers and sizes of fires: Long-term spatially explicit fire history in a Swedish boreal landscape. Ecology 81, 1484–1499. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[1484:NASOFL]2.0.CO;2
- Nilsen, T., Divine, D.V., Hofgaard, A., Born, A., Jungclaus, J., Drobyshev, I., 2019. Coupling between the North Atlantic subpolar gyre vigor and forest fire activity in northern Scandinavia. Climate of the Past Discuss. [preprint], https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-2019-123
- NTENR, [Northwest Territories Environment and Natural Resources], 2015. 2014 NWT Fire Season: Review Report. Yellowknife.
- Nygerd, T., 1980. Ita-karjalan pakolaiset 1917-1922. Jyväskylä: Jyväskylän yliopisto. [In Finnish]
- Olenev, P.V., 1902. About Karelia. Supplement to the journal Niva in 1902 10–12, 255–654. [In Russian].
- Ortega, P., Lehner, F., Swingedouw, D., Masson-Delmotte, V., Raible, C.C., Casado, M., Yiou, P., 2015. A model-tested North Atlantic Oscillation reconstruction

for the past millennium. Nature 523, 71–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14518

- Östlund, L., 1993. Exploitation and structural changes in the north Swedish boreal forest, Dissertati. ed. Sveriges lantbruksuniv., Umeå.
- Oswald, W.W., Foster, D.R., Shuman, B.N., Chilton, E.S., Doucette, D.L., Duranleau, D.L., 2020. Conservation implications of limited Native American impacts in pre-contact New England. Nature Sustainability 3, 241–246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0466-0</u>
- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Phillips, O.L., Jackson, R.B., 2013. The Structure, Distribution, and Biomass of the World's Forests. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 44, 593–622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevecolsys-110512-135914</u>
- Pavlov, P., Roebroeks, W., Svendsen, J., 2004. The Pleistocene colonization of northeastern Europe. Journal of Human Evolution 47, 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2004.05.002
- Payette, S., 1992. Fire as a controlling process in the North American boreal forest, in: Bonan, G.B., Shugart, H.H., Leemans, R. (Eds.), A Systems Analysis of the Global Boreal Forest. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 144– 169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511565489.006</u>
- Peterson, D., Reich, P., 2001. Prescribed fire in oak savanna: Fire frequency effects on stand structure and dynamics. Ecological Applications 11, 914–927.
- Pinto, G., Rousseu, F., Niklasson, M., Drobyshev, I., 2020. Effects of human-related and biotic landscape features on the occurrence and size of modern forest fires in Sweden. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 291, 108084. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2020.108084</u>
- Pinto, G.A.S.J., Niklasson, M., Ryzhkova, N., Drobyshev, I., 2020. A 500-year history of forest fires in Sala area, central Sweden, shows the earliest known onset of fire suppression in Scandinavia. Regional Environmental Change 20, 130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-020-01718-2
- Pisaric, M., St-Onge, S., Kokelj, S., 2009. Tree-ring reconstruction of early-growing season precipitation from Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, Canada. Arctic Antarctic and Alpine Research 41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-41.4.486</u>
- Pitkanen, A., Gronlund, E., 2001. A 600-year forest fire record in a varved lake sediment (Ristijarvi, Northern Karelia, Eastern Finland). Annales Botanici Fennici 38, 63–73. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/23726834</u>
- Pitkanen, A., Huttunen, P., Jungner, H., Merilainen, J., Tolonen, K., 2003. Holocene fire history of middle boreal pine forest sites in eastern Finland. Annales Botanici Fennici 40, 15–33.
- Pöllä, M., 1995. Vienan Karjalan etnisen koostumuksen muutokset 1600–1800luvulla. Suomalaisen Kirjallisuuden Seura, 353. [In Finnish]
- Pollack, H.N., Demezhko, D.Y., Duchkov, A.D., Golovanova, I. V., Huang, S., Shchapov, V.A., Smerdon, J.E., 2003. Surface temperature trends in Russia

over the past five centuries reconstructed from borehole temperatures. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth 108, 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1029/2002jb002154

- Popov, N.S., 1801. Historical and geographical description of the Perm province. Perm Tipografiya. [In Russian]
- Popov, V.E., 1892. Memory book and address calendar of the Perm province for the year 1892. Perm: Tipografiya Gubernskoy zemskoy upravy. [In Russian]
- Popova, V., Uryupina, N., Panyukova, A., Sivohi, I., Bazhukovoj, I., 2012. Homeland at the facts and faces: the Troitsko-Pechorsky region before 1907. Troitsko-Pechorsk library, Troitsko-Pechorsk. [In Russian]
- Portier, J., Gauthier, S., Leduc, A., Arseneault, D., Bergeron, Y., 2016. Fire Regime along Latitudinal Gradients of Continuous to Discontinuous Coniferous Boreal Forests in Eastern Canada. Forests 7, 211–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f7100211</u>
- Potter, E.B., Charney, J.J., Heilman, E.W., Bian, X., 2004. Advances in Fire Convection Dynamics.
- Price, R., 1967. Yellowknife. Peter Martin Associates, Toronto. p. 22.
- Pyne, S.J., 1997. World fire: the culture of fire on Earth. University of Washington Press. p. 408.
- Qin, M., Hu, L., Qin, Z., Wan, L., Qin, L., Cao, W., Wu, S., Du, Z., 2023. Pacific Decadal Oscillation forecasting with spatiotemporal embedding network. Geophysical Research Letters 50, e2023GL103170-e2023GL103170. https://doi.org/10.1029/2023GL103170
- Raevsky, B., 2017. The structure of forest land and forest stands of the Kostomukshsky strict nature reserve compared to Kalevalsky national park. Transactions of Karelian Research Centre of Russian Academy of Science 4, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.17076/them532</u> [In Russian]
- Raita-Hakola, A.-M., Pölönen, I., 2024. Firefront forecasting in boreal forests: machine learning approach to predict wildfire propagation. International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences XLVIII(3), 445–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/isprs-archives-XLVIII-3-2024-445-2024</u>
- Ramos, R.D., Goodkin, N.F., Siringan, F.P., Hughen, K.A., 2019. Coral records of temperature and salinity in the tropical western Pacific reveal influence of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation since the late nineteenth century. Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology 34, 1344–1358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2019PA003684</u>
- Reed, W.J., 2000. Reconstructing the history of forest fire frequency: identifying hazard rate change points using the Bayes Information Criterion. The Canadian Journal of Statistics 28, 353–365.
- Reich, P.B., Bakken, P., Carlson, D., Frelich, L.E., Steve, K., Reich, P.B., Bakken, P., Carlson, D., Frelich, L., Friedman, S.K., Grigal, D.F., 2001. Influence of

logging, fire, and forest type on biodiversity and productivity in southern boreal forests. Ecology 82, 2731–2748. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2679957</u>

Ridington, R., 2012. Subarctic Indigenous Peoples in Canada. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Retrieved from <u>https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/aboriginal-people-</u> subarctic

- Rodionov, S., 2006. Use of prewhitening in climate regime shift detection. Geophysical Research Letters 33, L12707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2006gl025904</u>
- Rodionov, S., Overland, J.E., 2005. Application of a sequential regime shift detection method to the Bering Sea ecosystem. Ices Journal of Marine Science 62, 328– 332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.icesjms.2005.01.013</u>
- Rodionov, S.N., 2004. A sequential algorithm for testing climate regime shifts. Geophysical Research Letters 31, L09204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GL019448</u>
- Rodysill, J.R., Anderson, Lesleigh, Cronin, T.M., Jones, M.C., Thompson, R.S., Wahl, D.B., Willard, D.A., Addison, J.A., Alder, J.R., Anderson, K.H., Anderson, Lysanna, Barron, J.A., Bernhardt, C.E., Hostetler, S.W., Kehrwald, N.M., Khan, N.S., Richey, J.N., Starratt, S.W., Strickland, L.E., Toomey, M.R., Treat, C.C., Wingard, G.L., 2018. A North American hydroclimate synthesis (NAHS) of the common era. Global and Planetary Change 162, 175–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2017.12.025</u>
- Rogers, B.M., Soja, A.J., Goulden, M.L., Randerson, J.T., 2015. Influence of tree species on continental differences in boreal fires and climate feedbacks. Nature Geoscience 8, 228–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo2352</u>
- Rolstad, J., Blanck, Y.L., Storaunet, K.O., 2017. Fire history in a western Fennoscandian boreal forest as influenced by human land use and climate. Ecological Monographs 87, 219–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1244</u>
- Rowe, J.S., 1972. Forest regions of Canada. Canadian Forestry Service, Department of Fisheries and the Environment, Ottawa. P. 172.
- Ruokolainen, A., Kotkova, V., 2014. Aphyllophoroid fungi of the Kalevalsky national park and its surroundings. Transactions of Karelian Research Centre of Russian Academy of Science 6, 89–95. [In Russian]
- Rychkov, N.P., 1770. The Diary, or Daily travel notes of Captain Rychkov's Journey to various provinces of the Russian State in 1769 and 1770. Saint Petersburg: Typography of the Imperial Academy of Sciences. [In Russian]
- Ryzhkova, N., Asselin, H., Ali, A.A., Kryshen, A., Bergeron, Y., Robles, D., Pineda-Zapata, S., Drobyshev, I., 2025. PDO dynamics shape the fire regime of boreal Subarctic landscapes in the Northwest Territories, Canada. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 130, e2024JG008178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2024JG008178</u>
- Ryzhkova, N., Kryshen', A., Niklasson, M., Pinto, G., Aleinikov, A., Kutyavin, I., Bergeron, Y., Adam, A.A., Drobyshev, I., 2022. Climate drove the fire cycle

and humans influenced fire occurrence in the East European boreal forest. Ecological Monographs, 92, 4 e1530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecm.1530</u>

Ryzhkova, N., Pinto, G., Kryshen', A., Bergeron, Y., Ols, C., Drobyshev, I., 2020. Multi-century reconstruction suggests complex interactions of climate and human controls of forest fire activity in a Karelian boreal landscape, North-West Russia. Forest Ecology and Management 459, 117770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117770</u>

- Sarvas, R., 1937. Havaintoja kasvillisuuden kehityksestä Pohjois-Suomen kuloaloilla. Suomen Metsätieteellinen Seura, Finska Forstsamfundet. [In Finnish]
- Savage, M., Swetnam, T.W., 1990. Early 19th-Century Fire Decline Following Sheep Pasturing in a Navajo Ponderosa Pine Forest. Ecology 71, 2374–2378. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1938649</u>
- Schimmel, J., Granström, A., 1997. Fuel succession and fire behavior in the Swedish boreal forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27, 1207–1216.
- Schimmel, J., Granström, A., 1996. Fire severity and vegetation response in the boreal Swedish forest. Ecology 77, 1436–1450.
- Schoennagel, T., Veblen, T.T., Romme, W.H., Sibold, J.S., Cook, E.R., 2005. ENSO and PDO variability affect drought-induced fire occurrence in Rocky Mountain subalpine forests. Ecological Applications 15, 2000–2014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1579</u>
- Scholten, R.C., Jandt, R., Miller, E.A., Rogers, B.M., Veraverbeke, S., 2021. Overwintering fires in boreal forests. Nature 593, 399–404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03437-y</u>
- Schuur, E.A.G., Bockheim, J., Canadell, J.G., Euskirchen, E., Field, C.B., Goryachkin, S.V., Hagemann, S., Kuhry, P., Lafleur, P.M., Lee, H., Mazhitova, G., Nelson, F.E., Rinke, A., Romanovsky, V.E., Shiklomanov, N., Tarnocai, C., Venevsky, S., Vogel, J.G., Zimov, S.A., 2008. Vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change: implications for the global carbon cycle. BioScience 58, 701–714. https://doi.org/10.1641/B580807
- Scott, A., Bowman, D., Bond, W., Pyne, S., Alexander, M., 2014. Fire on Earth: An Introduction. P. 434.
- Seftigen, K., Linderholm, H.W., Drobyshev, I., Niklasson, M., 2013. Reconstructed drought variability in southeastern Sweden since the 1650s. International Journal of Climatology 33, 2449–2458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3592</u>
- Shabbar, A., Bonsal, B., Khandekar, M., 1997a. Canadian precipitation patterns associated with the southern oscillation. Journal of Climate 10, 3016–3027.
- Shabbar, A., Higuchi, K., Skinner, W., Knox, J.L., 1997b. The association between the BWA index and winter surface temperature variability over eastern Canada and west Greenland. International Journal of Climatology 17, 1195– 1210.
- Sharma, A., Jain, P., Abatzoglou, J., Flannigan, M., 2022. Persistent positive anomalies in geopotential heights promote wildfires in Western North

America. Journal of Climate 35, 6469–6486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-21-0926.1</u>

- Shen, C., Wang, W.-C., Gong, W., Hao, Z., 2006. A Pacific Decadal Oscillation record since 1470 AD reconstructed from proxy data of summer rainfall over Eastern China. Geophysical Research Letters 33, L03702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2005GL024804</u>
- Sheng, Y., Smith, L., MacDonald, G., Frey, K., Velichko, A., Lee, M., Beilman, D., Dubinin, P., Kremenetski, K.V., 2004. A high-resolution GIS-based inventory of the west Siberian peat carbon pool. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 18, GB3004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2003GB002190</u>
- Shvidenko, A.Z., Nilsson, S., 2000. Extent, Distribution, and ecological role of fire in Russian Forests. In: Kasischke, E.S., Stocks, B.J. (eds) Fire, Climate Change, and Carbon Cycling in the Boreal Forest. Ecological Studies, vol 138. Springer, New York, NY. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21629-4\_8</u>
- Siqueira, L., Ramírez, E., Camayo, R., 2019. An overview of the El Niño, La Niña, and the Southern Oscillation Phenomena: theory, observations, and modeling links. In: Bacelar Lima Santos, L., Galante Negri, R., de Carvalho, T. (eds) Towards Mathematics, Computers and Environment: A Disasters Perspective. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-21205-6\_1</u>
- Sivokha, I.N., 2001. The history of settlement and administrative-territorial division of the upper Pechora River, in: Museums and Local History. pp. 152–166. [In Russian]
- Skinner, W.R., Flannigan, M.D., Stocks, B.J., Martell, D.L., Wotton, B.M., Todd, J.B., Mason, J.A., Logan, K.A., Bosch, E.M., 2002. A 500 hPa synoptic wildland fire climatology for large Canadian forest fires, 1959–1996. Theoretical and Applied Climatology 71, 157–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s007040200002</u>
- Slezkine, Y., 1994. Arctic Mirrors: Russia and the Small Peoples of the North. Cornell University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.7591/j.ctvrf89hb</u>
- Smirnova, E., Bergeron, Y., Brais, S., 2008. Influence of fire intensity on structure and composition of jack pine stands in the boreal forest of Quebec: Live trees, understory vegetation and dead wood dynamics. Forest Ecology and Management 255, 2916–2927. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.01.071
- Sokolova, Z.P., 2009. Khanty and Mansi: a view from the 21st century. Moscow: Nauka [In Russian].
- Statistics Canada, S., 2022. Population by province and territory (Northwest Territories). Retrieved from <u>https://www.statsnwt.ca/population/population-estimates/</u>
- Statistics, S., 2010. Russian Federal State Statistics Service. All-Russian Population Census, vol. 1, Russian Federal State Statistics Service. [In Russian]
- Steinman, B.A., Abbott, M.B., Mann, M.E., Stansell, N.D., Finney, B.P., 2012. 1,500 year quantitative reconstruction of winter precipitation in the Pacific

Northwest. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 11619–11623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1201083109</u>

- Stephens, S.L., Agee, J.K., Fulé, P.Z., North, M.P., Romme, W.H., Swetnam, T.W., Turner, M.G., 2013. Managing forests and fire in changing climates. Science 342, 41–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1240294</u>
- Stocks, B.J., Conard, S.G., 2000. Forest fire research in North America and Russia: building on past accomplishments to address current and future needs, in: Krishnapillay, B. (Ed.), Forests and Society: The Role of Research, XXI IUFRO World Congress. pp. 34–44.
- Stocks, B.J., Lynham, T.J., 1996. Fire weather climatology in Canada and Russia, in: Goldammer, J.G., Furyaev, V.V. (Eds.), Fire in Ecosystems of Boreal Eurasia. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 481–494.
- Stocks, B.J., Martell, D.L., 2016. Forest fire management expenditures in Canada: 1970–2013. The Forestry Chronicle 92, 298–306. https://doi.org/10.5558/tfc2016-056
- Stocks, B.J., Mason, J.A., Todd, J.B., Bosch, E.M., Wotton, B.M., Amiro, B.D., Flannigan, M.D., Hirsch, K.G., Logan, K.A., Martell, D.L., Skinner, W.R., 2003. Large forest fires in Canada, 1959-1997. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 107, 8149–8149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2001jd000484</u>
- Stocks, B.J., Mason, J.A., Todd, J.B., Bosch, E.M., Wotton, B.M., Amiro, B.D., Flannigan, M.D., Hirsch, K.G., Logan, K.A., Martell, D.L., Skinner, W.R., 2002. Large forest fires in Canada, 1959–1997. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 108. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1029/2001JD000484</u>
- Stokes, M.A., Smiley, T.L., 1968. An introduction to tree-ring dating. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, USA.
- Stolpovski, P.M., (eds), 1997. Republic of Komi 1997-2000. Komi Publishing House. [In Russian]
- Stolyarchyuk, L.V., Belaya, A.Yu., 1982. Rainless thunderstorms and forest fires. Lesovedenie 7, 49-50. [In Russian]
- Stralberg, D., Wang, X., Parisien, M.-A., Robinne, F.-N., Sólymos, P., Mahon, C.L., Nielsen, S.E., Bayne, E.M., 2018. Wildfire-mediated vegetation change in boreal forests of Alberta, Canada. Ecosphere 9, e02156. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2156
- Sulphur, K.C., Goldsmith, S.A., Galloway, J.M., Macumber, A., Griffith, F., Swindles, G.T., Patterson, R.T., Falck, H., Clark, I.D., 2016. Holocene fire regimes and treeline migration rates in sub-arctic Canada. Global and Planetary Change 145, 42–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2016.08.003</u>
- Swetnam, T.W., 1993. Fire history and climate-change in Giant Sequoia groves. Science 262, 885–889.
- Swetnam, T.W., Allen, C.D., Betancourt, J.L., 1999. Applied historical ecology: Using the past to manage for the future. Ecological Applications 9, 1189– 1206.

- Tardif, J., 2004. Fire history in the Duck Mountain provincial forest, Western Manitoba, sustainable forest management network project reports 2003/2004 series. University of Alberta, Edmonton.
- Tarnocai, C., Kettles, I.M., Lacelle, B., 2011. Peatlands of Canada, geological survey of Canada, open file. Natural Resources Canada. https://doi.org/10.4095/288786
- Taschetto, A.S., Ummenhofer, C.C., Stuecker, M.F., Dommenget, D., Ashok, K., Rodrigues, R.R., Yeh, S.-W., 2020. ENSO atmospheric teleconnections, in: El Niño Southern Oscillation in a changing climate, Geophysical Monograph Series. pp. 309–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119548164.ch14</u>
- Taskaev, A.I., 2006. Virgin forests of Komi. The UNESCO world cultural and natural heritage site.
- Taylor, K., Mcginley, S., Potito, A., Molloy, K., Beilman, D., 2018. A mid to late Holocene chironomid-inferred temperature record from northwest Ireland. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 505, 274–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2018.06.006
- Thompson, D., Parisien, M., Morin, J., Millard, K., Larsen, C., Simpson, B., 2017. Fuel accumulation in a high-frequency boreal wildfire regime: from wetland to upland. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 47, 957–964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2016-0475</u>
- Tillman, P., Holzkämper, S., Kuhry, P., Sannel, A., Loader, N., Robertson, I., 2010. Long-term climate variability in continental subarctic Canada: A 6200-year record derived from stable isotopes in peat. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 298, 235–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2010.09.029
- Trenberth, K., 1992. Climate system modelling, International Journal of Climatology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3370140208</u>
- Trenberth, K.E., 1997. The Definition of El Niño. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 78, 2771–2778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0477(1997)078<2771:TDOENO>2.0.CO;2</u>
- Trouet, V., Taylor, A., Carleton, A., Skinner, C., 2009. Interannual variations in fire weather, fire extent, and synoptic-scale circulation patterns in northern California and Oregon. Theoretical and Applied Climatology 95, 349–360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-008-0012-x</u>
- Trouet, V., Taylor, A.H., 2010. Multi-century variability in the Pacific North American circulation pattern reconstructed from tree rings. Climate Dynamics 35, 953–963. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-009-0605-9</u>
- Trouet, V., van Oldenborgh, G.J., 2013. KNMI Climate Explorer: A web-based research tool for high-resolution paleoclimatology. Tree-Ring Research 69, 3–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3959/1536-1098-69.1.3</u>
- Tryterud, E., 2003. Forest fire history in Norway: from fire-disturbed pine forests to fire-free spruce forests. Ecography 26, 161–170. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3683431
- Turner, N.J., 1999. Time to burn: Traditional use of fire to enhance resource production by aboriginal peoples in British Columbia. In Indians, fire and the land in the Pacific Northwest. Edited by R. Boyd. Corvallis: Oregon State University Press 185–218.
- Tymstra, C., Stocks, B.J., Cai, X., Flannigan, M.D., 2020. Wildfire management in Canada: Review, challenges and opportunities. Progress in Disaster Science 5, 100045. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdisas.2019.100045
- Ulianov, L.I., Fotieva, L., 1920. Resolution of the Council of Labor and Defense of the RSFSR "On the fight against forest fires" dated July 27, 1920. [In Russian]
- Ummenhofer, C.C., Meehl, G.A., 2017. Extreme weather and climate events with ecological relevance: a review. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 372, 20160135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0135</u>
- van der Schrier, G., Barkmeijer, J., 2007. North American 1818-1824 drought and 1825-1840 pluvial and their possible relation to the atmospheric circulation. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 112, D13102.
- Van Wagner, C.E., 1978. Age class distribution and the forest fire cycle. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 8, 220–227.
- Varsanof'eva, V.A., 1940. Geological structure of the Pechora-Ilychsky State Reserve. Trudy of the Pechora-Ilych State Reserve 1, 5–214. [In Russian]
- Varsanofieva, V.A., 1929. Geographical essay of the river basin Unya. Northern Asia: popular scientific journal 1, 77–109. [In Russian]
- Vasilevskii, A.P., 1949. Essay on the history of metallurgy of the Olonets region in the XVI - XVII centuries. State publishing house of the Karelian-Finnish SSR, Petrozavodsk. [In Russian]
- Veijola, P., 1998. Suomen metsänrajametsien käyttö ja suojelu. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 692. [In Finnish]
- Velikanov, A., 1887. The trade route to the Pechora region and improving communication lines. Printing house of the provincial government, Kazan. [In Russian]
- Veraverbeke, S., Rogers, B.M., Goulden, M.L., Jandt, R.R., Miller, C.E., Wiggins, E.B., Randerson, J.T., 2017. Lightning as a major driver of recent large fire years in North American boreal forests. Nature Climate Change 7, 529–534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3329</u>
- Waito, J., Girardin, M.P., Tardif, J.C., Conciatori, F., Bergeron, Y., Ali, A.A., 2018. Recent fire activity in the boreal eastern interior of North America is below that of the past 2000 years. Ecosphere 9, e02287. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2287

- Wallace, J.M., Gutzler, D.S., 1981. Teleconnections in the geopotential height field during the Northern Hemisphere winter. Monthly Weather Review 109, 784– 812. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0493(1981)109<0784:TITGHF>2.0.CO;2
- Wallenius, T., 2011. Major decline in fires in coniferous forests reconstructing the phenomenon and seeking for the cause. Silva Fennica 45, 139–155. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.36
- Wallenius, T., Pennanen, J., Burton, P., 2011. Long-term decreasing trend in forest fires in northwestern Canada. Ecosphere 2, 53–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/ES11-00055.1</u>
- Wallenius, T.H., Kuuluvainen, T., Vanha-Majamaa, I., 2004. Fire history in relation to site type and vegetation in Vienansalo wilderness in eastern Fennoscandia, Russia. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34, 1400–1409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-023</u>
- Wallenius, T.H., Lilja, S., Kuuluvainen, T., 2007. Fire history and tree species composition in managed *Picea abies* stands in southern Finland: Implications for restoration. Forest Ecology and Management 250, 89–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.03.016</u>
- Wallenius, T.H., Pitkanen, A., Kuuluvainen, T., Pennanen, J., Karttunen, H., 2005. Fire history and forest age distribution of an unmanaged *Picea abies* dominated landscape. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35, 1540–1552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x05-050</u>
- Walsh, J., Ballinger, T., Euskirchen, E., Hanna, E., Mård, J., Overland, J., Tangen, H., Vihma, T., 2020. Extreme weather and climate events in northern areas: a review. Earth-Science Reviews 209, 103324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103324
- Wang, X., Thompson, D., Marshall, G., Tymstra, C., Carr, R., Flannigan, M., 2015. Increasing frequency of extreme fire weather in Canada with climate change. Climatic Change 130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-015-1375-5</u>
- Watt, E., 2013. Yellowknife. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Retrieved from www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/yellowknife-nwt
- Weir, J.M.H., Johnson, E.A., Miyanishi, K., 2000. Fire frequency and the spatial age mosaic of the mixed-wood boreal forest in western Canada. Ecological Applications 10, 1162–1177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-</u> 0761(2000)010[1162:FFATSA]2.0.CO;2
- Wells, N., Goddard, S., Hayes, M.J., 2004. A self-calibrating Palmer Drought Severity Index. Journal of Climate 17, 2335–2351.
- Whitman, E., 2019. No Burn severity and fire history in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest: drivers and ecological outcomes (PHD thesis), p. 215.
- Whitman, E., Parisien, M.-A., Thompson, D.K., Hall, R.J., Skakun, R.S., Flannigan, M.D., 2018. Variability and drivers of burn severity in the northwestern Canadian boreal forest. Ecosphere 9, e02128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2128</u>

- Wiegand, K.N., Brune, S., Baehr, J., 2019. Predictability of multiyear trends of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation in an MPI-ESM Hindcast Ensemble. Geophysical Research Letters 46, 318–325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL080661</u>
- Wretlind, J., 1934. Naturbetingelserna för de Nordsvenska järnpodsolerade moränmarkernas tallhedar och mossrika skogssamhaällen. Svenska Skogsvårdsfoöreningens Tidskrift 32, 328–395. [In Swedish]
- Yasunari, T.J., Nakamura, H., Kim, K.-M., Choi, N., Lee, M.-I., Tachibana, Y., da Silva, A.M., 2021. Relationship between circum-Arctic atmospheric wave patterns and large-scale wildfires in boreal summer. Environmental Research Letters 16, 064009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abf7ef</u>
- Yudin, Yu.P., 1954. Dark-coniferous forests, in: The Productive Forces of the Komi ASSR. USSR Academy of Sciences Publishing House, Moscow, pp. 42–125. [In Russian].
- Yurkovskaya, T.K., 1993. Vegetation cover of Karelia. Vegetable world of Karelia and the problems of its protection, pp. 8–36. [In Russian]
- Zaboeva, I., 1997. Soils, in: Stolpovski., P.M. (Ed.), Republic of Komi, Vol. I. Komi Publishing House, Syktyvkar, pp. 30–34. [In Russian]
- Zackrisson, O., 1977. Influence of forest fires on the north Swedish boreal forest. Oikos 29, 22–32.
- Zaslow, M., 1971. The Opening of the Canadian North, 1870-1914. McClelland and Stewart. Retrieved from <u>https://books.google.se/books?id=FTUIAAAAMAAJ</u>
- Zhang, Q., Chen, W., 2007. Fire cycle of Canada's boreal region and its potential response to global change. Journal of Forestry Research 18, 55–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-007-0010-3</u>
- Zheng, B., Ciais, P., Chevallier, F., Yang, H., Canadell, J.G., Chen, Y., van der Velde, I.R., Aben, I., Chuvieco, E., Davis, S.J., Deeter, M., Hong, C., Kong, Y., Li, Haiyan, Li, Hui, Lin, X., He, K., Zhang, Q., 2023. Record-high CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from boreal fires in 2021. Science 379, 912–917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.ade0805</u>
- Zherbin A.S., Kert G.M., Morozov K.A., SavvateevYu.A., I.P., S., 1983. Korely of Karelian Autonomous Soviet Socialist Republic. Karelia, Petrozavodsk. [In Russian]
- Zherebtsov, I.L., Beznosova, N.P., Vishnyakova, D. V., Ignatova, N.M., Rozhkin, E.N., Fauzer, V.V., Shabaev, Yu.P., 2014. From primeval sites to cities: essays on the history of the settlement of the Republic of Komi from ancient times to the end of the 20th century. IYaLI Komi NTs UrO RAN, p. 296. [In Russian]
- Zherebtsov, L.N., 1972. Distribution of Komi people in XVth–XIXth centuries. Komi Publishing House, Syktyvkar, Russia. [In Russian]
- Zhulnikov, A.M., 1993. Historical and architectural plan. The project of zones of protection of monuments of history and culture of the settlement of voknavolok of the Kostomuksha city executive committee. Archive of the Republic of Karelia 4, 11. [In Russian]